MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF THE NONTYPEABLE

HAEMOPHILUS INFLUENZAE HMW1 AND HMW2 ADHESINS

Nadia Abdelrazak Kadry

A DISSERTATION

in

Cell and Molecular Biology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2021

Supervisor of Dissertation

Joseph W. St. Geme, III, MD., Professor of Microbiology, Chair of Pediatrics and Physician-in-Chief at The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia

Graduate Group Chairperson

Dr. Daniel S. Kessler, PhD., Chair, Cell and Molecular Biology Graduate Group

Dissertation Committee

Igor E. Brodsky, Associate Professor of Pathobiology

Michael Silverman, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics.

Mechthild Pohlschröder, Professor of Biology

Hao Shen, Professor of Microbiology

Joseph P. Zackular, Assistant Professor of Microbiology

MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF THE NONTYPEABLE

HAEMOPHILUS INFLUENZAE HMW1 AND HMW2 ADHESINS

COPYRIGHT

2021

Nadia Abdelrazak Kadry

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my gratitude to everyone who has helped me throughout this long and challenging endeavor. I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Joseph W. St. Geme III, who gave me the opportunity to explore new ideas and taught me to constantly challenge my own thinking. Joe's mentoring has helped me develop into an inquisitive and more thoughtful scientist. I'd also like to acknowledge past and current members of the St. Geme lab, who have been an incredible network of friendship and collaboration. First, Dr. Eric Porsch, who has been around for all of the highs and lows of my graduate career. Eric has been a phenomenal role model and mentor, and he has put up with more than he has ever needed to. Dr. Susan Grass, though far away, has also been an incredible source of knowledge and support, and her insight has been invaluable. Dr. Vanessa Muñoz, Alexandra Sacharock, Nina Montoya, Dan Morreale, and Kevin Hernandez have been the greatest possible group of fellow students to work with, and they are all remarkably talented scientists. None of this work would have been accomplished without their thoughtfulness and support. Many collaborators also helped make this work possible, including Dr. Hao Shen, Dr. Elizabeth Littauer, Ying Yang, Dr. Lynn Spruce, and Dr. Steve Seeholzer.

ABSTRACT

MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF THE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INFLUENZAE HMW1 AND HMW2 ADHESINS

Nadia A. Kadry Joseph W. St. Geme, III

Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) is associated with significant morbidity in both children and adults, causing localized respiratory tract disease such as acute otitis media, sinusitis, and pneumonia and accounting for occasional serious invasive disease. The pathogenesis of NTHi disease begins with colonization of the upper respiratory tract, followed by contiguous spread to sites of infection. Existing strategies to prevent NTHi disease are limited to adenoidectomy and antibiotic prophylaxis; unfortunately, these approaches are relevant only for recurrent otitis media and often associated with short-term and long-term complications. Consequently, there is interest in developing a vaccine to prevent nasopharyngeal carriage, a prerequisite for disease. Among potential vaccine antigens is the High Molecular Weight (HMW) family of outer membrane adhesins, which includes HMW1 and HMW2. In this work, we evaluated the ability of HMW1 and HMW2 to stimulate an immune response and protection against NTHi nasopharyngeal colonization. We demonstrated that intranasal immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 is highly immunostimulatory and protects mice against colonization by heterologous strains of NTHi. Elements of this protective immunity include both a strain-specific antibody response and broad-acting Th17 response. To study the strain specificity of the antibody response in greater depth, we compared the immune response to HMW1 and HMW2 from the same strain and from

heterologous strains. Despite the high conservation of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, these proteins show significant immunological differences and consistently produce strain-specific antibody responses. We found that these differences may be caused by protein glycosylation. Given the role of protein glycosylation in shaping the immunogenicity of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, we investigated the mechanisms that influence HMW1 glycosylation by the HMW1C glycosyltransferase. We found that while there is no clear signal shaping their interaction, the stoichiometry between HMW1 and HMW1C is critical to shaping glycosylation specificity. Collectively, this body of work highlights the potential for HMW1 and HMW2 as vaccine antigens and reveals important insights into how these adhesins can stimulate protective immunity.

ABSTRACT	IV
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	X
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Nontypable Haemophilus influenzae	1
1.2. Pathogenesis of Nontypeable Haemople	hilus influenzae Disease3
1.2.2 Mechanisms of Persistence	
1.2.3 Bacterial Competition	
1.2.4 Progression to Disease	
1.3 Prevention or Nontyneable Haemonhilu	is influenzae disease 26
1.3.1 NTHi vaccine development	
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction 2.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Culture 2.2.2. Cell lines 2.2.3. Purification of HMW1 and HMW2 2.2.4. Antibody measurement by ELISA 2.2.5. Antibody measurement by FLISA 2.2.6. Bacterial Adherence 2.2.7. Animal Immunizations 2.2.8. Intranasal Challenge	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE
2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETE NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INF 2.1. Introduction	AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS ROLOGOUS STRAINS OF LUENZAE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3. Results	46
2.3.1. Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 stimulates serum antibody	46
colonization by homologous and heterologous strains	48
2.3.3. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies promote NTHi agglutination	50
2.3.4. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies restrict HMW2-mediated adherence	53
2.3.5. Passive transfer of antibodies mediates protection against colonization by the	
homologous but not heterologous NTHi strain	56
2.4. Discussion	59
3. DETERMINANTS OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF THE HMW1 AND HMW2	63
3.1. Introduction	63
3.2. Materials and Methods	65
3.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Culture	65
3.2.2. Cell lines	66
3.2.3. Purification of HMW1 and HMW2	68
3.2.4. Animal Immunizations	69
3.2.5. Intranasal Challenge	70
3.2.6. Antibody measurement by ELISA	70
3.2.7. Antibody measurement by flow	71
3.2.8. Bacterial Adherence	71
3.2.9. Agglutination	72
3.2.10. Measurement of agglutination by flow cytometry	72
3.2.11. Imaging	72
3.2.12. Statistical analysis	73
3.3. Results	73
3.3.1. HMW1 and HMW2 stimulate antibody responses with differing specificities	73
3.3.2. HMW1 and HMW2 stimulate protective immunity against nasopharyngeal colonizatio	n 76
presence of antibody	, 81
4. DETERMINANTS OF HMW1C GLYCOSYLTRANSFERASE SPECIFICITY	' 88
4.1. Introduction	88
4.2. Materials and Methods	91
4.2.1 Bacterial Strains and Culture	91
4.2.2. Strain construction	93
4.2.3. Cell lines.	93
4.2.4. Purification of HMW1	93
4.2.5. Western blotting	94
4.2.6. In-gel protein digestion.	95
4.2.7. Mass spectrometry analysis	95
4.2.8. Spectra identification	96

4.2.9. Bacterial Adherence	96
4.2.10. Statistical analysis	97
4.3. Results	97
4.3.1. The chromosomal proximity of <i>hmw1a</i> and <i>hmw1c</i> is not required for interactions	07
4.3.4. The HMW1 propiece is not required for glycosylation by HMW1C.	102
4.3.6. HMW1C levels influence NXST site selection	106
4.4. Discussion	108
5. CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 111
5.1. Conclusions	111
5.2. Combination antigen vaccines for protection against NTHi nasopharyngeal colonization	111
5.3. Maternally derived immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization	113
5.4. Protection against nasopharyngeal colonization in rhesus macaques	114
5.5. Regions of HMW1 and HMW2 required for immunogenicity	115
5.6. Region of HMW1 required for specific interactions with HMW1C	116
REFERENCES	. 118

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 2 Tables

Table 2. 1: Bacterial strains used in Chapter 2	39
Table 2. 2. Identity of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins	61

Chapter 3 Tables

Table 3. 1. Bacterial strains used in Chapter 3	67
Table 3. 2. Purified HMW112 glycosylation variants	78

Chapter 4 Tables

Table 4. 1. Bacterial strains used in Chapter 4	92
Table 4. 2. Hexose-modified proteins in Rd/HMW1∆hmw1C +pHMW1C	106

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1 Figures
Figure 1. 1. The sequence of events in the pathogenesis of NTHi disease
Figure 1. 2. Secretion of autotransporter adhesins
Figure 1. 3. Secretion of the hmw1abc two-partner system
Chapter 2 Figures
Figure 2. 1. Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 stimulates systemic IgG
Figure 2. 2. Immunization with HMW1+HMW2 reduces nasopharyngeal colonization density
Figure 2. 3. Agglutination of NTHi by serum from HMW1+HMW2 immunized animals52
Figure 2. 4. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies reduce bacterial adherence
Figure 2. 5. Passive transfer of antibodies mediates homologous protection57
Figure 2. 6. IL-17A mediates heterologous protection58

Chapter 3 Figures

Figure 3. 1. Immunization with HMW1 or HMW2 from heterologous NTHi strains result in strain specific IgG	s 75
Figure 3. 2. Immunization with HMW1 or HMW2 reduces nasopharyngeal colonization density	77
Figure 3. 3. Glycosylation of HMW1 ₁₂ impacts serum antibody binding	80
Figure 3. 4. Agglutination of NTHi by serum from immunized animals	83

Chapter 4 Figures

Figure 4. 1. Chromosomal proximity of hmw1a and hmw1c is not required for HMW1 modification.	98
Figure 4. 2. HMW1 homologues do not contain a shared motif	99
Figure 4. 3. The HMW1 signal peptide is not required for glycosylation	102
Figure 4. 4. The HMW1 propiece is not required for glycosylation.	103
Figure 4. 5. HMW1C levels alter target protein specificity.	105
Figure 4. 6. HMW1C levels alter NXST site selection on HMW1	107

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Nontypable Haemophilus influenzae

Haemophilus influenzae was first isolated from the sputum of influenza patients in 1892. Richard Pfeiffer, a German bacteriologist who worked to identify the organism on chocolate agar, touted it as the causative agent of influenza(Richard Pfeiffer, 1892). Serial isolation of *H. influenzae* from infected patients propagated this notion, until 1933, when the etiological agent of the flu was found to be viral. The bacteria was eventually placed in the genus *Haemophilus*, recognizing its affinity for blood and maintained the species name *influenzae* in reference to its history.

H. influenzae is a gram-negative bacterium and a member of the *Pasteurellaceae* family. The bacteria are nonmotile and non-spore-forming and typically appear as small coccobacilli, roughly 1×0.3 µm in size. *H. influenzae* is able to grow under both anaerobic and aerobic conditions; aerobic growth requires two supplements, known as factor X, derived from hemin or hemoglobin, and factor V, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD).

Isolates of *H. influenzae* are typically classified based on the presence of a polysaccharide capsule. Encapsulated strains have one of six structurally and antigenically distinct capsular types that are designated serotypes a-f. In addition, strains can be nonencapsulated; these strains are defined on the basis of their failure to react with typing antisera against capsular serotypes a-f and are therefore referred to as *nontypeable H. influenzae* (NTHi)(Pittman, 1931).

Compared to encapsulated strains of *H. influenzae*, which are clonal, NTHi exhibits much greater genetic diversity and heterogeneity, much of which is due to higher rates of genetic recombination(Pinto et al., 2019). Traditional grouping techniques such as multilocus sequence typing (MLST) and ribotyping do not correlate with clinical or geographic information for most NTHi isolates, and clonality is difficult to clearly establish(LaCross et al., 2013). However, discrete subpopulations have been defined for nontypeable strains based on the presence of genes encoding select conserved surface structures, including lipooligosaccharide (LOS), the High Molecular Weight proteins (HMW1/HMW2), the *Haemophilus influenzae* adhesin (Hia), and the *Haemophilus* adhesion and penetration protein (Hap)(De Chiara et al., 2014).

NTHi stably colonizes the upper respiratory tract of about 80% of adults and children and is an important cause of morbidity. In children, NTHi is the most common cause of acute otitis media and otitis media with effusion, accounting for 40-50% of all cases(Block, 1997). NTHi also frequently causes purulent conjunctivitis, sinusitis, and community-acquired pneumonia(Timothy F. Murphy et al., 2009). In adults with underlying lung disease, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), chronic bronchitis, and cystic fibrosis (CF), NTHi often colonizes the lower respiratory tract and has been associated with acute inflammatory exacerbations(Bandi et al., 2001; Sethi et al., 2002). Most studies indicate that *H. influenzae* is responsible for 13%-50% of COPD exacerbations(Sethi, 2004). NTHi is increasingly being recognized as an important cause of serious invasive disease, including septicemia, meningitis, and endocarditis, especially in neonates, pregnant women, and immunocompromised individuals(Bender et al., 2010; O'Neill et al., 2003). The economic burden of NTHi

disease is estimated to be over \$1 billion in the United States and several billion worldwide(Milne & Vander Hoorn, 2010; Talbird et al., 2010).

1.2. Pathogenesis of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Disease

The pathogenesis of NTHi disease begins with adherence to the nasopharyngeal epithelium and colonization of the upper respiratory tract (Figure 1.1). Colonization is typically stable, and NTHi is maintained as a commensal in the upper respiratory tract for extended periods. However, NTHi is also an opportunistic pathogen. Under precipitating circumstances, colonization is followed by contiguous spread within the respiratory tract to sites of localized disease, including the middle ear, sinuses, conjunctiva, or lungs. NTHi first colonizes the nasopharynx in early infancy, at a rate of about 20% within the first year of life. The colonization rate gradually increases with age, and nearly half of all children are colonized before the age of 2 years(Howard et al., 1988; Spinola et al., 1986). Children can be asymptomatically colonized with a particular strain for weeks to months, going through cycles of strain acquisition and loss, and then will remain colonized into adulthood. The diversity of colonizing strains also decrease with age, as children will typically harbor multiple strains concurrently, whereas adults will typically carry one(Howard et al., 1988; Kuklinska & Kilian, 1984; Spinola et al., 1986; Trottier et al., 1989).

NTHi is typically acquired through exposure to airborne droplets or by direct contact with respiratory secretions. In order to successfully colonize the upper respiratory tract, NTHi must evade or disarm different components of upper respiratory immunity. Inhaled NTHi must first overcome innate mechanical host defenses, including

the mucociliary escalator, coughing, and sneezing. The mucociliary escalator prevents infection through rapid turnover of the mucous layer, clearing bound bacteria. Mucous turnover is driven by beating of the airway epithelial cell cilia moving, moving mucous and associated bacteria out of the airways(Finney et al., 2014). During initial interactions with the airway epithelium, NTHi can evade and impair mucociliary clearance. Certain NTHi outer membrane proteins, including P2 and P5, have demonstrated binding to sialic acid-containing oligosaccharides of human respiratory mucins(Davies et al., 1995; Miyamoto & Bakaletz, 1996; Reddy et al., 1996). This allows NTHi to overcome anionic characteristics of mucins that typically repel bacterial cells. Additionally, NTHi secretes ciliotoxic factors, including the lipid A portion of the lipooligosaccharide (LOS)(A. P. Johnson & Inzana, 1986) and the surface-exposed glycerophosphodiester phosphodiesterase protein D. When applied to different tracheal tissues in vitro, NTHi induces ciliostasis, gradual loss of cilia, and eventual sloughing of epithelial cells(Denny, 1974; A. P. Johnson & Inzana, 1986). The presence of higher molecular weight LOS during initial colonization has also been associated with enhanced adherence to epithelial cells as well as low grade inflammation at mucosal surfaces(J N Weiser, 1993). Consistent with these observed mechanisms, evidence suggests that NTHi preferentially binds to and invades non-ciliated and damaged epithelial cells in the airways (Ketterer et al., 1999; Petris et al., 2018).



Figure 1. 1. The sequence of events in the pathogenesis of NTHi disease.

Pathogenesis begins with bacterial adherence to the upper respiratory tract mucosa. At each step in pathogenesis, various NTHi adhesins and outer membrane factors promote adherence and survival. Following stable adherence, NTHi forms aggregates which develop into microcolonies. Secretion of toxic factors and the resulting inflammation results in epithelial damage, promoting host cell invasion.

1.2.1 Adherence

To achieve tight adhesive interactions with the host respiratory epithelium, NTHi employs several key surface adhesins that mediate attachment to extracellular matrix

(ECM) components and specific host cell plasma membrane receptors.

Pili

Some isolates of *H. influenzae*, including NTHi strains, express adhesive pili.

Type IV pili (Tfp) are fibers of about 5-7nm in diameter, up to 4μ m in length, and

comprised of a single protein subunit assembled into a helical structure(Wall & Kaiser,

1999). Expression of Tfp in NTHi depends on the presence of the *pilABCD* locus as well

as the *comABCDEF* locus. PilA, the primary subunit of the NTHi Tfp, has been shown to mediate adherence to polarized respiratory tract epithelial cells and normal normal human bronchial epithelial cells *in vitro*(Jurcisek et al., 2007; Novotny & Bakaletz, 2016). PilA is thought to adhere specifically to cells that express the intercellular adhesion molecule I (ICAM1) surface receptor(Novotny & Bakaletz, 2016). Tfp are only detected *in vitro* under certain nutrient-restricted growth conditions, suggesting that their expression is regulated by environmental cues(Bakaletz et al., 2005; Jurcisek et al., 2007).Based on animal studies in chinchillas, PilA is expressed *in vivo*, and expression is required for stable respiratory tract colonization and biofilm formation in the chinchilla middle ear(Jurcisek et al., 2007).

So-called haemagglutinating pili represent a second type of pilus found in NTHi. These pili, which are characterized by their ability to mediate agglutination of human erythrocytes. Haemagglutinating pili are approximately 450nm in length and expressed peritrichously(Stull et al., 1984). These pili are encoded by the *hif* group of genes, which share homology with the chaperone-usher pilus assembly machinery genes of other gram-negative bacteria(van Ham et al., 1994). Within the five-gene locus (*hifA-E*), HifA (*hifA*) comprises the major pilin subunit- repeating HifA subunits form the pilus shaft, and HifE (*hifE*), a tip-associated accessory protein, is thought to be the primary adhesive component(McCrea et al., 1997). Though primarily associated with encapsulated strains of *H. influenzae*, studies of NTHi clinical isolates suggest that approximately 15% carry an intact *hif* locus and express haemagglutinating pili(Geluk et al., 1998; Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1996). During infection, *H. influenzae* isolates from the nasopharynx express these pili more often, whereas strains recovered from the bloodstream usually do not, suggesting that piliation is beneficial during the initial stages of colonization and

infection and may be advantageous to the organism in the bloodstream(Virkola et al., 2000).

Haemagglutinating pili promote specific adherence to human oropharyngeal epithelial cells and enhance adherence to human nasal and adenoidal tissue in organ culture(Farley et al., 1990; Loeb et al., 1988). Studies on human oropharyngeal epithelial cells *in vitro* have revealed that this adherence occurs through interactions with sialyl-lactosylceramide derivatives found on epithelial cells and erythrocytes(van Alphen et al., 1991). Haemagglutinating pili also facilitate interactions with human erythrocytes through the Anton antigen (AnWj). Beyond interactions with mucins and host cell plasma membranes, pili have been described to facilitate bacterial interactions with certain ECM components(Kubiet et al., 2000). Studies using murine heparin-binding growth-associated molecule have shown that piliation is required for binding with heparin-binding ECM proteins(Virkola et al., 2000). Piliated *H. influenzae* have been found to interact with glycosylated and collagenous ECM components, including fibronectin, laminin, and both type I and III collagens(Virkola et al., 1996).

Non-pilus Adhesins

NTHi is able to achieve substantial adherence independently of pili due to a variety of non-pilus surface adhesins. Given the relatively low occurrence of haemagglutinating pili among isolates, nonpilus adhesins are found in nearly all NTHi isolates, allowing many diverse strains to achieve adherence. Among major adhesins identified on the NTHi surface, several key structures belong to the autotransporter family of proteins (Figure 1.2). Classical autotransporters are synthesized as preproteins with at least three functional domains, including an N-terminal signal sequence, an internal passenger domain, and a C-terminal outer membrane translocator domain (β -domain). The signal sequence directs export of the polypeptide across the inner membrane and is then cleaved. Subsequently, the β -domain is inserted into the outer membrane and folds into a β -barrel structure with a hydrophilic pore, allowing for extrusion of the passenger domain across the membrane to the surface, where it is anchored and can act as an adhesin. Trimeric autotransporters, the key autotransporter adhesins on the NTHi surface, include Hap, Hia/Hsf, and the HMW1/HMW2 adhesins.



Figure 1. 2. Secretion of autotransporter adhesins.

Autotransporters are exported by a type V secretion system and include classical (Va), two-partner (Vb), and trimeric (Vc) autotransporters. Autotransporters are characterized by a signal sequence for secretion into the periplasm, an internal passenger domain which contains the adhesin, and a translocation domain which mediates outer membrane export. In type Vb systems, the translocation domain is a second protein.

Hap, Haemophilus adherence and penetration protein, is found ubiquitously

among both nontypeable and encapsulated isolates of H. influenzae(Rodriguez et al.,

2003). Hap shares homology with serine-type immunoglobulin A1 (IgA1) proteases

expressed by Haemophilus and Neisseria species. Hap was first identified by its ability

to facilitate in vitro adherence and invasion in assays with cultured human epithelial

cells(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1994). Hap also supports adhesive interactions by binding to ECM components, including fibronectin, laminin, and collagen IV, even in the absence of pili(Fink et al., 2002).

Hap is synthesized as a 155-kDa preprotein with three primary domains: The Nterminal signal peptide, a 45-kDa outer membrane translocator domain (Hap_β), and a 110-kDa passenger domain (Hap_s). Hap_s contains the adhesive domains the protein. The C-terminal 511 residues of Hap_s contain the ECM binding domain, and the Cterminal 311 residues mediate interactions with host epithelial cells and contain the selfassociating autotransporter (SAAT) domain, which allows Hap-Hap interactions, contributing to the formation of microcolonies and gradual biofilm development(Fink et al., 2002; Hendrixson & St. Geme, 1998).

Notably, Hap_s also contains an N-terminal serine protease domain. Under certain conditions, Hap_s is secreted and subsequently undergoes an autoproteolytic cleavage event, releasing soluble Hap_s from Hap_β into the environment(Meng et al., 2011). Hap_s-mediated adherence and NTHi aggregation are thus modulated by the presence of surface-anchored Hap_s. Hap autoproteolysis is inhibited by secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI), a protein found in varying amounts in the upper and lower respiratory tract. Consequently, in the nasopharynx, Hap_s remains anchored to the bacterial surface and mediates increased levels of adherence, contributing to bacterial colonization.

Hia, the *Haemophilus influenzae adhesin*, is another high molecular weight adhesin, with a molecular mass of approximately 115-kDa, and is a trimeric autotransporter protein. First identified on NTHi strain 11, the *hia* gene is found in approximately 20% of NTHi clinical isolates(Stephen J. Barenkamp & St. Geme, 1996b;

Joseph W. St Geme et al., 1998). Encapsulated strains of *H. influenzae* ubiquitously express a primary adhesin homologous to *hia* knows as *Hsf* (*Haemophilus surface fibrils*), which is associated with the expression of short adhesive surface fibrils. *Hia* and *Hsf* share 81% similarity and 72% similarity based on amino acid sequences(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1996; Joseph W. St Geme et al., 1998). Hia has been shown to mediate high-affinity adhesive interactions with various human target cell types, including primary ciliated bronchial epithelia, type II pneumocytes, and Chang conjunctival cells(Baddal et al., 2015; Stephen J. Barenkamp & St. Geme, 1996b; J. W. St. Geme & Cutter, 2000). In the chinchilla model of OM, selection for increased Hia expression occurs during nasopharyngeal colonization, suggesting this adhesive activity contributes to stable colonization(Atack et al., 2015). Further, Hia expressing NTHi strains have been associated with cases of infant meningitis, suggesting a role for the adhesin in virulence and disease(Cardines et al., 2007).

Like other trimeric autotransporters, Hia is synthesized as a 115-kDa preprotein that consists of an N-terminal signal sequence, an internal passenger domain and a C-terminal β -domain. Unlike Hap, following export to the bacterial cell surface through the β -domain, the Hia passenger domain is uncleaved and remains surface anchored(J. W. St. Geme & Cutter, 2000). The Hia passenger domain is characterized by a repetitive domain architecture consisting of five distinct domain types(Meng et al., 2008). The adhesive activity of Hia is mediated through two binding domains, identified as HiaBD1 (residues 585-705 in strain 11) and HiaBD2 (residues 61-166 in strain 11). Both binding domains recognize the same host cell receptor, although with differing affinities. The identity of the receptor remains unknown(Yeo et al., 2004).

The ~80% of NTHi isolates that do not carry the *hia* gene instead express another set of adhesins known as the High Molecular Weight (HMW) adhesins. This adhesin family contains two members, HMW1 and HMW2. The HMW1 and HMW2 proteins are highly homologous, sharing 71% identity and 80% similarity overall. In their mature forms, HMW1 has a molecular mass of 125-kDa and HMW2 has a molecular mass of 120-kDa. Both adhesins mediate high levels of adherence to human epithelial cells, though they have different host cell specificities(S J Barenkamp & Leininger, 1992). Each adhesin recognizes a different host glycan. HMW1 interacts with a glycoprotein receptor containing N-linked oligosaccharide chains with sialic acid in an α -2,3 configuration(J. W. St. Geme, 1994). HMW2 binds to 2-6 linked N-acetylneuraminic acid(Atack et al., 2018). These complementary adhesin activities allow HMW-expressing NTHi to bind a variety of host cell types, proving an important advantage for NTHi during different stages of colonization and dissemination. In vitro, HMW1 and HMW2 have demonstrated adherence to a variety of human cell lines, including pharyngeal epithelial cells, Chang cells, HaCaT keratinocytes, and macrophages(Buscher et al., 2004; Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993; Vuong et al., 2013). Importantly, recent in vivo studies have revealed that the HMW1 and HMW2 directly facilitate upper respiratory tract colonization of rhesus macaques. In these studies, NTHi strains expressing hmw1 and hmw2 were able to efficiently outcompete an hmw1hmw2 knockout strain. When introduced into the nares of macaques, the wild type *hmw*-expressing strain was recovered in greater density in both the nasopharynx and the oropharynx, and exhibited more stable colonization at both sites (Rempe et al., 2016).

HMW1 and HMW2 are encoded by homologous loci, *hmw1ABC* and *hmw2ABC*. These loci are found at unlinked locations in the NTHi chromosome. However, strains

that express HMW1 and HMW2 always carry both loci and do not carry the *hia* gene. Each hmw locus encodes an identical two-partner secretion system (Figure 1.3). In a two-partner secretion system, the first gene (tpsA) encodes the passenger domain. The second gene (tpsB) encodes an outer membrane pore through which the TpsA protein transits. The TpsA protein is secreted into the periplasm in a Sec-dependent manner, and the N- terminal signal sequence is cleaved. The resulting new N- terminus contains the TPS domain that is recognized by a periplasmic polypeptide-associated-translocator (POTRA) domain of the TpsB pore. Once on the surface the TpsA protein can remain anchored to the TpsB protein or be released into the extracellular space(Guérin et al., 2017a). Hmw1A/hmw2A encode the TpsA protein, which is the primary adhesin, HMW1 or HMW2. The second gene, hmw1B/hmwB encodes the HMW1B/HMW2B outer membrane pore(H. Li et al., 2007; Joseph W. St. Geme & Yeo, 2009). HMW1 and HMW2 remain anchored to HMW1B and HMW2B due to an intramolecular disulfide bond located in the C-terminal 20 residues(Buscher et al., 2006). However, following export through the outer membrane pore, the N-terminal region of the adhesin containing the TPS domain, known as the pro-piece, is cleaved from the mature adhesin and released into the extracellular environment(Yeo et al., 2007a). The role of this cleavage event remains unclear.



Figure 1. 3. Secretion of the hmw1abc two-partner system.

Nascent HMW1 (*hmw1a*) is first generated as a preproprotein, containing a signal peptide (SP) and propiece. HMW1 is modified by the HMW1C cytoplasmic N-glycosyltransferase. After export through the Sec YEG complex, the signal peptide is cleaved, and the propiece interacts with the POTRA domains of the HMW1B (*hmw1b*) translocon. HMW1 is exported through HMW1B and remains surface anchored, while the propiece is cleaved and released into the environment.

The final gene located in each locus, *hmw1C/hmw2C*, encodes a cytoplasmic Nlinking glycosyltransferase, HMW1C and HMW2C. HMW1C and HMW2C modify nascently translated HMW1 and HMW2 in the NTHi cytoplasm. Modification occurs by sequentially adding UDP-glucose or UDP-galactose to multiple sites in a sequential fashion so that each site is modified with either a mono- or di-hexose(Grass et al., 2003a). Glycans are added onto asparagine residues at the consensus site NX(S/T), where "X" indicates any amino acid except proline(Gross et al., 2008). The glycosylation of HMW1 and HMW2 is thought to play an important role in adhesin export, folding, stability, and function. Elimination of HMW1C results in degradation of HMW1, indicating that glycosylation is required for full adhesin stability. Moreover, unmodified HMW1 does not remain anchored to HMW1B and falls off the cell surface, suggesting that glycosylation is important for surface anchoring(Grass et al., 2003a; McCann & St. Geme, 2014b). As a result, expression of HMW1 without HMW1C eliminates HMW1-mediated adherence.

Other adhesins

In addition to the autotransporter proteins, NTHi expresses a variety of other protein surface adhesins that interact with a variety of host structures. These include the outer membrane proteins (OMPs) P5, P4, Protein E, and Opacity-associated protein A (OapA). OMP P5 is a fimbrial structure shown to be expressed by 100% of clinical NTHi isolates recovered from children with chronic otitis media. P5 interacts with human receptors CEACAM1 and ICAM-1 on epithelial cells(Hill et al., 2001; Novotny & Bakaletz, 2016). P5 has been shown to mediate adherence to bronchiolar epithelia and pneumocytes and facilitates nasopharyngeal colonization in chinchillas(Bookwalter et al., 2008; Euba et al., 2015). OMP P4 is a lipoprotein that interacts with ECM components to promote adherence, including laminin, fibronectin, and vitronectin(Su et al., 2016). Protein E is another membrane-bound lipoprotein which has been found in nearly all

NTHi strains. Protein E indirectly facilitates bacterial adherence to epithelial cells by first binding laminin and vitronectin(Hallströ et al., n.d.). OapA has been shown to drive adherence to Chang cells *in vitro* and contribute to colonization of infant rats *in vivo*(Prasadarao et al., 1999; Jeffrey N. Weiser et al., 1995).

1.2.2 Mechanisms of Persistence

Once NTHi establishes adhesive interactions with ECM and host respiratory epithelia, the organism employs several mechanisms to evade or disarm host immunity. Consequently, NTHi is able to exist as a commensal organism or alter the host environment to disseminate and cause disease.

Biofilm

As adherent NTHi aggregate on epithelial surfaces, biofilms begin to form. Biofilms are dense microbial communities existing in a matrix of extracellular polymeric substances such as extracellular DNA (eDNA), proteins, and polysaccharides. The extracellular polysaccharide matrix of NTHi biofilms is made up of LOS and related glycans containing phosphorylcholine, N-acetylneuraminic acid, and sialic acid moieties(Greiner et al., 2004; Hong et al., 2007). Biofilms *in vivo* have also been observed to contain double stranded eDNA and various outer membrane proteins, including pili, HMW1 and HMW2, Hap, P5, and P6(Jurcisek & Bakaletz, 2007; Webster et al., 2006). NTHi biofilm formation *in vivo* was first appreciated on the tympanostomy tubes of children with otitis media(Post, 2001). NTHi is now known to form biofilms on middle ear mucosa and on airway epithelia of patients with COPD(Post, 2001; Starner et al., 2006). Biofilms containing NTHi have been detected in the adenoids of children with chronic otitis media(Hall-Stoodley et al., 2006; Hoa et al., 2010). Similarly, some evidence suggests that NTHi may form biofilms on lower airway tissue and form pulmonary biofilms in COPD(Pang et al., 2008). Taken together, these findings suggest that biofilm formation may contribute to prolonged NTHi infections and recurrent disease.

In a biofilm, bacteria are more effectively protected from various mechanisms of host recognition and clearance, contributing to NTHi persistence. The dense structure of the NTHi biofilm has been shown to prevent phagocytosis by immune cells and restrict antibody binding by creating steric hindrance and masking surface antigens(Langereis & Hermans, 2013). NTHi within a biofilm are also more resistant to clearance by neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), such that NET material and dead neutrophils are incorporated into the biofilm to increase its mass(Hong et al., 2009; Juneau et al., 2011). Biofilm components such as eDNA further protect NTHi against neutrophils by binding and inhibiting the activity of cationic antimicrobial peptides(Jones et al., 2013). Further, the polysaccharide matrix dilutes concentrations of effector proteins to reduce their activity, including antibiotics used to treat NTHi infection(Slinger et al., 2006).

Intracellular invasion

While NTHi is classically considered an extracellular pathogen, it is also known to act as an opportunistic intracellular pathogen(J. W. St.Geme & Falkow, 1990). In addition, evidence suggests that NTHi can penetrate between host epithelial cells and 16

persist in intercellular spaces between airway cells, or undergo transcytosis to the subepithelial space(Van Schilfgaarde et al., 1999). Host cell invasion is thought to be an important mechanism for NTHi persistence and disease progression, as it allows NTHi to evade host immune factors and antibiotic interventions. Intracellular NTHi are thought to act as a reservoir of surviving bacteria, contributing to chronic infections. Intracellular NTHi have been detected in pulmonary tissue of patients with recurrent flares of COPD, in bronchial biopsies in patients with chronic bronchitis, and in adenoidal tissues of children with recurrent OM (Bandi et al., 2001; Ketterer et al., 1999). NTHi has been shown to invade and survive within a variety of cell types, including various epithelial cell types and macrophages(Craig et al., 2002).

Successful entry and survival within host cells involves multiple bacterial and host cell factors. Several NTHi surface adhesive proteins facilitate both adherence and internalization, including Hap, HMW1 and HMW2, and Protein E(Ahrén et al., 2001; Kenjale et al., 2009; Mell et al., 2016; Swords, Buscher, Ver Steeg Li, et al., 2000). Glycan surface structures also contribute to invasion- LOS interacts with the host platelet-activating factor receptor (PAFR) to facilitate entry, via phosphorylcholine moieties (ChoP) on LOS(Swords, Buscher, Ver Steeg Li, et al., 2000). The interaction of NTHi surface structures with host cells triggers changes in host cell signaling, initiating cytoskeletal rearrangements that result in NTHi internalization through PAFR-driven endocytosis or macropinocytosis^{103,104}. Intracellular NTHi is thought to traffic through and between host cells to gain access to subepithelial compartments. Moreover, NTHi has been detected to survive within host lysosomes, suggesting the presence of mechanisms to withstand and neutralize hostile compartments(Clementi & Murphy, 2011).

Altered host cell signaling

During NTHi entry into the upper respiratory tract, the host is tasked with detecting the pathogen and mounting a rapid inflammatory response to minimize the chance for bacteria to colonize. Inflammatory responses result in increased antimicrobial activity that creates an unfavorable environment for bacterial survival. Typically, the binding of NTHi to host cell ligands including CEACAMs, Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2, TLR4, and ECM components will initiate proinflammatory signaling cascades(Mikami et al., 2005; Punturieri et al., 2006). Consequences include enhanced production of antimicrobial compounds, recruitment of phagocytic cells, and exfoliation of epithelial cells in order to rapidly reduce infectious burden and prevent stable colonization(Mulvey et al., 2000).

Some interactions of NTHi surface components with host cell ligands significantly alter canonical host cell signaling, dampening inflammatory responses and consequently promoting NTHi persistence. The binding of OMP P5 on the NTHi surface to host CEACAM1 promotes epithelial adhesion to ECM, combatting host cell shedding(Muenzner et al., 2005). The interaction between OMP P5 and host CEACAM triggers host cell expression of CD105, a growth factor receptor which that modulates integrin affinity to promote adherence(Muenzner et al., 2005). Similarly, NTHi binding to host cells activates the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), which consequently downregulates activity of the p38 inflammatory kinase (Mikami et al., 2005). During NTHi internalization, the binding of ChoP on LOS with the host PAFR will further negatively

regulate TLR activation, reducing inflammation to promote intracellular survival(Erwin & Smith, 2007; Fukao & Koyasu, 2003).

Phase variation

Many NTHi virulence factors exhibit phase variation, allowing bacteria to combat pressure by the host immune system. Phase variation generates greater population diversity, creating more phenotypically distinct bacteria and promoting survival in different host environments(Moxon et al., 2006). Phase variation is often mediated by a number of simple sequence repeats (SSR) in promoters. SSRs lead to slipped-strand mispairing during DNA replication, resulting in altered numbers of SSRs, correlating with different amounts of gene expression(Poole et al., 2013; Power et al., 2009). The HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins exhibit phase variation due to 7-bp repeats in the *hmw1A* and *hmw2A* promoter regions; with increasing numbers of repeats, adhesin expression is reduced(Giufrè et al., 2008). Similarly, Hia expression is controlled by a variable polythymidine tract in the *hia* promoter(Atack et al., 2015). Pili generated by the *hif* locus vary due to TA repeats found within the *hifA* and *hifB* promoters(van Ham et al., 1993). Variation of LOS results from turning on and turning off different biosynthetic genes that contribute to the full molecule, generating LOS of different lengths and forms(Fox et al., 2014).

Phase variation aids NTHi in maintenance as a commensal in the nasopharynx or in the transition to disease. Clones expressing higher amounts of Hia are favored during nasopharyngeal colonization; however, in the presence of anti-Hia antibody, there is selection for organisms with reduced Hia expression(Atack et al., 2015). Similarly, onexpression of the LOS modifying gene *licA* is associated with nasopharyngeal colonization rather than an invasive state(Poole et al., 2013). Certain LOS modifications, including terminal sialylation or addition of the oligosaccharide HepIII- β 1,2-Glc, allow NTHi to evade opsonization by serum IgM and consequent neutrophil-mediated killing. Clinical isolates expressing this alternate form of LOS are therefore more often found to cause invasive disease, presumably due to enhanced survival in the bloodstream(Fox et al., 2014; Jackson et al., 2019).

Antigenic variation

Due to the high genetic heterogeneity among NTHi isolates, significant antigenic variation has also been observed for surface components. Antigenic differences in surface proteins further diversifies NTHi and allows for persistence despite significant host immune pressure. Antigen heterogeneity has been observed in many NTHi outer membrane proteins that interface with the host immune system, including OMPs P1, P2 and P5(Birgitta Duim et al., 1993; Hiltke et al., 2002, 2003; Munson et al., 1989). Amino acid changes in these proteins are often the result of point mutations, insertions and deletions, and high DNA recombination rates(S J Barenkamp et al., 1982). The most antigenic drift and resulting diversity occurs in immunodominant epitopes of proteins. Consequently, the host will generate highly strain-specific antibody responses, and these antibodies cannot mediate protection against a variant strain. This allows NTHi to evade complement-mediated killing and opsonization(Sethi et al., 2004; Troelstra et al., 1994). Antigenic drift can create reservoirs of diverse strains, allowing recurrent and prolonged infection to occur despite an efficient host immune response. Strains with

different OMP variants have been found simultaneously in the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis and COPD, and exacerbations occur despite the development of anti-NTHi IgG and IgA(Staples et al., 2016). Several concurrent OMP P5 variants have been identified in patients with chronic bronchitis^{120,121}. Similarly, in children with recurrent otitis media, different episodes are attributed to strains which have minor amino acid changes in OMPs and LOS structures(Timothy F Murphy et al., 1987).

IgA protease

NTHi expresses IgA proteases, a family of highly specific endopeptidases. IgA proteases classically function by cleaving human IgA₁, the most prevalent antibody expressed at human mucosal surfaces. Cleavage occurs at the antibody hinge region, separating the antigen-binding Fab domain from the Fc region. This cleavage promotes NTHi persistence by inhibiting antibody-driven antibacterial functions, including agglutination, opsonization, and inhibition of bacterial adherence to epithelia(Kilian et al., 1979; KILIAN et al., 1996).

Across strains, NTHi expresses four variants of IgA protease, encoded by an *igaA* or *igaB* locus. The resulting variants are A1, A2, B1, and B2(Timothy F Murphy et al., 2015). Nearly all strains have the *igaA* gene, and approximately 40% of strains also have *igaB*. These IgA proteases have been implicated in different pathogenesis functions, beyond IgA cleavage. IgaA1 and IgA2 are thought to facilitate adherence, invasion, and persistence; IgaB1 and IgaB2 do not influence adherence, but drive NTHi internalization into host cells. *IgaB* shares homology with genes encoding the type 2 IgA1 protease in *Neisseria*, which cleaves lysosome-associated membrane protein 1

(LAMP1) in host cells, disrupting endolysosome acidification and promoting intracellular survival in respiratory epithelial cells(Clementi et al., 2014; Lin et al., 1997; Timothy F Murphy et al., 2017).

Each of the four IgA protease variants is selectively expressed during NTHi infection(Timothy F Murphy et al., 2015). Phase variation within the *igaA* and *igaB* genes influences this selection, promoting survival of strains expressing different amounts through stages of NTHi colonization and disease(Gallo et al., 2018). Overall, expression of IgA protease is favored during stable nasopharyngeal colonization in humans, indicating that positive selection occurs to enable persistence(Poole et al., 2013). Strains expressing IgaB1 and IgaB2 are more often found among disease isolates, including those associated with otitis media and COPD, suggesting that selection for *igaB* may occur during disease progression rather than commensal behavior(Fernaays et al., 2006; Gallo et al., 2018).

1.2.3 Bacterial Competition

The upper respiratory tract houses a diverse range of microbes. Bacteria colonizing the upper respiratory tract face stress from the host environment as well as co-colonizing members of the microflora. Other commensals of the nasopharynx include other *Haemophilus* species, as well as *Streptococcus, Staphylococcus, Moraxella,* and *Neisseria* species(Biesbroek et al., 2014; Robinson, 2004). Competitive interactions with other commensal species and opportunistic pathogens can restrict the ability of NTHi to establish stable colonization. *Haemophilus haemolyticus*, a nonpathogenic commensal, restricts the ability of NTHi to adhere to respiratory epithelial cells *in vitro*(J. L. Pickering

et al., 2016). *H. haemolyticus* further restricts NTHi by producing haemophilin, a hemesequestering compound that allows *H. haemolyticus* to limit NTHi heme acquisition. NTHi growth is then limited in the presence of *H. haemolyticus*(Atto et al., 2020). NTHi faces similar competition from resident *S. pneumoniae*, which may compete with NTHi for use of the PAFR to anchor to host epithelial cells(Cundell et al., 1995). *Streptococcus* also directly interferes with NTHi adherence by using neuraminidase to desialyate the NTHi LOS, limiting interactions with host epithelium(Shakhnovich et al., 2002). *S. pneumoniae* also creates a restrictive environment for NTHi through production of bactericidal concentrations of hydrogen peroxide(Pericone et al., 2000).

Conversely, some polymicrobial interactions enhance NTHi survival within the respiratory tract. *Moraxella catarrhalis*, for example, has been observed to form polymicrobial biofilms with NTHi. This biofilm can shield NTHi from complement-mediated killing and protects NTHi from peroxide production by *S. pneumoniae*(Bair & Campagnari, 2020; Tan et al., 2007).

1.2.4 Progression to Disease

Following the establishment of a stable colonizing population, NTHi is maintained in the upper respiratory tract. However, colonization is as a delicate balance between commensal and infectious states. Changes to the host immune environment, including immunodeficiencies in the host, allow NTHi to act as an opportunistic pathogen and disseminate to sites of localized disease. From the nasopharynx, NTHi can ascend up the Eustachian tube to infect the middle ear, move through the airways to infect the sinuses or lungs, or transverse epithelia to cause invasive disease. Generally, localized respiratory tract disease, including otitis media and pneumonia, is preceded by increases in NTHi density in the nasopharynx(Chochua et al., 2016; Smith-Vaughan et al., 2006). Different conditions promote NTHi outgrowth, increasing the likelihood of disease progression.

Viral infection

In many instances, disseminated NTHi disease is preceded by a viral infection. Acute otitis media is frequently associated with upper respiratory viral infection, including infection caused by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), influenza, adenovirus, or parainfluenza(Ruuskanen et al., 1989). Viral-induced predisposition to increased NTHi density and more severe otitis media has been demonstrated in animal models as well. In chinchillas, preceding adenoviral infection results in greater middle ear inflammation after NTHi inoculation(Suzuki & Bakaletz, 1994).

Upper respiratory viral infection promotes NTHi pathogenicity by altering the inflammatory state of the host and compromising host protective functions. Influenza-A viral infection has been shown to directly damage ciliated cells of the host respiratory epithelium, impairing mucociliary clearance in the Eustachian tube and middle ear, suggesting that infection may support NTHi binding and promote subsequent bacterial ascension from the nasopharynx(Carson et al., 1985; Park et al., 1993; Pittet et al., 2010). In chinchillas, RSV infection impairs β-defensin production in the upper respiratory tract, resulting in impaired NTHi clearance after inoculation(Bakaletz, 2010; McGillivary et al., 2009). Similarly, inflammation due to viral infection results in reduced neutrophil recruitment and oxidative burst activity and reduced macrophage activity,

leading to greater bacterial density in the airways and greater susceptibility to infection (McNamee & Harmsen, 2006; Sun & Metzger, 2008). Inflammation in the upper respiratory tract also results in upregulation of host surface proteins, which serve as receptors for NTHi adhesive interactions. During RSV infection, epithelial cells show increased surface expression of CEACAM1, ICAM, and PAFR (Avadhanula et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 1999). More recent studies suggest that infecting viruses may also directly interact with NTHi and contribute to pathogenesis. In *in vitro* studies, NTHi interacts with influenza viral particles, and these viral-bacterial particles exhibit greater adhesion to epithelial cells than bacteria alone (Rowe et al., 2019).

Host inflammation

The host immune response is important for modulating NTHi in the upper respiratory tract. However, the inflammatory responses generated in response to NTHi can also be deleterious to the host and contribute to the development of associated disease. In animal models of COPD, NTHi-induced activation of interferon production in macrophages results in cytokine production that diminishes bacterial clearance and increases lower lung inflammation(Yang et al., 2019). In infants, colonization with NTHi contributes to early immune system reprogramming and the development of asthma(Essilfie et al., 2011; McCann et al., 2016). Recent studies in neonatal mice have shown that nasopharyngeal colonization with NTHi during early life resulted in more severe airways disease, including increased infiltration of immune effector cells neutrophils, eosinophils, and inflammatory cytokines into the airways, coupled with decreased expression of T-regulatory cells. The result in juvenile mice was more severe neutrophilic asthma, even after NTHi clearance(McCann et al., 2016).

1.3. Prevention or Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae disease

Treatment of NTHi disease, including otitis media, pneumonia, sinusitis, and invasive disease, is primarily limited to antibiotic therapy. Antibiotic courses are often successful at eliminating disease; however, morbidity due to NTHi remains significant. Recurrent infections are common among children, and following repeated episode of acute otitis media, accumulated fluid can remain in the middle ear for months, causing hearing impairment that can result in deficiencies in language acquisition and speech development(Haapala et al., 2014, 2016; Kaspar et al., 2018). Repeated courses of antibiotics to treat NTHi infections may also select for antibiotic-resistant organisms. Along these lines, the prevalence of resistance to ampicillin has increased over time(Yanagihara et al., 2019). In young children, recurrent otitis media with effusion can also be treated by adenoidectomy and insertion of a tympanostomy tube, removing the nasopharyngeal reservoir for NTHi(Mattila et al., 2003). While the surgical procedure is effective, it places children at risk for significant complications.

Currently, vaccination is only available against type b encapsulated *H. influenzae* (Hib), which used to be a common cause of Hib invasive disease, such as meningitis and sepsis. Hib vaccines are conjugate vaccines, using purified capsule polysaccharide conjugated to an immunogenic carrier protein. Consequently, these vaccines afford no protection against nontypeable strains. The only NTHi protein used in a licensed vaccine application to date is protein D, which is used as an immunogenic carrier protein in the 10-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine Synflorix (GlaxoSmithKline), which targets
the *S. pneumoniae* polysaccharide capsule. Since the introduction of Synflorix in 2008, studies have reported modest reductions in NTHi acute otitis media. However, there has been no significant impact on nasopharyngeal carriage of NTHi(Clarke et al., 2017; Amanda Jane Leach et al., 2015; Van Den Bergh et al., 2012). Presently, there are no treatment or vaccine strategies directed at NTHi, including vaccines that prevent nasopharyngeal colonization. This represents a significant need and an active area of research in NTHi disease.

1.3.1 NTHi vaccine development

Vaccine approaches

Efforts to develop a vaccine against NTHi have thus far primarily focused on preventing otitis media and COPD. The high genetic diversity among NTHi isolates and prevalence of antigen heterogeneity pose significant challenges to identifying effective vaccine antigens. Ideal vaccine antigens are immunogenic in humans during NTHi infection and capable of stimulating a robust immune response during immunization. Historically, the presence of NTHi-specific antibodies has been considered a correlate of protective immunity. Moreover, candidate antigens are typically surface exposed and identified as important for bacterial infection, as antibodies targeting these antigens are more likely to mediate antibacterial functions at mucosal surfaces, including opsonization, restriction of bacterial adherence, and agglutination(Cerutti et al., n.d.; Roche et al., 2015).

Many children develop convalescent antibody directed at NTHi outer membrane proteins following acute otitis media, and these antibodies can often mediate bactericidal activity(Kaur et al., 2011; Khan et al., 2012). Moreover, colonization with NTHi is considered an immunizing event, as children develop natural antibody against NTHi components even without acute otitis media. Naturally-acquired antibodies during colonization and infection, especially against conserved targets, can contribute to a reduced colonization density(Zola et al., 2009). However, despite the presence of these antibodies, children are not completely protected and still experience infection with new strains. The antibodies that typically arise during epitopes of acute otitis media are typically highly strain specific even though they are reactive against conserved OMPs(Bernstein et al., 1992; Shurin et al., 1980). As a result, the developed antibody response is typically protective against recurrent infection by the same strain but does not grant broad immunity.

Increasingly, cell-mediated immunity is being identified as a driver of protection in the airways. Emerging evidence implicates that Th17 cells and the resulting production of IL-17 mediate immunity to extracellular bacteria at exposed mucosal surfaces including the airways, skin, and gut. Th17 cells, first characterized in 2005, are a subset of CD4⁺ effector T-cells that develop as a lineage distinct from Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes(Harrington et al., 2005). Production of IL-17 at mucosal surfaces stimulates production of antimicrobial peptides, chemotactic factors, and granulopoetic factors. This results in increased recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils and enhanced cytotoxicity and phagocytosis(Hoshino et al., 2000; Kao et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2008). IL-17 production has been implicated in host defense against various mucosal pathogens including *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Bordetella pertussis*(Archer et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2006). Th17 cells are thought to be important in driving natural immunity as well. People with mutations impacting Th17 development and IL-17 function experience greater susceptibility to colonization and infection by mucosal pathogens(J. Chen et al., 2010; Milner et al., 2008). Similarly, Th17 memory developed after mucosal exposure to *S. pneumoniae* mediates protection against re-colonization in mice, as neutralization of CD4 or IL-17A abrogates protection(Malley et al., 2005). Generation of Th17 memory and production of a robust IL-17 may therefore be important for protection against nasopharyngeal colonization by NTHi.

Immunization with Th17 antigens is increasingly of interest in vaccine design. Unlike antibodies, Th17 immune memory can contributes to protective immunity against highly variable antigens. Variable antigens often lead to variant-specific antibody responses due to changes in conformational epitopes. However, the presence of common major histocompatibility complex class (MHC-II) epitopes can result in conserved Th17 responses, driving protective immunity against heterologous strains(Kuipers et al., 2017b). Generation of Th17 immunity therefore allows for protective immunity independent of antibody-driven specificity and has been shown to be effective against heterologous strains of *Streptococcus* and *Klebsiella*(K. Chen et al., 2011; Kuipers et al., 2017a). Recent work has also shown that intrapulmonary immunization with Th17 antigens identified in NTHi can stimulate immunity against direct lower airways infection by heterologous strains of NTHi, independent of antibody reactivity, raising the potential that stimulation of cellular immunity may be an important consideration for developing a vaccine(W. Li et al., 2018).

Candidate vaccines

Several NTHi surface antigens have been explored as vaccine antigens and evaluated for their impact on nasal colonization. Because protein D has shown a potential impact on otitis media in the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, it has been highly investigated as an NTHi-specific vaccine antigen. Although protein D is not directly involved in adherence, it is surface exposed, and its phosphodiesterase activity supports adherence and invasion(Swords, Buscher, Ver Steeg li, et al., 2000). Moreover, the ciliotoxicity of protein D makes it an important virulence factor in the progression of otitis media. Protein D is highly conserved and found in both encapsulated and nontypable strains of *H. influenzae*(Birgitta Duim et al., 1997). The immunogenicity of protein D has also been well-studied. During experimental NTHi otitis media in rats, protein D was identified as an antibody target of systemic IgG and IgA antibodies(Akkoyunlu & Forsgren, 1996). Immunization with recombinant protein D, by either systemic or mucosal routes, has also been shown to stimulate antibody responses in rats, mice, and chinchillas(Akkoyunlu & Forsgren, 1996; Behrouzi et al., 2016; LO et al., 1999). Further, the resulting antibody response has demonstrated anti-NTHi activity in opsonophagocytosis assays in vitro, and passive transfer of anti-protein D antibody to chinchillas enhances protection against otitis media in vivo(LO et al., 1999; Motlagh et al., 2016). Importantly, the effects of protein D abrogation in vivo have only been observed in the middle ear, with no effects on adherence and fitness in the nasopharynx in chinchilla models(R. W. Johnson et al., 2011). Similar observations have recently been made in mouse models of NTHi acute otitis media, in which immunization with protein D reduces bacterial loads in middle ear washes and ear bullae, but not in the nares(Michel et al., 2018). This discrepancy in protection suggests that a protein Dtargeted immune response may only be valuable in the context of the middle ear, rather than mitigating the preceding nasopharyngeal colonization.

The OMP P5 fimbrial structure is another highly conserved outer membrane component and is found in nearly 100% of NTHi otitis media isolates(Novotny & Bakaletz, 2013). P5 exhibits high variability in surface-exposed regions, with variant P5carrying strains appearing during chronic bronchitis and across anatomical sites(B Duim et al., 1997). Serum antibodies against P5 have been identified in children recovering from NTHi acute otitis media(Novotny et al., 2002). However, the development of an antibody response in children is highly variable, and this may be due to the P5 variances across infecting strains(Bronson et al., 1997). Antibodies directed against immunodominant epitopes of P5 are poorly protective against experimental otitis media, though protection has been observed for antibody against subdominant epitopes(Novotny & Bakaletz, 2003). In chinchillas, immunization with a synthetic P5derived peptide, LB1, which contains these protective subdominant epitopes, results in antibody capable of promoting nasopharyngeal clearance of the homologous strain(Kennedy et al., 2000). Protection against heterologous strains conferred by LB1 immunization has thus far only been observed after conjugation to a T-cell promoting carrier(Kyd et al., 2003).

P6 is another significant peptidoglycan-associated lipoprotein that is thought to be an important NTHi antigen and a promising candidate. P6 is found in nearly all strains of *H. influenzae*, with highly conserved epitopes across isolates(Green et al., 1990; T. F. Murphy et al., 1986). Following nasal colonization with NTHi or acute otitis media, children develop serum IgG that is directed at P6 and capable of enhancing bactericidal activity against NTHi, suggesting that P6 is highly immunogenic during natural infection(Pichichero et al., 2010). Further, children who develop lower levels of anti-P6 antibody are more susceptible to otitis media, suggesting an important role for a P6 immune response(Bernstein et al., 1997). In mouse studies, immunization with P6 stimulates IgA and IgG, and improves nasopharyngeal clearance 3 days after NTHi infection with the homologous strain(Hotomi et al., 2002). This protective immunity is thought to be due to a combination of antibody and Th17 cells induced by immunization, though it is unclear whether mice are protected against heterologous strains(Noda et al., 2011).

Protein E (PE), another ubiquitous NTHi adhesin, has been considered due to its high conservation and vital interactions with host ECM. Intranasal immunization with PE, as a fusion protein with the type IV pilus component PilA, stimulates an antibody response that is capable of dispersing NTHi biofilms and interfering with PE-vitronectin interactions(Novotny et al., 2015; Ysebaert et al., 2019). While PE is immunogenic, the PilA subunit is poorly immunogenic and unable to mediate protective immunity on its own. The PE-PilA fusion vaccine is able to reduce bacterial burden in the murine nasopharynx by a heterologous strain 1 or 2 days after inoculation(Ysebaert et al., 2019).

Hap has been of great interest as a vaccine antigen because its expressed by all NTHi isolates and is an adhesin involved in key steps of nasopharyngeal colonization, including interactions with epithelial cells and microcolony formation. Hap is well-conserved among isolates, as sequences from differing strains are about 80% similar to each other. Purified Haps, the adhesive component of Hap, is highly immunogenic in mice, and the resulting antibodies are capable for interfering with NTHi Hap-mediated adherence to epithelial cells. Moreover, mice immunized with Haps are protected against nasopharyngeal colonization by a heterologous NTHi strain 3 days after inoculation(Cutter et al., 2002). Though immunized mice in these studies developed

robust antibody, greater antibody titers did not correlate with increased levels of protection, suggesting that the mechanism of this protection is yet to be defined.

Though Hia is only expressed by 25% of NTHi isolates, it is a critical adhesin for the subset of strains that do not express HMW1 and HMW2 and therefore under consideration as a vaccine candidate. During nasopharyngeal colonization, humans develop Hia antibodies, and these antibodies mediate bactericidal activity against Hiaexpressing NTHi strains(Nix et al., 2015). In chinchillas, immunization with recombinant Hia results in serum containing Hia-specific IgG that enhances opsonophagocytosis of the homologous strain and heterologous strains; however, the opsonophagocytic titer for the homologous strain was significantly higher than the titer for heterologous strains, suggesting some degree of strain-specificity(Winter & Barenkamp, 2009, 2014). No studies to date have immunized animals solely with Hia, presumably due to the low percentage of isolates expressing the adhesin. However, engineered outer membranevesicles expressing Hia in combination with other outer-membrane adhesins stimulate antibody in chinchillas capable of broadly enhancing opsonophagocytosis and afford protection against experimental otitis media(Winter & Barenkamp, 2017).

Like Hia, HMW1 and HMW2 are of interest due to their importance in facilitating adherence. Moreover, because there is direct evidence that HMW1 and HMW2 facilitate nasopharyngeal colonization in rhesus macaques, they are very likely to drive colonization in humans and are therefore very promising as vaccine targets(Rempe et al., 2016). HMW1 and HMW2 are highly immunogenic during colonization and infection. In children recovering from acute otitis media caused by NTHi, HMW1 and HMW2 are immunodominant targets of convalescent sera(Stephen J. Barenkamp & Bodor, 1990). Similarly, rhesus macaques colonized with HMW-expressing strains develop antibody

responses against HMW1 and HMW2, and antibodies are present in adults, suggesting that nasal colonization is an immunizing event(Rempe et al., 2016). The development of HMW-specific antibodies in humans also coincides with increased serum bactericidal activity(Stephen J. Barenkamp & Bodor, 1990). However, enhancement of opsonophagocytosis appears to be primarily against the homologous infecting strain, rather than heterologous strains(Winter & Barenkamp, 2016). Immunization with a combination of purified HMW1 and HMW2 is protective in the chinchilla model of acute otitis media(S J Barenkamp, 1996).

1.4. Thesis Overview

Chapter 2 further explores the capacity of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins to serve as vaccine antigens, with a focus on preventing nasopharyngeal colonization. This work explores the significance of intranasal immunization versus subcutaneous immunization, and then characterizes the systemic antibody and cell-mediated immune responses generated in mice after immunization. Chapter 3 investigates the determinants of immunogenicity of HMW1 and HMW2 and evaluates important immunological and functional differences between the two adhesins. Chapter 4 broadens the current mechanistic understanding of HMW1C-driven glycosylation of HMW1. Chapter 5 summarizes the implications of this work and explores future directions.

2. IMMUNIZATION WITH THE HMW1 AND HMW2 ADHESINS PROTECTS AGAINST COLONIZATION BY HETEROLOGOUS STRAINS OF NONTYPEABLE HAEMOPHILUS INFLUENZAE

2.1. Introduction

Nontypeable (nonencapsulated) *Haemophilus influenzae* (NTHi) is a common cause of acute otitis media (AOM), otitis media with effusion, sinusitis, and exacerbations of underlying lung disease in children (Timothy F. Murphy et al., 2009). NTHi is also frequently associated with community-acquired pneumonia and exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in adults (Sethi et al., 2002).

The pathogenesis of NTHi disease begins with colonization of the nasopharynx. Colonization occurs early in life and is common throughout childhood and into adulthood (Trottier et al., 1989). NTHi spreads contiguously within the respiratory tract to cause localized disease, typically in the setting of a viral respiratory infection or allergic disease (Amanda J. Leach et al., 1994; Rao et al., 1999; Smith-Vaughan et al., 2006). Recent evidence indicates that colonization in early infancy may predispose to development of neutrophilic asthma and allergic airway disease (McCann et al., 2016). Given the burden of NTHi disease and the association between early life NTHi colonization and asthma, there is interest in developing a vaccine against NTHi.

Currently, vaccines against *H. influenzae* are limited to polysaccharide conjugate vaccines targeting the capsule of type b strains (Hib). While these vaccines have been largely successful in eliminating Hib invasive disease, there has been no effect on strains of NTHi, which lack a capsule. Efforts to identify highly conserved antigens in NTHi and develop a vaccine against NTHi have been significantly more difficult. While

Hib and other encapsulated strains of *H. influenzae* are clonal, NTHi strains exhibit much greater genetic diversity and heterogeneity (Pinto et al., 2019). Across NTHi strains, common surface antigens exhibit high degrees of antigenic variation, resulting in variable and strain-specific antibody responses. In studies of mice, antibodies acquired during NTHi infection, including IgG in nasal washes directed against outer membrane proteins, are associated with reduced nasopharyngeal colonization density following subsequent challenge by NTHi (Zola et al., 2009). This suggests a protective role for antibodies at the mucosal surface. However, evidence in children indicates that despite the presence of antibody against an infecting strain, children remain susceptible to subsequent infections by new strains, suggesting that the antibody response may only protect against infection by the same strain.

In combination with antibody responses, Th17 cells are being increasingly recognized as key mediators of protection against airway infection by respiratory pathogens. Production of IL-17A mediates many Th17 effector functions at mucosal surfaces, including production of antimicrobial peptides, proinflammatory cytokines, chemotactic factors, and granulopoietic factors. These effector functions result in increased recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils and enhanced cytotoxicity and phagocytosis (Hoshino et al., 2000; Kao et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2008). There is also evidence that Th17 cells drive humoral immunity, including generation of antibody in mucosal secretions (Cao et al., 2012; Jaffar et al., 2009). IL-17 production is known to be essential for defense against various mucosal pathogens, including *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, and *Bordetella pertussis* (Archer et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2007). In studies of *S. aureus*, clearance of bacteria colonizing the nasopharynx is driven by Th17 responses, including IL-17-mediated neutrophil influx and antimicrobial peptide production (Archer et

al., 2013, 2016). Importantly, protection studies in *S. aureus* suggest that IL-17 driven protection is largely serotype independent. Thus far, it is unclear whether IL-17 production directly contributes to host defense against nasopharyngeal colonization by NTHi.

NTHi colonization of the nasopharynx begins with bacterial adherence to respiratory epithelial cells, which is dependent on NTHi adhesive proteins. The HMW1 and HMW2 high molecular weight proteins are surface-exposed glycoproteins and are the predominant adhesins in approximately 75-80% of NTHi strains (S J Barenkamp & Leininger, 1992; Buscher et al., 2004; Grass et al., 2003b; Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993; Joseph W. St Geme et al., 1998). HMW1 and HMW2 also facilitate upper respiratory tract colonization in rhesus macaques, as highlighted in studies comparing a wild type strain and an isogenic mutant lacking both of these proteins (Rempe et al., 2016). HMW1 and HMW2 are highly homologous to each other, sharing approximately 70% identity and 80% similarity. HMW1 and HMW2 are also highly homologous among diverse NTHi strains (Davis et al., 2014; Shahini Shams Abadi et al., 2016).

In children recovering from acute otitis media, HMW1 and HMW2 are the major targets of the serum antibody response to infection. Similarly, rhesus macaques colonized with HMW1/HMW2-expressing strains develop serum antibody responses against HMW1 and HMW2, and serum antibodies against HMW1 and HMW2 are present in adults, suggesting that these adhesins are highly immunogenic. The development of HMW1/HMW2-specific antibodies in humans also coincides with increased serum bactericidal activity (Stephen J. Barenkamp & Bodor, 1990). However, antibody-mediated killing appears to be directed primarily against the homologous infecting strain, rather than broadly-acting against heterologous strains (Winter & Barenkamp, 2016). The conservation of HMW1 and HMW2 among diverse strains, the

immunogenicity of HMW1 and HMW2, the surface localization of HMW1 and HMW2, and the role of HMW1 and HMW2 in adherence to respiratory epithelial cells and in colonization make these adhesins promising antigens for a vaccine.

In this study, we evaluated whether immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 protects against nasopharyngeal colonization. Using a mouse model of immunization and nasopharyngeal challenge, we found that immunization with the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins results in protection against colonization by homologous and heterologous strains, despite a highly strain-specific antibody response. Protection against nasopharyngeal colonization is mediated by both antibody and T-cell responses.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Culture

The bacterial strains used in the present study are described in Table 2.1. NTHi strain 12 is the prototype strain from which the *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci were first cloned and from which the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins were first characterized. NTHi strains were grown on chocolate agar (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) or brain heart infusion (BHI) agar supplemented with 0.1% (vol/vol) lysed horse blood as a source of hemin and 3.5 µg/ml NAD (BHIs), with 500 µg/ml streptomycin as appropriate. Agar plates were incubated overnight at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Spontaneous streptomycin-resistant derivatives of NTHi were generated by spreading a dense bacterial suspension onto agar plates containing 500 µg/ml streptomycin and then recovering survivors. For each set of isogenic strains, growth studies determined that the parent and derivative strain had similar growth rates. In preparation for intranasal inoculation, NTHi strains

were resuspended in BHIs broth to an optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) of 0.2. Cultures were grown shaking at 250 rpm to an OD_{600} of 0.8, pelleted, washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Lonza Biologics, Basel, Switzerland), and resuspended in PBS.

Strain	Description	Source or reference	
12	Nontypeable <i>Haemophilus</i> <i>influenzae</i> , expresses HMW1 ₁₂ and HMW2 ₁₂	Clinical isolate, middle ear fluid, acute otitis media	
12hmw1hmw2	12 <i>hmw1::kan hmw2::kan</i> , expresses neither HMW1 ₁₂ nor HMW2 ₁₂	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
12hmw1	12 <i>hmw1::kan</i> , expresses only HMW2 ₁₂	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
12hmw2	12 <i>hmw2::kan,</i> expresses only HMW1 ₁₂	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
5	Nontypeable <i>Haemophilus</i> <i>influenzae</i> , expresses HMW1₅ and HMW2₅	Clinical isolate, middle ear fluid, acute otitis media	
5hmw1hmw2	5 <i>hmw1::kan hmw2::kan</i> , expresses neither HMW1₅nor HMW2₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
5hmw1	5 <i>hmw1::kan</i> , expresses only HMW2 ₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
5hmw2	5 <i>hmw2::kan,</i> expresses only HMW1 ₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)	
15	Nontypeable <i>Haemophilus</i> <i>influenzae</i> , expresses HMW1 ₁₅ and HMW2 ₁₅	Clinical isolate, middle ear fluid, acute otitis media	
NT127	Nontypeable <i>Haemophilus</i> <i>influenzae</i> , expresses neither HMW1 or HMW2 and instead expresses the Hia adhesin	Clinical isolate, blood, meningitis (Provided by Hao Shen, University of Pennsylvania)	

Table 2.1	: Bacterial	strains	used in	Chapter	2
-----------	-------------	---------	---------	---------	---

2.2.2. Cell lines

The cell lines used in this study were obtained from the American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC). Cells were maintained at 37°C with 7.5% CO₂. Chang cells (human conjunctiva; ATCC CCL-20.2) were maintained in Eagle minimal essential media (MEM) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) supplemented with 1% nonessential amino acids (NEAA) and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS). HaCaT cells (derived from human keratinocytes)(Boukamp et al., 1988) were maintained in MEM + 0.1% NEAA + 10% FCS.

2.2.3. Purification of HMW1 and HMW2

HMW1 and HMW2 were purified from the NTHi surface as described previously (Rempe et al., 2016). NTHi mutants expressing HMW1 only or HMW2 only were inoculated into 10 liters of BHIs broth and grown 12-14 hours shaking at 37°C. The culture was then centrifuged for 20 min at 8000 rpm, the supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was frozen at -80°C overnight. To release HMW1 or HMW2 from the bacterial surface, the frozen pellet was thawed on ice and resuspended in 200 ml of extraction buffer (0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 50 µM 1,10-phenanthroline) in the presence of protease inhibitors (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). The resuspended bacteria were incubated at 4°C for 1 hr and then centrifuged for 15 min at 8500 rpm. The supernatant containing the released HMW1 or HMW2 was saved, and the pellet was discarded. The supernatants were dialyzed overnight into 20 mM 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES), 75mM NaCl pH 6.0 and then stepwise dialyzed

in MES with 250mM NaCl, in MES with 125mM NaCl, and then in 80mM NaCl. Dialyzed protein was loaded onto a Resource S cation exchange chromatography column (GE Life Sciences, Marlboro, MA, USA). Bound protein was eluted with 20 mM MES, 1 M NaCl pH 6.0. Fractions containing HMW1 or HMW2 were combined, concentrated, and then loaded onto a HiLoad SuperDex 16/60 200pg size-exclusion column (GE Life Sciences) equilibrated with 20 mM MES, 150 mM NaCl pH 6.0, 5% glycerol. The fractions containing HMW1 or HMW2 were pooled, resolved on SDS-PAGE gels, and stained with Coomassie blue to ensure purity.

2.2.4. Antibody measurement by ELISA

Purified protein (2.5 μ g/ml in 0.1 M carbonate buffer, pH 9.6) was coated onto 96-well plates by incubation at 4°C overnight. Plates were washed with PBS-0.1% Tween 20 and blocked with 2% nonfat milk in PBS. Serial dilutions of mouse sera were applied to wells in triplicate. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 1 hr. Mouse IgG was detected using a 1:2000 dilution of rabbit anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Sigma). For detection, the wells were incubated with 100 μ L of 3,3',5,5'tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) ELISA substrate (Rockland, Pottstown, PA, USA), and absorbance was recorded at 655 nm.

2.2.5. Antibody measurement by flow

NTHi strains were inoculated into 3mL of BHIs broth at $OD_{600} = 0.200$ and grown shaking at 37°C until $OD_{600} = 0.800$. Bacteria were then spun down and resuspended in 1X PBS to $OD_{600} = 0.600$. Bacteria were subsequently fixed in 1X TBS+1%

formaldehyde for 1 hr, then incubated with the appropriate immune serum. Following incubation, bacteria were washed in 1X PBS and incubated with fluorescent anti-mouse IgG (Rockland) for 1 hr, washed. Bacterial suspensions were brought up to 1mL total volume and stained with propidium iodide (PI) to identify bacteria. Fluorescence was analyzed using a BD Accuri C6 flow cytometer and BD Accuri C6 plus software (BD Biosciences). 50,000 PI+ events were recoded per sample.

2.2.6. Bacterial Adherence

Quantitative adherence assays were performed as described previously (Rempe et al., 2016). Approximately 1.8×10^5 cells were seeded into 24-well tissue culture plates and incubated overnight. Epithelial monolayers were inoculated with ~ 2×10^7 CFU of NTHi in the presence or absence of immune serum, and the plates were centrifuged at 165 x *g* for 5 min to facilitate contact between the bacteria and the epithelial cells. After incubation for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere, monolayers were rinsed with PBS to remove non-adherent bacteria. Trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin, 0.5% EDTA) (Sigma) was added to the wells to release epithelial cells and adherent bacteria. Dilutions of adherent organisms were plated on BHIs agar and incubated overnight to determine the number of adherent bacteria per monolayer. To image epithelial cell monolayers, cells were seeded onto glass coverslips. Following inoculation and incubation with bacteria, nonadherent bacteria were washed away with PBS, and monolayers were stained with Giemsa.

2.2.7. Animal Immunizations

All animal procedures were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. Groups of 6-8 week-old female BALB/c mice were immunized intranasally or subcutaneously with purified HMW1 and HMW2. For subcutaneous immunizations, mice were given 10 µg of purified protein diluted in PBS, conjugated to a suspension of Imject alum as an adjuvant (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Subcutaneous immunizations were given in a 100 µL volume (Cutter et al., 2002). Intranasal immunizations were performed as described by Cutter et al, with purified protein diluted in PBS to a concentration of 15 µg/40 µL with 0.1 µg E. coli labile toxin mutant LT(R192G/L211A) (dmLT) as a mucosal adjuvant (S. Leach et al., 2012). Purified dmLT was received as a gift from Dr. John Clements at Tulane University (Clements & Norton, 2018). Prior to intranasal immunization, mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ketamine/xylazine (75 mg/kg + 7.5 mg/kg body weight). Intranasal immunizations were delivered by pipetting 20 µL directly into each nostril. Following immunization, mice were placed in a supine position for 3-5 mins. Mice were immunized on weeks 0, 1, 3, and 5. Two weeks following the final immunization, blood was collected by terminal cardiac puncture, and serum was isolated from whole blood.

2.2.8. Intranasal Challenge

Two weeks following the final immunization, mice were challenged intranasally with $\sim 1 \times 10^8$ CFU of streptomycin-resistant NTHi in 10 µL. Mice were anesthetized as

described for intranasal immunization, and 5 µL of the bacterial suspension was delivered into each nostril. Following inoculation, mice were placed in a supine position for 3-5 min. Three days following challenge, animals were sacrificed. Nasal washes were collected by inserting a catheter into the trachea and flushing PBS through the nose. Nasopharyngeal tissue was harvested, weighed, homogenized, diluted, and plated. Recovered NTHi was plated onto BHIs-agar containing 500 µg/mL streptomycin and incubated at 37°C for 48 hours to determine colony counts.

2.2.9. Serum Transfer

For the passive transfer of serum, naïve mice were injected intravenously with 200 µL of pooled serum from immunized donor animals. Mice were challenged intranasally with NTHi 24 hr following the transfer. 3 days following challenge, mice were sacrificed to determine nasopharyngeal colonization density.

2.2.10. Antibody-mediated in vivo depletion of IL-17A

Mice were immunized as described. Two weeks following immunization, mice were given monoclonal anti-IL-17A antibody (clone 1F17) or the IgG isotype control antibody (clone MOPC-21) (BioXCell, Lebanon, NH, USA). Antibody was administered in a 1mL intraperitoneal injection at a concentration of 0.500 mg/mL in sterile PBS. Mice were given antibody 1 day prior to intranasal challenge with NTHi (day -1). At 3 dpi, mice were sacrificed to determine colonization density, as described.

2.2.11. Agglutination

Bacteria were resuspended from chocolate agar plates in 3mL BHIs to OD_{600} = 0.200, grown to OD_{600} = 0.800, then resuspended in 1X PBS. A 100 µL volume of the bacterial suspension was incubated with pooled, heat-inactivated serum for 1hr at room temperature. Bacteria were then fixed by adding formaldehyde to a final concentration of 1% and incubating at room temperature for 1hr. Following fixation, the samples were stained with crystal violet for imaging or diluted in PBS for analysis by flow cytometry.

2.2.12. Measurement of agglutination by flow cytometry

Bacteria were fixed and stained with propidium iodide to gate on bacterial cells. Bacterial populations were then evaluated in the forward scatter (FSC-A) and side scatter (SSC-A) dot plot to measure aggregate size, and the FSC-A count plot to determine aggregate quantity (Habets et al., 2017). Samples were analyzed in duplicate, and 50,000 PI+ events were measured for each sample. Data were analyzed using FlowJo ver. 10 (BD).

2.2.13. Imaging

Bacterial aggregates and epithelial monolayers were visualized by light microscopy. Images were acquired at a magnification of 400X using a Leica DM2500 microscope.

2.2.14. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed in GraphPad Prism (version 8.0) software (GraphPad Software, Inc, La Jolla, CA). Statistical significance was determined using two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), the Tukey-Kramer nonparametric test, and Student's t tests when appropriate. For nasopharyngeal colonization studies, the Kruskal–Wallis test was used to evaluate variance among all groups. If significant variance was found between groups, the Mann–Whitney test was used to determine significant differences between individual groups.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 stimulates serum antibody

To evaluate the antibody response following immunization with HMW1 and HMW2, we immunized groups of mice by either the intranasal or subcutaneous route. Mice were immunized with HMW1 and HMW2 purified from NTHi strain 12 (HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂) or NTHi strain 5 (HMW1₅ and HMW2₅). As shown in Figure 2.1, animals immunized by either the subcutaneous or intranasal route developed a robust serum IgG response based on assessment of pooled serum. Measurement of total IgG binding to whole bacteria by flow cytometry (Figure 2.1A) revealed that immune serum was specific for NTHi expressing the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins. Antibodies generated by immunization with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ were specific for NTHi strain 12 and showed no significant binding to heterologous HMW1/HMW2-expressing strains (strain 5 and strain 15). Similarly, antibodies generated by immunization with HMW1₅+HMW2₅ were specific for strain 5. This specificity was present with both subcutaneous and intranasal

immunization. There was no significant antibody reactivity with strains that do not possess the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins, including *hmw1hmw2* mutants of strain 12 and strain 5 and strain NT127, which lacks the *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci. In ELISAs using purified HMW1 and HMW2, sera also exhibited reactivity with the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, including variable cross reactivity with HMW1 and HMW2 from heterologous strains (Figure 2.1B). There was no significant reactivity in serum from animals immunized with only adjuvant (alum or dmLT). These studies demonstrate that serum antibodies against HMW1 and HMW2 exhibited specificity for the parent strain from which HMW1 and HMW2 were purified in assays with whole bacteria and variable crossreactivity with purified proteins from heterologous strains.



Figure 2. **I. Immunization with HMW2 and HMW2 stimulates are emiced by flow** (subcutaneous) results in systemic agG responses. (**A**) IgG being to whole NTHi was examinated by flow cytometry. IgG binding is expressed as mean antibody fluored and the structure of the structure

2.3.2. Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 stimulates protection against

nasopharyngeal colonization by homologous and heterologous strains

Following immunization with HMW112+HMW212, HMW15+HMW25, or adjuvant

alone by either the subcutaneous or intranasal route, animals were challenged

intranasally with either the parent strain, the heterologous HMW1/HMW2-expressing strain, the 12*hmw1hmw2* mutant, or strain NT127. Three days following the challenge, the density of colonization in animals immunized with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ was markedly reduced, based on CFUs recovered from homogenized nasal tissue (Figure 2.2).

Compared to animals immunized with dmLT in PBS, the density of colonization of mice immunized intranasally with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ was reduced by approximately 2 logs. The density of colonization of animals immunized subcutaneously with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ was reduced by 0.5-1 log compared to alum in PBS, though this change was not statistically significant (Figure 2.2A). Animals immunized with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ were also protected against nasopharyngeal colonization with NTHi strain 5, with larger reductions in colonization density detected in the intranasallyimmunized group. Immunization with HMW1₅+HMW2₅ was also protective against both strain 5 and strain 12 (Figure 2.2B). Intranasal immunization consistently resulted in greater reductions in colonization density compared to subcutaneous immunization, suggesting a role for local immune factors in the nasopharynx. Colonization density was not reduced in any animals challenged with strain 12*hmw1hmw2* or strain NT127. These results suggest that mice were protected against nasopharyngeal colonization by heterologous strains, despite an antibody response that appears to be strain specific.



Figure 2. 2. Immunization with HMW1+HMW2 reduces nasopharyngeal colonization density. Mice were initial feative with purified HMV/T13+HMW2₁₂ (**A**) or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ (**B**) and subsequently challenged with NTHi strain 12, strain 5, strain 12*hmw1hmw2* or strain NT127. Inoculums were approx in the ensity of doubted and the presented as log(recovered CFU/g nasal tissue). Data represent means + SD of 5 animals per group. Significance determined using the Kruskall-Wallis test. If a significance was identified the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare individual groups to adjuvant controls. ns. Not Significant + p < 0.05.

2.3.3. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies promote NTHi agglutination

To study the specificity of antibody-driven antibacterial behaviors, we first measured agglutinating activity of HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies, employing a flowcytometry based assay developed by Habets *et al* (Habets et al., 2017). NTHi strains were exposed to immune serum or adjuvant-only serum. Following incubation, bacteria were fixed, stained, and evaluated using flow cytometry. Agglutination was detected based on increases in the forward scatter signal (FSC-A), which indicate increases in particle size. In the presence of HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ immune serum, the mean FSC-A of strain 12 increased when compared to adjuvant-only serum (Figure 2.3A-B). The formation of aggregates was confirmed by staining bacteria with crystal violet and imaging with bright field microscopy (Figure 2.3C). Serum generated against HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ was associated with agglutination of NTHi strain 12 but not strain 5 or strain 15, again suggesting strain specificity of the antibody response. Similarly, immune serum generated against HMW1₅+HMW2₅ only agglutinated strain 5. Antibodies against strain 12 or strain 5 HMW1 and HMW2 proteins failed to agglutinate strain 12*hmw1hmw2*, strain 5*hmw1hmw2*, or strain NT127, indicating that agglutinating activity was due to HMW1 and HMW2-specific antibodies. Detectable agglutination was proportional to the concentration of immune serum, suggesting that the agglutination reaction is serum-dependent (Figure 2.3B). These results indicate that immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 results in serum antibodies that mediate strain-specific bacterial agglutination.





2.3.4. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies restrict HMW2-mediated adherence

To further address the functional activity of the antibody response to the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins, we assayed the ability of immune sera to inhibit HMW1 and HMW2-mediated adherence to epithelial cells. NTHi strains were inoculated onto monolayers of HaCaT cells in the presence or absence of pooled immune serum. In the presence of 0.2% serum derived against HMW112+HMW212, adherence of strain 12 was reduced by approximately 20%; when serum was increased to 2%, adherence was further reduced, demonstrating a dose-dependent effect (Figure 2.4A, solid bars). Similarly, strain 5 adherence was reduced in the presence of serum generated against HMW1₅+ HMW2₅ (Figure 2.4B, solid bars) and was proportional to the amount of serum present. Strain 12 and strain 5 bacterial adherence was not reduced in the presence of serum generated against proteins from the heterologous strain or in the presence of adjuvant-only serum. Immune serum derived against proteins from either parent strain had no impact on strain 12hmw1hmw2 or strain 5hmw1hmw2, which are unable to adhere to HaCaT cells. As shown in Figure 2.4C, direct visualization of adherence by light microscopy after Giemsa staining was consistent with the results of quantitative adherence assays. Antibodies against adhesins can reduce bacterial adherence, and consequently colonization, due to either agglutination of bacteria or direct interference with the receptor-ligand interaction or both (Mitsi et al., 2017; Roche et al., 2015). To evaluate whether agglutination was the sole mechanism of reduced adherence, we treated total serum with papain, digesting intact IgG in serum to produce nonagglutinating F(ab)₂ fragments. Papain-digested serum retained the ability to inhibit adherence (Figure 2.4A-B, striped bars). Together, these results suggest that HMW1

and HMW2 antibodies are capable of promoting antibacterial function in a strain-specific manner, through both direct agglutination and blocking of adhesin-receptor interactions.



Figure 2. 4. HMW1 and HMW2 antibodies reduce bacterial adherence.

Bacteria were inoculated onto HaCaT cells in the presence or absence of immune serum derived against HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ (**A**) or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ (**B**). Solid bars represent whole pooled serum. Striped bars represent pooled serum digested with papain. Data expressed as means \pm SD of three independent experiments. NS, No Serum. Statistical significance determined using two-way ANOVA with Tukey's correction for multiple comparisons. Significance is determined relative to the dmLT serum condition. n.s., Not Significant. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.(**C**) Representative images of bacterial adherence to HaCaT monolayers. Images shown at 400X total magnification.

2.3.5. Passive transfer of antibodies mediates protection against colonization by the homologous but not heterologous NTHi strain

To evaluate the contribution of antibodies in the absence of other immune factors, we conducted passive-transfer studies. Donor animals were immunized intranasally with purified HMW112+HMW212, purified HMW15+HMW25, or dmLT. Immune serum was administered to naïve animals, and recipient animals were then challenged with NTHi and assessed for colonization (Figure 2.5). The density of colonization with strain 12 in animals receiving HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂-derived serum was reduced approximately 1.5-logs compared to animals that received serum derived against dmLT alone. There was no significant reduction in density of colonization with strain 12 in animals that received HMW15+HMW25-derived serum. Similarly, the density of colonization with strain 5 in animals that received serum generated against HMW1₅+HMW2₅ was reduced ~1.2-logs compared to control animals, but the density of colonization with strain 12 in these animals was unaffected. There were slight reductions (<0.5-log) in colonization density in animals that received serum derived against the heterologous strain, though these decreases were not statistically significant. Transfer of sera against purified HMW112+HMW212 or purified HMW15+HMW25 had no effect on colonization by an *hmw1hmw2* mutant. Thus, passive receipt of antibodies granted protection against the homologous strain but was not sufficient to mediate protection against a heterologous strain, despite expression of HMW1 and HMW2.



Figure 2. 5. Passive transfer of antibodies mediates homologous protection. Mice were passively immunized with immune serum from mice immunized with dmLT (circles), HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ (squares) or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ (triangles) and subsequently challenged with NTHi strain 12, strain 5, strain 12*hmw1hmw2*. 3 days following challenge, nasopharyngeal colonization densities were determined. Data represent means ± SD of N=5 animals per group. Significance determined using the Kruskall-Wallis test. If a significant variance was identified, the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare individual groups to adjuvant controls. n.s., Not Significant. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

2.3.6. IL-17A is required for protection against heterologous strains

To determine whether an IL-17 response facilitates protection against nasopharyngeal colonization, we performed an antibody-mediated *in vivo* depletion of IL-17A. Mice were immunized intranasally with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂, HMW1₅+HMW2₅, or dmLT alone. One day prior to intranasal inoculation (-1 dpi), mice were given anti-IL-17A antibody (BioXCell; clone 1F17) or an IgG isotype control antibody (BioXCell; clone MOPC-21). Mice were then challenged with the parent strain or the heterologous HMWexpressing strain, and colonization density was determined 3 days later (Figure 2.6).

Among groups given the IgG isotype control antibody, mice immunized with purified protein were colonized at lower densities than mice immunized with dmLT alone, as expected. Administration of anti-IL-17A antibody had no significant impact on nasopharyngeal colonization by the homologous strain in animals immunized with either HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ or HMW1₅+HMW2₅. However, anti-IL-17A treatment reduced the degree of protection observed against heterologous strains. Compared to control animals immunized with dmLT, animals immunized with HMW1₅+HMW2₅ were colonized by strain 12 at approximately 1.4-logs lower density when given the IgG isotype control. When given anti-IL-17A, animals immunized with HMW1₅+HMW2₅ were colonized by strain 12 at 0.05-logs lower density, a difference that was not statistically significant compared to the dmLT-immunized control. Likewise, animals that were given MOPC-21 and then immunized with HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ were colonized by strain 5 at 1.3-logs lower density, but animals that were given ani-IL-17A and then \pm HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ had no significant reduction in strain 5 colonization the strains. These results suggest that IL-17A is critical for protection against heterologous strains and that IL-17A may facilitate protection independent of antibody strain specificity.







Mice were impufized with dmLT, HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂, or HMW1₅+HMW2₅. 1 day prior to challenge, groups were administered anti-fire 17A antibody or IgG isotype control (MOPC₁₇21). Mice were then challenged intranasally with NFH strain 12, strain 5, strain 12*hmw1hmw2*. 3 days following challenge, nasopharyngeal colonization densities were determined. Data represent means \pm SP of 5 animals per group. Significance determined using the Kruskall-Wallis test. If a significant variance was identified, the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare individual groups to adjuvent opticle. n.s., Not Significant. * p < 0.05.



2.4. Discussion

In this study, we establish that immunization with the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins stimulates protective immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization by NTHi. Importantly, the induced immunity protects against the parent strain as well as heterologous HMW1/HMW2-expressing strains, suggesting broad protection. Following immunization with purified HMW1+HMW2, serum antibody responses were highly strain specific, and passive delivery of antibody alone was insufficient for significant heterologous protection. Consistent with this observation, we found that heterologous protection against nasopharyngeal colonization is IL-17A dependent. Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 likely stimulates broadly reactive cellular immunity in addition to serum antibody. In the absence of IL-17A production, as shown by antibody knockdown of IL-17A, animals immunized with HMW1+HMW2 were still protected against the homologous strain. Similarly, passive-transfer experiments revealed that antibodies facilitate much greater protection against the homologous strain than the heterologous strain. During nasopharyngeal challenge, the presence of antibodies may directly reduce the ability of some strains to adhere to host epithelium, and also enhance opsonophagocytosis by host cells through direct binding and agglutination. Complete protection against nasopharyngeal colonization is likely to involve contributions of both antibody and cell-mediated arms of the immune response.

Emerging evidence has begun to implicate IL-17 in protection against NTHi. Li W *et al* recently showed that Th17 cells drive antibody-dependent protection against pulmonary infection by NTHi, and that Th17 cells are capable of mediating protection against heterologous strains despite serotype-specific antibody responses (W. Li et al., 2018). Similarly, intranasal immunization with NTHi outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) has been shown to stimulate Th17 memory and subsequent protection against

heterologous strains (Noda et al., 2011; Roier et al., 2012). While several immunogenic outer membrane proteins have been identified from OMVs, including the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, it has not been clear exactly which proteins directly contribute to IL-17 production and are capable of stimulating protective immunity in the nasopharynx.

In our studies, animals immunized with HMW1+HMW2 by the subcutaneous or intranasal route developed comparable amounts of NTHi-specific serum antibody. However, based on recovered CFU, our data suggest that intranasally immunized mice were protected to a greater degree, with greater reductions in colonization relative to adjuvant controls. This result suggests an advantage to intranasal immunization and a role for local immune factors in mediating heterologous protection in the upper airways. This finding is consistent with other studies evaluating mucosal immunization, which have observed enhanced protection compared to immunization at distal sites (O'Hara et al., 2020; Roier et al., 2012). The delivery of antigens to intranasal lymphoid tissue likely stimulates local Th17 development, facilitating cell-mediated protection in combination with antibody-mediated systemic immunity. In our studies, animals immunized subcutaneously with HMW1 and HMW2 were still protected against full levels of colonization by either the parent strain or the heterologous strain, suggesting development of Th17 responses in the nasopharynx without local antigen delivery. Recent evidence suggests that parenteral immunization with bacterial antigens can stimulate the development of nasal Th17 memory cell populations, though the mechanism through which this occurs is unclear (O'Hara et al., 2020). These findings suggest that the route of antigen delivery is an important consideration in NTHi vaccine design, and that intranasal immunization may be more effective.

Despite the high degrees of homology of the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins across strains, the antibody responses following immunization were remarkably strain specific.

Based on amino acid sequences, HMW1₁₂ and HMW1₅ share 73.08% identity, and HMW2₁₂ and HMW2₅ share 69.66% identity (table 2). In our studies, while antibodies bind to whole bacteria in a strain-specific pattern, binding assays to purified proteins revealed that cross-reactive antibodies are present in immune sera, suggesting that strain specificity stems from factors beyond amino acid sequence, an ongoing area of investigation.

HMW1 ₁₂	100.0	69.76	73.08	67.24
HMW2 ₁₂	69.76	100.0	69.66	74.59
HMW1 ₅	73.08	69.66	100.0	79.18
HMW2 ₅	67.24	74.59	79.18	100.0

Table 2. 2. Identity of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins.

Percent identity matrix - generated using Clustal2.1

Our data also suggest that the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins may have important immunological differences within a strain. Though animals were immunized with a 1:1 mixture of HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂, the antibody response appeared to heavily favor HMW2₁₂. While HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂ share ~70% identity, they contain two regions of significant divergence, including an HMW1₁₂-specific region of 62 amino acids that is absent from HMW2₁₂ and a ~360 amino acid region that harbors binding activity and accounts for the differences in HMW1 and HMW2 binding specificity. These regions could explain the observed differential immunogenicity between HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂. Interestingly, immunization with HMW1₅ and HMW2₅ generated an antibody response that did not heavily favor either protein, suggesting that the differences are not solely due to the HMW1 and HMW2 binding domains.

Collectively, these data implicate the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins as promising

antigens for a vaccine against nasopharyngeal colonization by NTHi. Given the high prevalence of HMW1/HMW2-expressing NTHi clinical isolates and the protective immunity afforded by these proteins, they may be valuable for inclusion in a broadly protective vaccine.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) under the training grant in Microbial Pathogenesis and Genomics (1-T32-AI-141393-01).

We thank Dr. John Clements for providing the purified dmLT used in these studies and Dr. Elizabeth Q. Littauer, Dr. Paul J. Planet, and Ying Yang for assistance with the animal work.

This work has been submitted for publication as referenced below: Kadry N.A., Porsch E.A., Shen H., and St. Geme III, J.W. 2020. "Immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins protects against colonization by heterologous strains of nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae*." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of</u> <u>Sciences.</u>
3. DETERMINANTS OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF THE HMW1 AND HMW2 ADHESINS

3.1. Introduction

Nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* (NTHi) is a major source of morbidity in children and adults, causing localized respiratory tract disease such as acute otitis media, sinusitis, and pneumonia and also accounting for occasional serious invasive disease. The pathogenesis of NTHi disease begins with colonization of the upper respiratory tract. Most individuals become colonized during infancy and have intermittent asymptomatic colonization throughout childhood and adulthood (McCann et al., 2016). Under certain circumstances, NTHi will spread contiguously within the respiratory tract to produce localized disease or enter the bloodstream to cause invasive disease.

Current strategies to prevent NTHi disease are limited. Examples include adenoidectomy and antibiotic prophylaxis to prevent recurrent otitis media, approaches that are often inadequate and that may be associated with short-term and long-term complications. Consequently, there is interest in developing a vaccine, ideally preventing colonization as the essential first step in the pathogenic process. Among potential vaccine antigens are the HMW1 and HMW2 high molecular weight adhesins. These proteins are present in approximately 75% of NTHi clinical isolates and are the primary targets of serum antibody in children recovering from NTHi disease. Recent work has established that rhesus macaques colonized with NTHi develop HMW1- and HMW2specific antibodies, suggesting that colonization is an immunizing event (Rempe et al., 2016). The appearance of HMW1 and HMW2-specific IgG in human serum has been correlated with the development of complement-dependent serum bactericidal activity against NTHi (Stephen J. Barenkamp & Bodor, 1990; Winter & Barenkamp, 2006).

Moreover, in children with acute otitis media, higher concentrations of detectable NTHispecific antibodies in middle ear fluids at the time of diagnosis, including antibodies directed against HMW1 and HMW2, have been associated with faster clearance (Faden et al., 1989; Sloyer et al., 1976).

In recent work, we have established that intranasal immunization with a mixture of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins can stimulate protective immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization by heterologous strains of NTHi, through stimulation of both antibody and T-cell driven responses. Importantly, antibody responses appear to mediate strain specific immunity and drive protection against the parent strain, and the Th17 response is required for protection against heterologous strains (Chapter 2). In order to further develop the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins as vaccine antigens, it is important to clarify the determinants of their immunogenicity.

HMW1 and HMW2 are highly homologous glycoproteins, sharing approximately 71% identity and 80% similarity to each other. These proteins are highly conserved among diverse NTHi strains, with HMW1 homologs typically at least 70% similar to each other and HMW2 homologs typically at least 70% similar to each other (Rodriguez et al., 2003; Shahini Shams Abadi et al., 2016). HMW1 and HMW2 are encoded by distinct genetic loci that are located in physically separate regions on the chromosome and contain 2 accessory genes that encode the HMW1B/2B and HMW1C/2C accessory proteins. The HMW1B and HMW2B proteins form an outer membrane pore and facilitate translocation of the HMW1 and HMW2 across the outer membrane. HMW1C and HMW2C are cytoplasmic glycosyltransferases that mediate the N-linked glycosylation of HMW1 and HMW2. The HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins are glycosylated at asparagine residues (N) at the sequence N-X-S-T (X≠Proline) with either single or di-hexose

residues (Joseph W. St Geme & Grass, 1998; Szymanski et al., 1999). In the absence of HMW1C/HMW2C-mediated glycosylation, HMW1 and HMW2 are more susceptible to degradation during the secretion process and are freely released from the cell surface (Grass et al., 2003b). Proper modification by HMW1C/HMW2C is also important for proper folding and adhesive activity of mature HMW1 and HMW2 (unpublished data).

In this study, we sought to compare the immune response developed to HMW1 versus HMW2 in a mouse model of intranasal immunization. Though HMW1 and HMW2 share significant homology, we found that they stimulate antibody responses with differing target specificities. We present evidence that HMW1C-driven glycosylation of HMW1 may shape the immunogenicity of HMW1, driving immunological differences between HMW1 and HMW2 across strains and altering recognition of NTHi by host antibodies.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Bacterial Strains and Culture

The bacterial strains used in the present study are described in Table 3.1. NTHi strains were grown on chocolate agar (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) or brain heart infusion (BHI) agar supplemented with 0.1% (vol/vol) lysed horse blood as a source of hemin and 3.5 µg/ml NAD (BHIs), with 500 µg/ml streptomycin as appropriate. Agar plates were incubated overnight at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Spontaneous streptomycin-resistant derivatives of NTHi were generated by spreading a dense bacterial suspension onto agar plates containing 500 µg/ml streptomycin and then recovering survivors. For each set of isogenic strains, growth studies determined that the parent and derivative strain had similar growth rates. In preparation for intranasal inoculation, NTHi strains

were resuspended in BHIs broth to an optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) of 0.2. Cultures were grown shaking at 250 rpm to an OD_{600} of 0.8, pelleted, washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (Lonza Biologics, Basel, Switzerland), and resuspended in PBS.

E. coli strain BL21 was used to express HMW1₁₂ modified by alternative glycosyltransferases. *E. coli* was grown on Luria-Bertani Broth (LB) plates or in LB broth supplemented with 100 μ g/ml ampicillin and 25 μ g/ml chloramphenicol as appropriate. Plates were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂, and liquid cultures were grown at 37°C with agitation at 250 rpm.

3.2.2. Cell lines

The cell lines used in this study were obtained from the American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC). Cells were maintained at 37°C with 7.5% CO₂. Chang cells (human conjunctiva; ATCC CCL-20.2)

were maintained in Eagle minimal essential media (MEM) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) supplemented with 1% nonessential amino acids (NEAA) and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS).

Strain	Relevant genotype or description	Source or reference
Nontypeable H.		
IIIIIueiizae	Nontypeable H influenzae strain	Clinical isolate middle
12	produces HMW1 ₁₂ and HMW2 ₁₂	ear fluid, acute otitis media
12hmw1hmw2	12 <i>hmw1::kan hmw2::kan</i> , produces neither HMW1 ₁₂ nor HMW2 ₁₂	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)
12hmw1	12 hmw1::kan, produces only HMW212	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)
12hmw2	12 hmw2::kan, produces only HMW112	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al., 1993)
5	Nontypeable <i>H. influenzae</i> strain, produces HMW1 ₅ and HMW2 ₅	Clinical isolate, middle ear fluid, acute otitis media
5hmw1hmw2	5 <i>hmw1::kan hmw2::kan</i> , produces neither HMW1₅ nor HMW2₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al. 1993)
5hmw1	5 <i>hmw1::kan</i> , produces only HMW2 ₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et
5hmw2	5 <i>hmw2::kan,</i> produces only HMW1 ₅	(Joseph W. St. Geme et al. 1993)
NT127	Nontypeable <i>H. influenzae</i> strain, produces neither HMW1 or HMW2 and instead produces the Hia adhesin	Clinical isolate, blood, meningitis (Provided by Hao Shen, University of Pennsylvania)
Rd KW20	Laboratory strain, formerly serotype d, lacking <i>hmw</i> genes and non-adherent <i>in vitro</i>	(Fleischmann et al., 1995)
Rd/HMW1 ₁₂	Derivative of strain Rd KW20 that contains the intact <i>hmw1</i> ₁₂ locus and produces HMW1 ₁₂	(S J Barenkamp & Leininger, 1992)
Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ hmw1C	Derivative of Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ that contains the <i>hmw1</i> ₁₂ locus with a kanamycin cassette inserted at the <i>Xho</i> I site in the chromosomal copy of <i>hmw1C</i>	(Grass et al., 2003b)
Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ hmw1C +pHMW1C	Derivative of Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ hmw1C recA that contains pACYC184 hmw1C	This study
E. coli		
BL21 + pHMW1AB +pEtpC	pT7-7 <i>hmw1A₁₂/hmw1B₁₂</i> pACYC184 <i>etpC</i>	Katherine Rempe
BL21 + pHMW1A +pHMW1Скк	рТ7-7 <i>hmw1A</i> 12 pACYC184 <i>hmw1Скк</i>	(Rempe et al., 2015)

Table 3. 1. Bacterial strains used in Chapter 3

3.2.3. Purification of HMW1 and HMW2

HMW1 and HMW2 were purified from the surface of NTHi or *E. coli* as described previously (Rempe et al., 2016). NTHi mutants producing HMW1 only or HMW2 only were inoculated into 10 liters of BHIs broth and incubated for 12-14 hours shaking at 37°C. Alternatively, to purify protein from the surface of *E. coli* expressing HMW1, bacteria were inoculated into 10 liters of LB with antibiotics as appropriate and incubated for 12-14 hours shaking at 37°C. Following incubation, the cultures were centrifuged for 20 min at 8000 rpm, the supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was frozen at -80° C overnight. To release HMW1 or HMW2 from the bacterial surface, the frozen pellet was thawed on ice and resuspended in 200 ml of extraction buffer (0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 50 µM 1,10-phenanthroline) in the presence of protease inhibitors (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). The resuspended bacteria were incubated at 4°C for 1 hr and then centrifuged for 15 min at 8500 rpm. The supernatant containing the released HMW1 or HMW2 was saved, and the pellet was discarded. The supernatants were dialyzed overnight into 20 mM 2-(N-morpholino) ethanesulfonic acid (MES), 75mM NaCl pH 6.0 and then stepwise dialyzed in MES with 250mM NaCl, in MES with 125mM NaCl, and then in 80mM NaCl. Dialyzed protein was loaded onto a Resource S cation exchange chromatography column (GE Life Sciences, Marlboro, MA, USA). Bound protein was eluted with 20 mM MES, 1 M NaCl pH 6.0. Fractions containing HMW1 or HMW2 were combined, concentrated, and then loaded onto a HiLoad SuperDex 16/60 200pg size-exclusion column (GE Life Sciences) equilibrated with 20 mM MES, 150 mM NaCl pH 6.0, 5% glycerol. The fractions containing HMW1 or HMW2 were pooled, resolved on SDS-PAGE gels, and stained with Coomassie blue to ensure purity.

To isolate HMW1 from the cytoplasm, bacteria were grown overnight, centrifuged, and frozen as described. Pellets were then thawed and resuspended in resuspension buffer (0.5M NaCl, 10mM EDTA, 10mM Tris pH 7.5, 50 µM 1, 10 phenanthroline) and were sonicated until the suspension reached maximum clarity. The sonicate was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 18,598 x g. The supernatant containing the released HMW1 was saved, and the pellet was discarded. The supernatant was then dialyzed into 20mM MES, 10mM NaCl pH 6.0 and was loaded on a RESOURCE-S ionic exchange AKTA column. The bound protein was eluted with 20mM MES, 1M NaCl pH 6.0. HMW1-containing fractions were then concentrated and separated by size-exclusion chromatography.

3.2.4. Animal Immunizations

All animal procedures were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. Groups of 6-8 week-old female BALB/c mice were immunized intranasally with purified HMW1 and HMW2. Intranasal immunizations were performed as described by Cutter *et al*, with purified protein diluted in PBS to a concentration of 15 μ g/40 μ L with 0.1 μ g *E. coli* labile toxin mutant LT(R192G/L211A) (dmLT) as a mucosal adjuvant (S. Leach et al., 2012). Purified dmLT was received as a gift from Dr. John Clements at Tulane University (Clements & Norton, 2018). Prior to intranasal immunization, mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ketamine/xylazine (75 mg/kg + 7.5 mg/kg body weight). Immunizations were delivered by pipetting 20 μ L directly into each nostril. Following immunization, mice were placed in a supine position for 3-5 mins. Mice were immunized on weeks 0, 1, 3, and 5. Two weeks following the final immunization, mice were either challenged with NTHi or sacrificed by terminal cardiac puncture for serum collection.

3.2.5. Intranasal Challenge

Two weeks following immunization, mice were challenged intranasally with $\sim 1 \times 10^{8}$ CFU of streptomycin-resistant NTHi in 10 µL. Mice were anesthetized as described for intranasal immunization, and 5 µL of the bacterial suspension was delivered into each nostril. Following inoculation, mice were placed in a supine position for 3-5 min. Three days following challenge, animals were sacrificed. Nasal washes were collected by inserting a catheter into the trachea and flushing PBS through the nose. Nasopharyngeal tissue was harvested, weighed, homogenized, diluted, and plated. Recovered NTHi was plated onto BHIs-agar containing 500 µg/mL streptomycin and incubated at 37°C for 48 hours to determine colony counts.

3.2.6. Antibody measurement by ELISA

Purified protein (2.5 μ g/ml in 0.1 M carbonate buffer, pH 9.6) was coated onto 96well plates by incubation at 4°C overnight. Plates were washed with PBS-0.1% Tween 20 and blocked with 2% nonfat milk in PBS. Serial dilutions of mouse sera were applied to wells in triplicate. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 1 hr. Mouse IgG was detected using a 1:2000 dilution of rabbit anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Sigma). For detection, the wells were incubated with 100 μ L of 3,3',5,5'tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) ELISA substrate (Rockland, Pottstown, PA, USA), and absorbance was recorded at 655 nm.

3.2.7. Antibody measurement by flow

NTHi strains were inoculated into 3mL of BHIs broth at $OD_{600} = 0.200$ and grown shaking at 37°C until $OD_{600} = 0.800$. Bacteria were then spun down and resuspended in 1X PBS to $OD_{600} = 0.600$. Bacteria were subsequently fixed in 1X TBS+1% formaldehyde for 1 hr, then incubated with the appropriate immune serum. Following incubation, bacteria were washed in 1X PBS and incubated with fluorescent anti-mouse IgG (Rockland) for 1 hr, washed. Bacterial suspensions were brought up to 1mL total volume and stained with propidium iodide (PI) to identify bacteria. Fluorescence was analyzed using a BD Accuri C6 flow cytometer and BD Accuri C6 plus software (BD Biosciences). 50,000 PI+ events were recoded per sample.

3.2.8. Bacterial Adherence

Approximately 1.8×10^5 cells were seeded onto glass coverslips placed in 24-well tissue culture plates and incubated overnight. Epithelial monolayers were inoculated with $\sim 2 \times 10^7$ CFU of NTHi in the presence or absence of immune serum, and the plates were centrifuged at 165 x *g* for 5 min to facilitate contact between the bacteria and the epithelial cells. After incubation for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere, monolayers were rinsed with PBS to remove non-adherent bacteria. Monolayers were then stained with Giemsa for imaging.

3.2.9. Agglutination

Bacteria were resuspended from chocolate agar plates in 3mL BHIs to OD_{600} = 0.200, grown to OD_{600} = 0.800, then resuspended in 1X PBS. A 100 µL volume of the bacterial suspension was incubated with pooled, heat-inactivated serum for 1hr at room temperature. Bacteria were then fixed by adding formaldehyde to a final concentration of 1% and incubating at room temperature for 1hr. Following fixation, the samples were laid onto slides for imaging or diluted in PBS for analysis by flow cytometry.

3.2.10. Measurement of agglutination by flow cytometry

Bacteria were fixed and stained with propidium iodide to gate on bacterial cells. Bacterial populations were then evaluated in the forward scatter (FSC-A) and side scatter (SSC-A) dot plot to measure aggregate size, and the FSC-A count plot to determine aggregate quantity (Habets et al., 2017). Samples were analyzed in duplicate, and 50,000 PI+ events were measured for each sample. Data were analyzed using FlowJo ver. 10 (BD).

3.2.11. Imaging

Bacterial aggregates and epithelial monolayers were visualized by light microscopy. Images were acquired at a magnification of 400X using a Leica DM2500 microscope.

3.2.12. Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed in GraphPad Prism (version 8.0) software (GraphPad Software, Inc, La Jolla, CA). Statistical significance was determined using two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), the Tukey-Kramer nonparametric test, and Student's t tests when appropriate. For nasopharyngeal colonization studies, the Kruskal–Wallis test was used to evaluate variance among all groups. If significant variance was found between groups, the Mann–Whitney test was used to determine significant differences between individual groups.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. HMW1 and HMW2 stimulate antibody responses with differing specificities

To evaluate the antibody responses generated against HMW1 and HMW2, we immunized groups of mice with HMW1 or HMW2 purified from NTHi strain 12 (HMW1₁₂, HMW2₁₂, HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂) or NTHi strain 5 (HMW1₅, HMW2₅, HMW1₅+HMW2₅). As shown in Figure 3.1, mice in all immunization groups developed a serum IgG response based on assessment of pooled serum. Measurement of total IgG binding to whole bacteria by flow cytometry (Figure 3.1A) revealed that serum antibodies were specific for NTHi strains expressing the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins. Immunization with proteins from NTHi strain 12, including HMW1₁₂, HMW2₁₂, or a mixture of HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂, resulted in an antibody response that preferentially bound to the parent strain. No significant binding was detected to isogenic mutant strains that do not produce the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins (12*hmw1hmw2* and 5*hmw1hmw2*) or to a heterologous strain that does not carry the *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci (NT127). Despite the significant

amino acid homology among the HMW1/HMW2 adhesins across strains, no significant binding was detected to a heterologous HMW1/HMW2-expressing strain (strain 5 or strain 15). Similarly, antibodies generated against HMW1₅, HMW2₅, or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ were highly specific for strain 5, with no significant binding to strain 12.

To evaluate adhesin specificity independent of differences in adhesin amount, we measured IgG binding to purified protein. Evaluating IgG binding to surface-purified proteins (Figure 3.1B) revealed greater differences in immune response to the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins. Consistent with the analysis of antibody binding to whole bacteria, serum from animals immunized with HMW1₁₂ alone preferentially bound to HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂, with significantly reduced binding to HMW1₅ or HMW2₅, suggestive of specificity for the parent strain. Serum from animals immunized with HMW1₁₂ and strain 5 with comparable affinity. Serum generated against the mixture of HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ resulted in antibody that exhibited preferential binding to HMW2₁₂, with significantly reduced binding to HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ resulted in antibody that exhibited preferential binding to HMW2₁₂, with significantly reduced levels of binding to HMW1₁₂, HMW1₅, and HMW2₅. Serum generated against HMW2₅ or a mixture of HMW1₁₅+HMW2₅ showed comparable binding to all variants, and serum against HMW1₅ showed reduced affinity for HMW2₁₂.



Figure 3. 1. Immunization with HMW1 or HMW2 from heterologous NTHi strains results in strain specific IgG.

Mice were intranasally immunized with mixtures of the HMW1 and/or HMW2 proteins. (A) Serum IgG binding to whole NTHi was evaluated by flow cytometry. IgG binding is expressed as mean antibody fluorescence (MFI) based on 50,000 events per sample. Statistical significance determined using two-way ANOVA with Tukey's correction for multiple comparisons. Significance determined relative to dmLT serum condition. n.s., Not Significant. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. (B) Binding of serum IgG to purified HMW1 and HMW2 by ELISA. Serum pooled from 5 immunized animals per group. Data represent mean ± SD from three independent experiments. NS, no serum. LT, dmLT in PBS.

Despite the remarkably high homology across the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, both HMW1 and HMW2 appear to stimulate antibody responses with different specificities. HMW1 and HMW2 proteins from different strains can also stimulate very different antibody responses. Together, these data reveal significant immunostimulatory differences among the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, apparently independent of amino acid sequence homology. Further, while immunization stimulates antibodies that are cross reactive in assays with purified HMW1 and HMW2, the binding of these antibodies to whole bacteria is strain specific.

3.3.2. HMW1 and HMW2 stimulate protective immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization

To evaluate whether differences in adhesin antibody responses influence protective immunity, mice were immunized with proteins from strain 12 (Figure 3.2A) or strain 5 (Figure 3.2B) and subsequently challenged with the parent strain or the heterologous HMW1/HMW2-expressing strain. Compared to adjuvant-only controls, mice immunized with mixtures of HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂ or HMW1₅+HMW2₅ were protected against nasopharyngeal colonization by both the parent strain and the heterologous strain, consistent with previous data (Chapter 2). Similarly, animals immunized individually with HMW2₁₂ or HMW1₅ were protected against colonization by both strain 12 and strain 5, with ~1.5-log reductions in colonization density. Animals immunized with HMW1₁₂ were protected against strain 12 but were not significantly protected against strain 5. Immunization with HMW2₅ alone resulted in reduced colonization density of both strains relative to controls, although these differences were not statistically significant. These results suggest that variants of HMW1 and HMW2 may have altered capacity to stimulate protective immunity.



Figure 3. 2. Immunization with HMW1 or HMW2 reduces nasopharyngeal colonization density. Mice were immunized with combinations of purified HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂ (**A**) or HMW1₅ and HMW2₅ (**B**) and subsequently challenged with NTHi strain 12 or strain 5. Inoculums were approximately 10^8 CFU. Density of colonization represented as log(recovered CFU/g nasal tissue). Data represent means ± SD of 5 animals per group. Significance determined using the Kruskall-Wallis test. If a significant variance was identified, the Mann-Whitney test was used to compare individual groups to adjuvant (dmLT) controls. n.s., Not Significant.

3.3.3. The glycosylation of HMW1 influences binding by serum antibody

We next sought to determine whether differences in the pattern of adhesin

glycosylation affect antibody binding specificity. To generate differentially glycosylated

variants of HMW1₁₂, we produced HMW1 in the presence of homologs of the HMW1C

glycosyltransferase, including the *E. coli* EtpC protein and the *Kingella kingae* HMW1C_{KK} protein, which can mediate glycosylation HMW1, though resulting in a different pattern of glycosylation (Rempe et al., 2015). Previous work has established that these HMW1 variants, designated HMW1_{KK1C} and HMW1_{EtpC}, are glycosylated at fewer sites relative to HMW1 modified by a chromosomal copy of HMW1C (HMW1_{WT}). Because we were unable to produce EtpC in strain Rd/HMW1₁₂, we produced HMW1AB alongside EtpC in *E. coli*, resulting in HMW1_{EtpC} on the bacterial surface. HMW1C_{KK} is not detectable on the bacterial surface; therefore, this variant was purified from the cytoplasm of *E. coli*. To generate a hyper-glycosylated variant of HMW1₁₂, we created a derivative of RdHMW1 in which *hmw1C* is expressed on a high copy plasmid (pHMW1C). The increased production of the HMW1 relative to HMW1_{WT} (Elango & Schulz, 2020). This hyper-modified variant is designated HMW1_{HMW1C}. These variant forms of HMW1₁₂ are summarized in Table 2.

Variant	Source of isolation	Glycosyltransferase	Relative modification
HMW1 _{wT}	Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ surface	Chromosomal HMW1C	Native
<i>НМW1_{кк1С}</i>	<i>E. coli</i> cytoplasm	HMW1C _{κκ}	Reduced
HMW1 _{EtpC}	<i>E. coli</i> surface	EtpC	Reduced
HMW1 _{HMW1} c	Rd/HMW1 ₁₂ surface	pHMW1C	Increased

Table 3. 2. Purified hivivy 112 glycosylation variant	/ariants
---	----------

ELISAs were performed using serum generated against the individual HMW1

and HMW2 variants as well as HMW1+HMW2 mixtures. With all of the sera, binding was

consistently highest to HMW1_{WT} (Figure 3.3, black bars). Antibody binding was significantly reduced to HMW1_{KK1C} and HMW1_{EtpC}. Binding to HMW1_{HMW1C} was also reduced, although there was variability depending on the source of the serum. Binding to HMW1_{HMW1C} was lowest with serum from animals immunized with HMW1₁₂ and highest with serum from animals immunized with HMW2₁₂ or the strain 5 proteins. Differences in binding across serum groups again suggests that immunostimulatory differences exist among the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, resulting in antibody responses that recognize vastly different epitopes.



Figure 3. 3. Glycosylation of HMW1₁₂ impacts serum antibody binding. Serum IgG binding to glycosylation variants of purified HMW1₁₂ was evaluated by ELISA. Variants are indicated by their modifying glycosyltransferase. Proteins were coated onto plates under native (black bars) or denaturing (gray bars) conditions. 8M urea was used to promote denaturing. Serum pooled from 5 immunized animals per group. Data represent mean \pm SD from three independent experiments. Statistical significance shown relative to WT protein in each condition, unless indicated. n.s., not significant. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

Reduced antibody binding to purified glycosylation variants of HMW1₁₂ could be due to changes in existing glycopeptides or changes in global structure of the adhesin. When HMW1 is modified by EtpC, the protein shows a modified structure. Based on circular dichroism, HMW1_{WT} adopts a structure that is 1.86% α -helix and 49.03% β - sheet, while EtpC-modified HMW1 is 52.46% α-helix and 9.17% β-sheet (Rempe and St. Geme III, unpublished data). To evaluate antibody binding without an effect of structural changes, ELISAs were performed in a chaotropic condition, using 8M urea to denature coating proteins (Hnasko et al., 2011). In the denaturing condition (Figure 3.3, gray bars), IgG binding to HMW1_{WT} was slightly reduced across all serum groups, though this reduction was not always statistically significant. The low levels of binding to HMW1_{EtpC} and HMW1_{KK1C} were not significantly changed. Binding to HMW1_{HMW1C} was significantly reduced in serum derived against HMW2₁₂, HMW1₅, HMW2₅, and HMW2₅+HMW2₅. Importantly, binding to all glycosylation variants remained lower than binding to HMW1_{WT} in the denaturing condition. These findings suggest that in the absence of structural epitopes, binding to HMW1₁₂ by serum antibody is reduced when the pattern of glycosylation is altered.

3.3.4. Differential modification of HMW1₁₂ on the NTHi surface prevents agglutination in the presence of antibody

In previous work, we found that antibodies generated against HMW1+HMW2 promote strain-specific agglutination of NTHi (Chapter 2). We therefore sought to establish whether changes in protein glycosylation could influence the strain-specificity of antibody binding and consequent agglutination of NTHi strains. Agglutination of NTHi derivates of Rd/HMW1₁₂ was evaluated in the presence of serum generated against HMW1₁₂ or HMW1₅ (Figure 3.4). Agglutination was measured by flow cytometry and determined using mean forward scatter measurements (FSC-A) to determine average bacterial particle size (Habets et al., 2017) (Figure 3.4A). The formation of aggregates was confirmed by light microscopy (Figure 3.4B). As expected, strain Rd/HMW1₁₂ agglutinated very efficiently in the presence of serum derived against the strain 12 proteins but not the strain 5 proteins. In the absence of the HMW1C glycosyltransferase ($\Delta hmw1C$), HMW1₁₂ is rapidly degraded and released from the surface of NTHi; therefore, this strain does not agglutinate due to a lack of surface adhesin (Joseph W. St Geme & Grass, 1998). The strain expressing HMW1_{HMW1C} (+pHMW1C) showed a significant defect in agglutination in the presence of antibodies generated against HMW1₁₂+HMW2₁₂. The presence of functional HMW1 on the surface was confirmed by imaging bacterial adherence to Chang epithelial cells (Figure 3.4C). These data suggest that changes in the pattern of HMW1 modification, either through a loss or an increase of modification, influence the ability of antibodies to bind HMW1 and subsequently promote bacterial agglutination.





Figure 3. 4. Agglutination of NTHi by serum from immunized animals.

NTHi were incubated with pooled serum from groups of 5 mice immunized with HMW1+HMW2. (**A**) Agglutination was measured by flow cytometry and is represented by the mean FSC-A signal. NTHi were incubated with 2% serum from animals immunized with dmLT alone (gray), HMW1₁₂+dmLT (blue), or HMW1₅+dmLT (red). Data based on 50,000 events per sample. Error bars represent means \pm SD from three independent experiments. Statistical significance determined using two-way ANOVA with Tukey's correction for multiple comparisons. Significance determined relative to dmLT serum condition unless indicated. n.s., Not Significant. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. (**B**) Representative images of agglutination imaged by light microscopy. (**C**) Bacterial adherence to epithelial cell monolayers was imaged following staining with Giemsa. All images shown at 400x total magnification. NS, No Serum.



3.4. Discussion

Bacterial glycoproteins are being recognized increasingly as important modulators of pathogen interactions with the host immune system. Glycan modifications of bacterial proteins often contribute to induction of immune responses. In many bacterial species, surface-exposed glycans are highly variable across strains, resulting in vast differences in intraspecies antigenicity. Consequently, glycosylation often confers serospecificity. In encapsulated bacterial species, including *E. coli* and *Streptococcus pnuemoniae*, the presence of distinct surface capsular polysaccharides results in hundreds of distinct serotypes. Similarly, glycosylation of flagellin in *Campylobacter* species is responsible for creating serotypes across strains and driving antibody reactivity (Alm et al., 1992; Szymanski et al., 1999). Differential glycosylation of HMW1 and HMW2 on the bacterial surface, both within and across strains, could similarly create broad serospecificity across NTHi strains.

An important consequence of serospecificity is evasion of host antibody responses. Antibodies generated in response to one strain are frequently ineffective against heterologous strains. Variation in glycosylation linkages or patterns can therefore allow different members of a species or population to evade recognition by host antibodies. In many cases, variation among bacterial glycans can also serve to create molecular mimicry of host glycans, promoting survival of commensal bacteria (Comstock & Kasper, 2006; Cusick et al., 2012; Poole et al., 2018). Following exacerbations of COPD driven by NTHi, adults tend to develop highly strain specific mucosal antibody responses, and these antibodies do not provide protection against exacerbations with newly acquired heterologous strains (Sethi et al., 2004). Similarly, the mucosal antibody response to NTHi nasopharyngeal colonization is thought to be highly strain specific, as antibodies generated against a colonizing strain do not mediate protection against colonization by a new strain (J. Pickering et al., 2014). In this work we demonstrate that NTHi expressing HMW1₁₂ agglutinate in the presence of HMW1₁₂ antibodies and that this response is strain specific. Expressing a hyperglycosylated variant of HMW1₁₂ allowed NTHi to evade agglutination by HMW1₁₂ antibodies, suggesting that changes to glycosylation prevent agglutination, despite no changes to the HMW1 amino acid sequence. Glycan variation, therefore, appears to serve as a mechanism of immune evasion for NTHi and likely contributes to the strain specificity of antibody-mediated agglutination.

Throughout this work, we demonstrate that differentially glycosylated HMW1₁₂ is antigenically distinct from HMW1_{WT}. Work studying HMW1 modification by HMW1C *ex vivo* has shown that systematic alterations in the relative amounts of HMW1 and

HMW1C quantitatively changes site-specific glycosylation of HMW1 (Elango & Schulz, 2020). Variable repeat elements identified in the *hmw1C* promoter may drive phase-variable expression of HMW1C, similar to the way that variation in the number of 7-base pair repeats in the promoter regions of *hmw1a* and *hmw2a* results in variation in levels of HMW1 and HMW2 (Giufrè et al., 2008). Taken together, these findings suggest that variation in the relative amounts of HMW1/HMW2 and glycosyltransferase could serve as a source of large variation of HMW1 and HMW2 modification across strains.

Changes in the glycosylation pattern of HMW1₁₂ appear to influence antibody binding even after chemical denaturation, suggesting that the source of altered recognition is independent of the structural changes related to glycosylation. This could indicate that immunogenic epitopes on HMW1 include the N-Glc fragments, alone or as parts of short glycopeptides. The immunogenicity of bacterial glycoproteins has been observed in other organisms. In *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, O-linked mannosylation of the Apa complex is required for recalling immune responses in immunized guinea pigs; moreover, immune stimulation is dependent on both the presence of glycans and the extent of glycosylation, suggesting that the glycans play a critical role in shaping the immunogenicity of Apa (Horn et al., 1999; Romain et al., 1999). Changes to the extent of HMW1 glycosylation could therefore have an effect on recalling immune responses generated against HMW1_{WT}. Antibodies generated against different HMW1 or HMW2 proteins also exhibited differential binding to HMW1_{WT} and the HMW1 glycosylation variants. This finding further suggests that glycosylation could influence both the antibody response generated and the ability of HMW1 to be recognized by antibody.

Notably, immunization with HMW1 alone or HMW2 alone was protective against nasopharyngeal colonization by heterologous strains of NTHi, despite the strain specificity of the antibody response. This result is consistent with observations described

in Chapter 2, where we demonstrated that heterologous protection is driven by a Th17 response rather than antibodies. It is possible that the glycosylation of HMW1 and HMW2 is important in shaping the specificity of the antibody response but does not influence the cell-mediated response. When antibodies against HMW1+HMW2 are the sole source of immunity against NTHi, mice are only protected against nasopharyngeal colonization by the homologous strain; similarly, depletion of IL-17A results in a loss of heterologous protection (Chapter 2). Significant differences in the mouse model of immunization and nasopharyngeal challenge may only be detected in a similar set of studies isolating antibody-driven immunity.

NTHi strains exhibit remarkable clonal diversity compared to encapsulated strains of *H. influenzae*. Because there is no polysaccharide capsule, much of the diversity stems from exposed surface antigens exhibiting high degrees of antigenic drift and recombination. Among NTHi surface antigens, most variation has been identified in the immunodominant epitopes of proteins, resulting in highly strain specific antibody (Sethi et al., 2004; Troelstra et al., 1994). Consequently, the vast antigenic variance of NTHi strains has been one of the greatest barriers to identifying candidate vaccine antigens. Our studies demonstrate a novel role for HMW1C-mediated glycosylation in further enhancing the antigenic diversity of NTHi strains and promoting evasion of antibodies. Given the promising potential of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins as vaccine candidates, the pattern of glycosylation may be an important factor to consider.

4. DETERMINANTS OF HMW1C GLYCOSYLTRANSFERASE SPECIFICITY

4.1. Introduction

The HMW1 and HMW2 high molecular weight proteins in NTHi are a family of adhesins that are secreted by a two-partner (TPS) secretion system. Each adhesin is produced by a homologous TPS locus, *hmw1abc* and *hmw2abc*. The *hmw1a/hmw2a* genes encode the TpsA proteins, the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, respectively. The *hmw1b/hmw2b* genes encode the TpsB proteins, the HMW1B and HMW2B outer membrane pore forming proteins (H. Li et al., 2007; Joseph W. St. Geme & Yeo, 2009). In addition to the primary TPS components, the *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci contain a third accessory gene, the *hmw1c* and *hmw2c* genes. These genes encode HMW1C and HMW2C, which are highly homologous glycosyltransferases that glycosylate HMW1 and HMW2, respectively (Grass et al., 2003a).

The HMW1C and HMW2C glycosyltransferases are cytoplasmic glycosyltransferases that mediate the asparagine (N)-linked glycosylation of nascently translated HMW1 and HMW2 in the cytoplasm. Modification occurs by sequentially adding UDP-glucose or UDP-galactose to multiple sites on nascent preproHMW1 in a sequential fashion, so that each glycosylation site is modified with either a mono- or dihexose glycan rather than a complex polysaccharide (Grass et al., 2003a). Glycans are added onto asparagine residues at the conserved consensus site NXS/T, where "X" indicates any amino acid except proline (Gross et al., 2008). Based on mass spectrometry analyses of purified mature HMW1, there are at least 31 residues that are

modified with glucose (Glc) galactose (Gal), Glc-Glc, or Glc-Gal residues (Gross et al., 2008). The resulting modifications result in approximately 7-8kDa of the mature protein total mass.

Modification by HMW1C is required for normal HMW1 processing, secretion, and function. Elimination of HMW1C results in rapid breakdown of HMW1, indicating that glycosylation promotes stability and protects against premature degradation. Moreover, unmodified HMW1 that is not immediately degraded does not remain anchored to HMW1B and is rapidly released into the environment, suggesting that glycosylation is important for tethering (Grass et al., 2003a; Gross et al., 2008). As a result, production of HMW1 without HMW1C eliminates HMW1-mediated adherence.

Although HMW1C functions as an N-glycosyltransferase, homology analyses initially suggested that it was a member of the GT41 member of O-linked (O-GlcNAc) glycosyltransferases. However, GT41 O-GlcNAc transferases contain a characteristic tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR) fold at the N-terminus. HMW1C lacks the TPR fold and instead contains an N-terminal all α -helical domain (AAD) at the N terminus (Kawai et al., 2011). HMW1C is therefore considered the prototypic member of a novel family of cytoplasmic N-glycosyltransferases (McCann & St. Geme, 2014a).

HMW1C-mediated glycosylation differs significantly from other N-linked glycosylation systems identified in bacteria. Among the best-described bacterial N-linked glycosyltransferase systems is the *pgl* system, which was first identified in *Campylobacter jejuni* (Szymanski et al., 1999). In this system, UDP N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) is converted into a branched oligosaccharide linked to a undecaprenyl phosphate (Und-P) lipid carrier. This process is mediated by a sequential

series of enzymes, including a C6 dehydratase (PgIF), an aminotransferase (PgIE), an acetyltransferase (PgID), followed by glycosyltransferases that extend the polysaccharide (PgIC, PgIA, PgIJ, PgIH, and PgII) (Glover et al., 2005, 2006; Schoenhofen et al., 2006; Wacker et al., 2002). The sugar chain is built in the cytoplasm and is then flipped into the periplasm. Once in the periplasm, the oligosaccharide chain is transferred *en bloc* to the NXS/T consensus sequence on over 60 different periplasmic and outer-membrane bound substrate proteins (Nothaft & Szymanski, 2013; Wacker et al., 2002). Thus, the *pgl* system serves as a general N-linked glycosylation pathway for many proteins. In contrast, HMW1C transfers UDP-hexoses and is the only enzyme involved, catalyzing both hexose-hexose and hexose-peptide bonds. Importantly, HMW1C-mediated glycosylation is not a general modification pathway. HMW1 is the only known target of HMW1C in NTHi, suggesting a remarkable degree of target specificity. Moreover, HMW1C appears to exhibit site-selection specificity, as only a subset of available NXST sequence are modified on HMW1.

In vitro, HMW1C is capable of modifying a variety of peptides containing the NXST sequon, including both peptides derived from HMW1 and peptides from other proteins (Naegeli et al., 2014). Moreover, heterologous expression of HMW1C in *E. coli* results in glycosylation of other proteins (Gawthorne et al., 2014). Together, these observations suggest that while HMW1C is capable of off-target modification, the specificity for HMW1 is tightly controlled in NTHi. The determinants of this specificity have thus far been undefined.

There are several potential factors that could shape the specificity of HMW1C for HMW1 in the NTHi cytoplasm. The genomic proximity of *hmw1a* and *hmw1c* could result in spatial proximity of HMW1C to HMW1, resulting in preferred modification of HMW1. HMW1 may also contain a yet-unidentified sequence that promotes HMW1C-driven

modification. Finally, the stoichiometry between HMW1C and available HMW1 substrate may restrict the ability of HMW1C to modify other proteins in the NTHi cell. In this study, we evaluated these possibilities and their influence on HMW1C modification. While there appears to be no clear sequence that is required for recognition of HMW1 by HMW1C, we found that the relative amount of available HMW1C in the NTHi cytoplasm influences target specificity, revealing a mechanism for target selection.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Bacterial Strains and Culture.

The bacterial strains used in the present study are described in Table 4.1. NTHi strains were grown on chocolate agar (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) or brain heart infusion (BHI) agar supplemented with 0.1% (vol/vol) lysed horse blood as a source of hemin and 3.5 µg/ml NAD, referred to as supplemented BHI (BHIs). 2µg/ml chloramphenicol was added as appropriate. Agar plates were incubated overnight at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Liquid cultures were grown at 37°C with agitation (250rpm).

Strain	Relevant genotype or description	Source or reference
Nontypeable H. influenzae		
12	Nontypeable <i>H. influenzae</i> strain, produces HMW1 and HMW2	Clinical isolate, middle ear fluid, acute otitis media
12∆hmw1C⊿hmw2C	12 <i>hmw1c::kan hmw2c::cam</i> , produces neither HMW1C nor HMW2C	(Grass et al., 2003b)
12∆hmw1C	12 <i>hmw1c::kan</i> , produces HMW2C	(Grass et al., 2003b)
12∆hmw2C	12 <i>hmw2c::cam,</i> produces HMW1C	(Grass et al., 2003b)
Rd KW20 (Rd)	Laboratory strain, formerly serotype d, lacking <i>hmw</i> genes and non-adherent <i>in vitro</i>	(Fleischmann et al., 1995)
Rd/HMW1	Derivative of strain Rd KW20 that contains the intact <i>hmw1</i> locus and produces HMW1	(S J Barenkamp & Leininger, 1992)
Rd/HMW1 _{HapSS}	Derivative of Rd/HMW1 that expresses HMW1 with the typical signal peptide of the Hap adhesin	This study
Rd/HMW1 hmw1c::kan	Derivative of Rd/HMW1 that contains the <i>hmw1</i> locus with a kanamycin cassette inserted at the <i>Xho</i> I site in the chromosomal copy of <i>hmw1C</i>	(Grass et al., 2003b)
Rd/HMW1 <i>hmw1C::kan</i> +pHMW1C	Derivative of Rd/HMW1∆ <i>hmw1c</i> ∆recA that contains pACYC184 <i>hmw1c</i>	This study

Table 4. 1. Bacterial strains used in Chapter 4

4.2.2. Strain construction.

Variants of Rd/HMW1 were generated by first constructing *hmw1* variants on plasmids in *E. coli*. Plasmids were isolated and linearized by restriction digest. Linearized DNA containing the variant *hmw1* were then transformed into Rd/HMW1 using the MII/MIV method of NTHi transformation (Steinhart & Herriott, 1968). To select for positive transformants, a kanamycin resistance casette (*kan*) was included in the construct in the Spel restriction site, upstream of *hmw1a*. To introduce plasmids into Rd/HMW1, the recombinase mutation *recA* was introduced, followed by transformation of intact plasmid by MII/MIV (Stuy, 1989).

4.2.3. Cell lines.

The cell lines used in this study were obtained from the American Tissue Culture Collection (ATCC). Cells were maintained at 37°C with 7.5% CO₂. Chang cells (human conjunctiva; ATCC CCL-20.2) were maintained in Eagle minimal essential media (MEM) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) supplemented with 1% nonessential amino acids (NEAA) and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS).

4.2.4. Purification of HMW1.

HMW1 was purified from the NTHi surface as described previously (Rempe et al., 2016). NTHi mutants expressing HMW1 or HMW1 + pHMW1C were inoculated into 10 liters of BHIs broth and grown 12-14 hours shaking at 37°C with antibiotics as appropriate. The culture was then centrifuged for 20 min at 8000 rpm, the supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was frozen at -80°C overnight. To release HMW1 from the bacterial surface, the frozen pellet was thawed on ice and resuspended in 200 ml of

extraction buffer (0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 50 µM 1,10phenanthroline) in the presence of protease inhibitors (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). The resuspended bacteria were incubated at 4°C for 1 hr and then centrifuged for 15 min at 8500 rpm. The supernatant containing the released HMW1 was saved, and the pellet was discarded. The supernatants were dialyzed overnight into 20 mM 2-(Nmorpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES), 75mM NaCl pH 6.0 and then stepwise dialyzed in MES with 250mM NaCl, in MES with 125mM NaCl, and then in 80mM NaCl. Dialyzed protein was loaded onto a Resource S cation exchange chromatography column (GE Life Sciences, Marlboro, MA, USA). Bound protein was eluted with 20 mM MES, 1 M NaCl pH 6.0. Fractions containing HMW1 were combined, concentrated, and then loaded onto a HiLoad SuperDex 16/60 200pg size-exclusion column (GE Life Sciences) equilibrated with 20 mM MES, 150 mM NaCl pH 6.0, 5% glycerol. The fractions containing HMW1 were pooled, resolved on SDS-PAGE gels, and stained with Coomassie blue to ensure purity.

4.2.5. Western blotting.

Proteins were transferred from SDS-PAGE gels to nitrocellulose membranes and blocked using 5% nonfat milk in PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature. Membranes were then incubated overnight with guinea pig antiserum generated against mature HMW1 (GP104) or HMW1C (GP64) at a 1:2000 dilution. Following incubation, membranes were washed with TBS +0.1% Tween. Membranes were then incubated with an anti-guinea pig IgG horseradish peroxidase conjugate at a 1:5000 dilution for 30 minutes at room temperature, washed, and developed.

4.2.6. In-gel protein digestion.

Coomassie stained samples were excised from gels, cut into 1 mm cubes destained with 50% methanol/1.25% acetic acid, reduced with 5 mM Dithiothreitol (Thermo Fisher Scientific San Jose, CA), and alkylated with 20 mM iodoacetamide (Sigma) (Shevchenko et al., 1996).(Gel pieces were then washed with 20 mM ammonium bicarbonate (Sigma) and dehydrated with acetonitrile (Fisher). Trypsin (Promega) (5ng/mL in 20 mM ammonium bicarbonate) was added to the gel pieces, and proteolysis was allowed to proceed overnight at 37oC. Peptides were extracted with 0.3% triflouroacetic acid and then 50% acetonitrile. Extracts were combined, and the volume was reduced by vacuum centrifugation.

4.2.7. Mass spectrometry analysis.

Tryptic digests were analyzed by liquid chromatography followed by tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) on a hybrid LTQ Orbitrap Elite mass spectrometer (Thermo) coupled with a nanoLC Ultra (Eksigent). Peptides were separated by reverse phase (RP)-HPLC on a nanocapillary column, 75 μ m ID × 15 cm Reprosil-pur 3 um, 120A (Dr. Maisch, Germany) in a nanoflex chip system (Eksigent). Mobile phase A consisted of 1% methanol (Fisher)/0.1% formic acid (Thermo), and mobile phase B consisted of 1% methanol/0.1% formic acid/80% acetonitrile. Peptides were eluted into the mass spectrometer at 300 nL/min, with each RP-LC run comprising a 90 minute gradient from 10 to 25% B in 65 min, 25 to 40% B in 25 min. The mass spectrometer was set to repetitively scan m/z from 300 to 1800 (R = 240,000 for LTQ-Orbitrap Elite) followed by data-dependent MS/MS scans on the twenty most abundant ions, with a minimum signal of 1500, dynamic exclusion with a repeat count of 1, repeat duration of 30s, exclusion size of 500 and duration of 60s, isolation width of 2.0, normalized collision

energy of 33, and waveform injection and dynamic exclusion enabled. FTMS full scan maximum fill time was 500 ms, and ion trap MSn fill time was 50 ms; microscans were set at one. FT preview mode, charge state screening, and monoisotopic precursor selection were all enabled with rejection of unassigned and 1+ charge states.

4.2.8. Spectra identification.

The tandem mass spectra were extracted using ProteoWizard (v3.0.5047). Charge state deconvolution and deisotoping were not performed. All MS/MS samples were analyzed using SEQUEST (Thermo Fisher Scientific; version 1.0). SEQUEST was set up to search the UniProt *Haemophilus influenzae* proteome appended with common contaminants, assuming a full tryptic digestion with the possibility of two missed cleavages. SEQUEST was searched with a fragment ion mass tolerance of 1 Da and a parent ion tolerance of 15 ppm. S-carbamamidomethyl of cysteine was specified in SEQUEST as a fixed modification. Oxidation of methionine and hexose on asparagine were specified in SEQUEST as variable modifications. Results were visualized using Scaffold (Proteome Software, Inc). SIgnalP was used to identify all potential glycosylated sequons in mature HMW1 (Technical University of Denmark).

4.2.9. Bacterial Adherence.

Quantitative adherence assays were performed as described previously (Rempe et al., 2016). Approximately 1.8×10^5 cells were seeded into 24-well tissue culture plates and incubated overnight. Epithelial monolayers were inoculated with ~ 2×10^7 CFU of NTHi in the presence or absence of immune serum, and the plates were centrifuged at

165 x *g* for 5 min to facilitate contact between the bacteria and the epithelial cells. After incubation for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere, monolayers were rinsed with PBS to remove non-adherent bacteria. Trypsin-EDTA (0.25% trypsin, 0.5% EDTA) (Sigma) was added to the wells to release epithelial cells and adherent bacteria. Dilutions of adherent organisms were plated on BHIs agar and incubated overnight to determine the number of adherent bacteria per monolayer. To image epithelial cell monolayers, cells were seeded onto glass coverslips. Percent adherence was calculated as the number of adherent CFU in relation to the total inoculum CFU per strain.

4.2.10. Statistical analysis.

Data were analyzed in GraphPad Prism (version 8.0) software (GraphPad Software, Inc, La Jolla, CA). Statistical significance was determined using two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), the Tukey-Kramer nonparametric test, and Student's t tests when appropriate.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. The chromosomal proximity of *hmw1a* and *hmw1c* is not required for interactions between HMW1 and HMW1C.

To evaluate the role of genomic proximity between *hmw1a* and *hmw1c* in targeting, we took advantage of the fact that *hmw1abc* and *hmw2abc* are located in conserved, but unlinked locations in the NTHi chromosome (Buscher et al., 2004). We examined the ability of HMW2C to modify HMW1 by generating a derivative of NTHi strain 12 in which *hmw1c* is insertionally inactivated. Under these conditions, HMW1 can

only be modified by HMW2C, which is highly homologous and functionally equivalent to HMW1C (McCann & St. Geme, 2014a). We determined whether HMW1 was modified based on HMW1-dependent NTHi adherence to Chang cell monolayers. If HMW1 is not modified by HMW1C, the adhesin is rapidly degraded and released from the cell surface, resulting in nonadherent bacteria (Joseph W. St Geme & Grass, 1998). As shown in Figure 4.1, expression of HMW1C or HMW2C is sufficient to produce functional HMW1, suggesting that modification occurs. This result indicates that *hmw1c* does not need to be expressed in the same genetic locus as *hmw1a* in order to modify HMW1.



Adherence to Chang

Figure 4. 1. Chromosomal proximity of hmw1a and hmw1c is not required for HMW1 modification. Bacteria were grown in liquid BHIs and inoculated onto monolayers of Chang epithelial cells. Adherent bacteria are represented as the recovered CFU percentage of the inoculum. Inoculums were approximately 2x10⁷ CFU/mL. Statistical significance determined from 3 independent experiments using two-way ANOVA. n.s., not significant.
4.3.2. Targets of HMW1C-like glycosyltransferases do not contain a clear shared motif.

To examine the possibility that HMW1 contains an unidentified sequence to promote recognition and modification by HMW1C, we compared amino acid sequences of known targets of HMW1C and related glycosyltransferases. Figure 4.2A lists identified N-glycosyltransferases homologous to HMW1C and their target proteins. Based on the amino acid sequences of the target proteins, there are no regions of significant homology across the four target proteins that could be indicative of a recognition sequence (Figure 4.2B). It is therefore unlikely that HMW1C and related glycosyltransferases use a shared sequence motif to achieve specificity for their target proteins.

Α

Organism	Glycosyltransferase	Target
Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi)	HMW1C	HMW1
Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC)	EtpC	EtpA
Aggregatibacter aphrophilus	HMW1C _{Aa}	EmaA
Kingella kingae	HMW1C _{Kk}	Knh

Figure 4. 2. HMW1 homologues do not contain a shared motif.

(A) Homologues of HMW1C in other bacterial species were identified using BLAST search (NCBI). Target proteins were identified and confirmed based on genetic context and through literature searches (B) Amino acid sequence alignment proteins modified by HMW1C-like proteins.

HMW1 EtpA EmaA Knh		519 78-012-022 400-00 78 1000 78 2010 7 2010 7 2010 70 10 2010 70 542 76 567 7650-587 71650-972 40 - 587 597 6 47 596 6 707 7 58 10 597 596 50 70 10 50 10 50 10 50 10 50 10 50 10 50 10
HMW1 EtpA EmaA Knb	56	566 550 STA U T 624 SUJALES NINSSET SVASR D- 624 SUJALES NINSSET MYDN GALANSTAGALGPNSTWITNGTI SPNITVNGSTATYT
HMW1 EtpA EmaA	98 - All The of Standard Control Control (Standard Control (Standa	
HMW1 EtpA EmaA	156 COLLEGE CO	566 566 T. Gonzaldon Bang - And T. March 19 (19 (19 (19 (19 (19 (19 (19 (19 (19
Knh HMW1 EtpA EmaA	117 BOILAIGHTYG UG GOLD ACKOSSGO-110-10H-06(05) BI GALG BACGY SOAKAYSS 217 AGOLG AG YACGSI D: AGOK UT-150 U 216 HOTOG ATTOGATY HANGES UT-10 39 ASALAT HOTOGATY HANGES UT-10 39 ASALAT HOTOGATY HANGES UT-10 39 ASALAT HOTOGATY HANGES UT-10 30 ASALAT HAN	
Knh HMW1 EtpA	173 Втори все в во вонити в вонити	649 KGRIPAGYIK-GTUTHEOPENGHUTKSCBLPGNLKVNND-FOGVIDG 622
Knh HMW1 EtpA	225 ADINGU 4579 1261 WKIDE 1 400 WIT- 260ADIE 178	701
Emaa Knh HMW1 EtpA		255 B C - VII VIAA VIAA B FE VIA - A VIAA D VIAA VIAA VIAA VIAA VIAA VIAA
EmaA Knh HMW1 EtpA	299 Bindig - SADSING - OT AND - T-AND	859BERTANDE ENDE - BERTANNE GERMANNE FOR AND
EmaA Knh HMW1	347 Port Andrew Marker 2000 Provide Concentration Concentr	900 RETRIENDED VOLGEN DE RETRIENDE DE LE COMPANY DE LE 851 RETRIE DE LE COMPANY DE 755 ASSESSET EN LE COMPANY DE LE COMPANY
EtpA EmaA Knh HMW1	405 71 YUDVENGVISIANVCKERKIINLAACHUDDANVU 359 418 GATGOLBINUDIV	
EtpA EmaA Knh HMW1	22 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	816 8-6 200 10-000 10-0000 10-0000 10-000 10-00000000
EtpA EmaA Knh	483 PHOTAPTING CALENDARY IN THE ANALYSIA CALENDARY IN CONTRACT, AND	870 GALLER THE FEB AD UNT THE SAME AND THE S
HMW1 EtpA EmaA 1 Knh 1	906NFX	1355 5 -19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-19-
HMW1 EtpA EmaA 1 Knh 1	937 PERCINSK - NOVE - THE STOLE SCIENTS STOLENDS 223 - OF STOLE SCIENTS STOLENDS STOLENDS 164 - OF STOLE SCIENTS STOLENDS 165 STOLENDS STOLE STOLENDS	1369
HMW1 EtpA EmaA 1 Knh 1	១១។ ជាចិត្តជាតិប្រើស្ថានជាអនីវ ដ៏ទៅ។ និង ដែលថ្មី និង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្មែង ស្ម ១៩០ ឆ្នាំស្មាន ស្មែងស្មែង ស្មែងស្មែង ស្មែង សម្តែង សម្តែង ស្មែង សម្តែង ស្មែងស្មែង សម្តែង ស្មែងស្មាន សម្តែង ស្មែង 244 និងសម្តេងសម្តែងសម្តែងសម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែងសម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្តែង សម្	1364
HMW1 1 EtpA EmaA 1 Knh 1	023 2000 000 - EESKER 2000 DLongs Prix-P2 200 200000 P1	1415 GUL
HMW1 1 EtpA 1 EmaA 1 Knh 1	070 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1427 1400 1882 WYNNIN WYN RYCG ROCYTYNRK: CO-LABRIGANPKO TOYOT (WAR WORLD 1547 SELWAR AM 1995 DON TARKE GYNY O MAGAT RAFG - ME
HMW1 1 EtpA 1 EmaA 1 Knb 1	099 Mart 6	1427 1400 1400 The State of the
HMW1 1 EtpA 1 EmaA 1	117 A. TUTANI (1994) - SIGN (1997) - TUTANI (1997) 004 75 - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI 195 12 - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI 195 12 - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI (1997) - TUTANI (1997)	1452 510
HMW1 1 EtpA 1 EmaA 1		1479 XL20 AVRFIEINTITUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTUTU
Knh 1 HMW1 1 EtpA 1 EmaA 1	359 22 50 21 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	1719 2000 POA
Knh 1 HMW1 1 EtpA 1		1760 : 國:4-26:國:26:18國:800 - 28-
HMW1 1 EtpA 1		
EmaA 1 Knb 1	610 UKDELSKERIEYEENNPRESKTPEQVATLNDGMEFVERDEKEVTRKIERUESIE 421	

В

4.3.3. The HMW1 extended signal peptide is not required for HMW1C-mediated glycosylation.

Many TpsA proteins, including HMW1, are first translated with extended, atypical signal peptides to aid in secretion through the Sec-dependent pathway. The HMW1 signal peptide is 68 amino acids long, compared to the average length of approximately 25 amino acids seen across secreted proteins in gram-negative bacteria. Extended signal peptides, seen frequently in autotransporter proteins, have been shown to slow down export and delay signal peptide cleavage, presumably to prevent non-productive folding of the passenger domain in the periplasm (Guérin et al., 2017b; Szabady et al., 2005). We therefore sought to determine whether the extended signal peptide of HMW1 contributes to recognition and modification by HMW1C. To this end, we generated a variant of HMW1 in which the atypical signal peptide has been replaced with a shorter 25aa-signal peptide from the NTHi adhesin Hap. NTHi expressing this variant of HMW1, HMW1_{HapSS}, produced wild-type levels of mature HMW1 (Figure 4.3A), and were able to mediate full levels of adherence to Chang epithelial cells (Figure 4.3B).





4.3.4. The HMW1 propiece is not required for glycosylation by HMW1C.

When nascent HMW1 is produced in the cytoplasm, it is a preproprotein with two targeting regions: the signal peptide, corresponding to amino acids 1-68, and the propiece, corresponding to residues 69-441 (Yeo et al., 2007b). The signal peptide directs the adhesin into the periplasm, and the propiece contains the TpsA secretion domain and is responsible for facilitating interactions with the HMW1B outer membrane pore during secretion (Grass et al., 2015). The propiece could play an additional role in serving as a docking site for HMW1C in the cytoplasm. To investigate this possibility, we examined whether the propiece (PP) is required in the NTHi cytoplasm in order for HMW1C-mediated glycosylation to occur. Deletion of the propiece (HMW1_ ΔPP) resulted

in production of mature HMW1, with no difference in size compared to wild-type protein in whole cell sonicates, suggesting this variant is glycosylated comparably to wild type HMW1 (Figure 4.4). Moreover, inactivation of *hmw1C* in a strain producing HMW1_{ΔPP} caused a reduction in protein size, indicating a loss of glycosylation. This result suggests that in the presence of HMW1C, HMW1_{ΔPP} contains sufficient sequence for recognition by HMW1C and modification. Therefore, the propiece is not required for modification of HMW1 by HMW1C.



Figure 4. 4. The HMW1 propiece is not required for glycosylation. Glycosylation of HMW1 was evaluated by comparing HMW1 size in Rd/HMW1 variants with or without HMW1C expression. Western blot of whole cell sonicates is shown using guinea pig serum generated against mature HMW1. Strains shown express wild type HMW1 (Rd/HMW1), HMW1 with a signal peptide deletion (Δ 2-68), a propiece deletion (Δ PP), a combination signal peptide-propiece deletion (Δ 2-441), and corresponding HMW1C knockouts of these strains. Representative image shown.

4.3.5. HMW1C levels influence target protein specificity.

To determine whether the relative amounts of HMW1 or HMW1C influence target

specificity, we generated a variant of Rd/HMW1 in which HMW1C is overexpressed on a

plasmid (pACYC hmw1C), thereby significantly increasing the amount of cytoplasmic

HMW1C while keeping the hmw1a copy number constant. Overexpression of HMW1C

was confirmed through Western blot (Figure 4.5A). LC-MS/MS analysis of whole cell sonicates was used to evaluate the presence of single and di-hexose residues across all proteins. Based on the total number of identified hexose spectra, more modified peptides were identified in the strain overexpressing HMW1C compared to the wild type Rd/HMW1 (Figure 4.5B). This suggests that when more HMW1C is available, more hexose residues are placed onto proteins in NTHi. To evaluate whether these additional modifications were restricted to HMW1, peptides of HMW1 were excluded. This resulted in a loss of most spectra identified in Rd/HMW1, but many were still identified in the HMW1C overexpressing strain. The differences between the two strains after HMW1 exclusion indicates that modified peptides belong to proteins other than HMW1. A selection of proteins identified to contain novel hexose residues in the HMW1C overexpressing strain are listed in Table 4.2. All proteins were modified at the expected NXST sequon. Modified proteins include outer membrane proteins as well as cytoplasmic proteins. These findings indicate that when the available amount of HMW1C is increased in the NTHi cytoplasm, off-target proteins gain hexose or di-hexose modification, representing a loss of stringency in target specificity.



В





(Å) Western blot evaluating relative HMW1C expression levels. Whole cell sonicates of NTHi strains expressing various levels of HMW1C. Strain 12 expresses the wild type *hmw1abc* locus and wild type levels of HMW1C. Rd/HMW1 expresses the *hmw1abc* locus from strain 12 and similar HMW1C levels. Rd/HMW1 $\Delta hmw1C$ expresses no HMW1C. Rd/HMW1 $\Delta hmw1C$ +pHMW1C expresses HMW1C on a plasmid, resulting in overexpression. Black arrow indicates HMW1C. (B) Number of unique spectra modified with a single or dihexose as identified by mass spectrometry in Rd/HMW1 and Rd/HMW1 $\Delta hmw1C$ +pHMW1C. Data were normalized to the total number of identified proteins in each strain.

Protein	Gene
Outer Membrane	
HMW1	hmw1a
Heme Binding Protein HxuA	hxuA
Immunoglobulin A1 protease transporter	igaA
Outer membrane translocation module TamB	tamB
Outer membrane protein P2	omp2
Adhesion and penetration protein Hap	hap
Cytoplasmic	
tRNA modification enzyme MnmG	mnmG
Galactose import ATP-binding protein MgIA	mglA
UvrABC nucleotide excision protein A	uvrA
Chromosomal replication intiator protein DnaA	dnaA
Tyrosine-tRNA ligase	tyrS
Formate acetyltransferase 1	pflB
N-acetylglucosamine-6-phosphate deacetylase	nagA
Cell division protein FtsP	ftsP

Table 4. 2. Hexose-modified proteins in Rd/HMW1∆hmw1C +pHMW1C

4.3.6. HMW1C levels influence NXST site selection.

In addition to influencing the specificity of target protein selection, we found that overexpression of HMW1C in the NTHi cytoplasm altered selection of specific NXST sites in HMW1. Under wild type conditions, only a subset of all available sequons are modified on HMW1. Compared to HMW1 produced by the wild type locus, HMW1 modified by an excess of HMW1C was glycosylated at a greater number of sequons across the length of the mature protein (Figure 6). This indicates that HMW1C levels in the NTHi cytoplasm influences the extent of modification on HMW1.

Position	Sequon	Rd/HMW1	pHMW1C
120	NNSA	N/C	N/C
183	NFTF	N/C	N/C
380	NVSG	N/C	N/C
444	NVSI	х	-
456	NTSE	-	-
484	NTTL	х	х
498	NITA	х	х
508	NSSI	-	х
512	NLSN	х	N/C
515	NGSL	-	N/C
546	NLTI	х	х
560	NISL	х	N/C
570	NITA	х	N/C
605	NVSL	N/C	х
609	NGTG	N/C	х
636	NISG	х	х
642	NISM	х	х
650	NESG	-	-
664	NLTS	-	х
669	NVSE	-	х
677	NLTI	-	N/C
740	NISV	-	x
773	NVST	х	х
801	NATG	х	N/C
806	NITL	х	x
828	NITE	х	х
835	NITF	х	х
850	NVTI	-	N/C
858	NVTL	-	x
885	NLTA	-	х
898	NLTV	-	х
912	NFTF	х	N/C
928	NISI	х	N/C
946	NLSI	х	x
952	NSSS	N/C	х
964	NITN	N/C	х
973	NITN	N/C	х
995	NLTI	x	х
1004	NITK	x	N/C
1029	NLTI	х	x
1044	NISG	x	N/C
1107	NNTE	-	-
1125	NVTV	-	x
1131	NITS	x	x
1156	NATT	x	x
1195	NISG	-	x
1266	NVTS	-	N/C
1284	NVTA	-	N/C
1301	NATE	_	N/C
1332	NLSA		X X
1348	NVTL	x	x
1352	NTTG	N/C	N/C
1366	NATS	N/C	N/C
1388	NHTV	× ×	N/C
1393	NATN	N/C	X
1398	NGSG	N/C	X
1412	NITG	-	-
1491	NNTI	-	х

Figure 4. 6. HMW1C levels alter NXST site selection on HMW1. All possible NXST sequons are listed by Asn amino acid position and sequon description. Glycosylated asparagine residues are indicated with "X" and residues which were not glycosylated are indicated as "-". N/C indicates no coverage, as the peptide containing this residue was not identified in the mass spectrometry run. Data based on 1 experiment.

4.4. Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate a critical role for the relative amounts of HMW1 and HMW1C in driving target specificity in NTHi. When cytoplasmic amounts of HMW1C were increased through increased copy number of the *hmw1c* gene, we observed increased numbers of glycan modified sites on off-target proteins. This suggests that the ratio of HMW1C:HMW1 in NTHi is controlled to allow for sufficient HMW1 modification while limiting unwanted off-target glycosylation. While we artificially increased HMW1C could change naturally in NTHi. Notably, both HMW1 and HMW1C contain variable repeat numbers in their promoter regions. In HMW1, the copy number of a 7-bp has been directly shown to influence amounts of HMW1 (Suzanne Dawid et al., 1999; Elango & Schulz, 2020). It is therefore possible that stochastic changes in HMW1 production are met with changes in HMW1C in order to maintain the stoichiometric relationship.

In addition to influencing target protein specificity in the NTHi cytoplasm, we found that overproduction of HMW1C impacts NSXT site selection on HMW1. Compared to HMW1 modified by a single chromosomal copy of *hmw1c*, HMW1 modified by excess HMW1C was modified at more sites. This result is consistent with work evaluating site selection of HMW1C *ex vivo*, which has shown that as more HMW1C is available, HMW1 site occupation and glycosylation efficiency increases (Elango & Schulz, 2020). The pattern of HMW1 modification, resulting from NXST site selection, can greatly influence the structure of the mature protein. For example, when HMW1 is modified by EtpC expressed in *E. coli*, the differentially modified protein shows a significantly altered

structure. Based on circular dichroism analysis, HMW1C-modified HMW1 adopts a structure that is 1.86% α -helix and 49.03% β -sheet, while EtpC-modified HMW1 is 52.46% α -helix and 9.17% β -sheet. Consequently, purified EtpC-modified HMW1 has a reduced ability to block HMW1-mediated adherence to Chang cells compared to HMW1C-modified protein (Rempe and St. Geme III, unpublished data). Further, data presented in Chapter 3 of this work suggest that the pattern of HMW1 glycosylation can influence HMW1 immunogenicity and NTHi interactions with the host immune system. Collectively, these observations highlight the importance of both the presence and nature of HMW1 glycosylation and emphasize the need to understand the interaction between HMW1 and HMW1C.

We were unable to define a clear motif or region that influences specificity of HMW1C for HMW1 in the NTHi cytoplasm. Replacing the signal peptide with a shorter variant did not appear to influence glycosylation of mature HMW1. From this finding, we can conclude that there is no signaling sequence of motif included in the extended signal peptide. Further, it suggests that any additional time that preproHMW1 is retained in the cytoplasm by the extended signal peptide is not critical for facilitating HMW1C-mediated glycosylation. Similarly, the propiece of HMW1 was not critical for glycosylation, suggesting that the propiece may solely serve to facilitate targeting to HMW1B in the periplasm.

Sequence comparisons of similar targets of HMW1C-like proteins did not reveal any significant regions of homology that could be indicative of a motif. The specificity of these glycosyltransferases for their native targets is therefore unlikely to be determined by a specific sequence of amino acids. However, this does not rule out the possibility that HMW1 carries a targeting region for HMW1C in the mature adhesin. Many proteins

109

find their substrates using structural motifs, raising the additional possibility that HMW1C and related proteins may recognize their targets based on structural fit. For example, among proteins containing the TPR repeat, including traditional members of the GT41 O-GlcNAc glycosyltransferases, the repetitive folds can form an amphipathic channel that accommodates the complementary region of a target protein, conferring specificity (Blatch & Lässle, 1999; Odunuga et al., 2003). Rather than a clear sequence directing specificity, complementary structural components of HMW1C or HMW1 could contribute to target specificity. Thus, there is a need for greater structural analyses of the HWM1C family and their specific target proteins.

HMW1C-like glycosyltransferases have been found across many bacteria, including the *Pastuereallaceae*, *Enterobacteriaceae*, *Neisseriaceae*, and *Burkholderiaceae* families (McCann & St. Geme, 2014a). In many cases, the glycosyltransferase is found in the same locus as a predicted TPS system. Examples include EtpC in ETEC, which modifies the adhesin EtpA, and RscC in *Yersinia enterocolitica*, which modifies the RscA adhesin (McCann & St. Geme, 2014a; Nelson et al., 2001). Glycosylation of EtpA by EtpC appears to influence adhesive interactions with host cells, as nonglycosylated EtpA is less adherent to Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells but hyperadherent to HCT-8 intestinal cells when compared to glycosylated EtpA (Fleckenstein et al., 2006). Much like HMW1C, these glycosyltransferases are predicted to solely modify a target protein in the adjacent TPS locus, and it is unclear how these enzymes achieve target specificity. The insights that we have derived into the mechanisms that guide HMW1C to its target protein can therefore inform glycosylation and consequently adhesin function mechanisms across many species.

5. CONCLUSIONS & FUTURE DIRECTIONS

5.1. Conclusions

Throughout this work, we have highlighted the capacity of the HMW1 and HMW2 proteins to serve as potent vaccine antigens against nontypeable Haemophlius influenzae (NTHi). In Chapters 2 and 3, we demonstrate that in a mouse model of nasopharyngeal colonization, immunization with these adhesins is immunostimulatory and protective against heterologous strains. Further, we presented evidence that intranasal immunization may be a preferable route of immunization. Through our investigation into the immunogenicity of HMW1 and HMW2, we observed important immunological differences between HMW1 and HMW2 within and across strains, which are likely related to HMWC-mediated glycosylation of these adhesins. Subsequently in Chapter 4 we revealed insights into the mechanism of HMW1C function and specificity. These findings have important implications for developing HMW1 and HMW2 as NTHi vaccine antigens and more broadly understanding how NTHi interacts with the host immune system. The future directions outlined in this chapter expand on our work studying HMW1 and HMW2 as vaccine components, in both the mouse model and a rhesus macaque model. Additionally, this chapter describes further work exploring the mechanism of HMW1C-mediated glycosylation.

5.2. Combination antigen vaccines for protection against NTHi nasopharyngeal colonization

In Chapter 2 of this work, we characterized the ability of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins to stimulate protective immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization by

heterologous HMW-expressing strains of NTHi. The *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci are found in approximately 80% of NTHi isolates (Rodriguez et al., 2003). While this suggests that immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 would provide significant coverage against a majority of strains, our findings suggest that there is no protection against strains that do not express these adhesins, including strain NT127. In the approximately 20% of isolates that do not carry the *hmw1* and *hmw2* loci, the primary adhesin is Hia. In order to close the gap in protection and achieve more complete immunity, we could attempt to immunize animals with both the HMW adhesins and Hia. Evidence in animals suggest that Hia is immunogenic. In chinchillas, immunization with recombinant Hia stimulates Hia-specific IgG that enhanced opsonophagocytosis of heterologous Hia-expressing strains; however, the opsonophagocytic titer for the homologous strain was significantly higher than the titer for heterologous strains, suggesting some degree of strainspecificity in the antibody response (Winter & Barenkamp, 2009, 2014). Like HMW1 and HMW2, it's possible that immunization with Hia stimulates Th17-driven immunity and could therefore be capable of mediating protection against many Hia-expressing strains.

In our mouse model of intranasal immunization and colonization, the protection afforded by immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 resulted in several log reductions in nasopharyngeal colonization density. However, we were unable to completely prevent colonization, as bacteria were still detected in immunized animals. Thus, immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 alone may be insufficient for complete protective immunity, even against HMW-expressing strains. To achieve even greater protective immunity, we could include the adhesin Hap in our immunizations. Hap is expressed by all clinical NTHi isolates, and previous work in our lab has demonstrated that immunization with Hap can mediate protection against nasopharyngeal colonization. Notably, in these studies, immunization with purified Hap alone also resulted in incomplete protective immunity

112

(Cutter et al., 2002). The combination of HMW1, HMW2, Hap, and Hia in a vaccine could result in immunity that is protective against most strains of NTHi and is capable of completely preventing nasopharyngeal colonization.

5.3. Maternally derived immunity against nasopharyngeal colonization

Our experiments demonstrate that immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 is protective in adult mice. However, in humans, nasopharyngeal colonization with NTHi typically occurs in very early infancy, at a rate of about 20% within the first year. The colonization rate gradually increases with age, and nearly half of all children are colonized before the age of 2 years (Howard et al., 1988; Spinola et al., 1986). The inflammatory response to early life colonization with NTHi results in significant immune system reprogramming and predisposes to airways disease (Bisgaard et al., 2007). Children who are colonized with NTHi within the first 4 weeks of life are 2-4 times more likely to develop asthma or to be hospitalized for wheezing by age 5 years than children without detectable NTHi (Bisgaard et al., 2007). Similarly, studies in our lab have found that in neonatal mice, colonization on day 3 of life results in increased susceptibility to neutrophilic asthma, suggesting that prevention of early life colonization would be protective against asthma (McCann et al., 2016). However, vaccination of neonates and infants is often problematic due to the immaturity of the immune system. Rather than immunizing at a young age, protection can be provided by passively acquired antibodies from the mother. Studies suggest that breastfed children exhibit lower colonization densities and a lower incidence of acute otitis media, suggesting a role for maternally derived antibody (Duffy et al., 1997; Hokama et al., 1999). In order to understand the potential for HMW1 and HMW2 to be used as neonatal vaccine antigens, it is important

113

to clarify whether they can be used to mediate early life protection through maternal immunization.

Mothers can pass vaccine-induced immunity onto offspring through two mechanisms: prenatally, with transplacental passage of antibodies to the fetal systemic circulation, or postnatally, with transfer of antibodies through breastmilk (Niewiesk, 2014). Antibodies transferred through milk, including IgG, mediate protection against pathogens at mucosal surfaces by interfering with bacterial adherence and neutralizing virulence factors (Renegar & Small, 1994). In Chapter 2, we demonstrated that in mice, passive receipt of serum antibodies by intravenous injection is capable of mediating strain-specific protection against nasopharyngeal colonization. This result suggests that passively delivered antibodies are capable of conferring at least some degree of protection. Moreover, we show that IgG antibodies against HMW1 and HMW2 can restrict NTHi adherence to human epithelial cell monolayers. Thus, it is likely that maternally-delivered antibodies could mediate protection of neonates in vivo. Based on our work characterizing the antibody response to HMW1 and HMW2, we could expect any protection offered by maternal antibodies to be highly strain specific. In such a case, the need for a multi-component NTHi vaccine would become greater, in order to maximize the breadth of the antibody response.

5.4. Protection against nasopharyngeal colonization in rhesus macaques

Previous work in our lab has shown that HMW1 and HMW2 enhance stable respiratory tract colonization in rhesus macaques. NTHi expressing HMW1 and HMW2 were able to outcompete an *hmw1hmw2* mutant strain in both density and duration of colonization in the nasopharynx and oropharynx (Rempe et al., 2016). Moreover,

macaques colonized with NTHi developed HMW1 and HMW2-specific antibodies in convalescent serum. However, it is not known whether preexisting immunity could impact colonization density or clearance of colonization. We could therefore immunize rhesus macaques with purified HMW1 and HMW2, challenge with NTHi, and evaluate bacterial density in the nasopharynx. We could also evaluate whether Th17-based heterologous protection is also observed in rhesus macaques. Thus far, only derivatives of strain 12 have been evaluated in the macaque model. Performing protection experiments in macaques would highlight the protective capacity of HMW1 and HMW2 in a model more reflective of humans.

5.5. Regions of HMW1 and HMW2 required for immunogenicity

We have successfully demonstrated that immunization with mature HMW1 or HMW2 from different strains can stimulate a protective immune response; moreover, our findings in Chapter 3 suggest that the pattern of HMWC-mediated glycosylation across the protein may influence the immunogenicity of the adhesin. However, we have yet to completely delineate the regions of HMW1 and HMW2 that are required in order to stimulate immunity. Based on the structure of the HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins, there are several key regions of interest. One is the binding domain, which is the region of greatest dissimilarity between HMW1 and HMW2 (S. Dawid et al., 2001). This ~360aa region is localized near the N-terminus of the mature adhesins and determines the host receptor specificity of each adhesin. In our studies, immunization with HMW1 and HMW2 produced antibody capable of blocking the receptor-adhesin interaction, suggesting that some of the antibodies produced were specific for the binding domain. Though HMW1₁₂ and HMW2₁₂ are about 70% identical across the full adhesin, homology in the binding domains drops to approximately 40%. Immunogenicity of the binding domains could therefore contribute to the differences in antibody response produced by HMW1₁₂ versus HMW2₁₂ that we observed in Chapter 3.

A second region of interest is the C-terminal domain of the mature adhesin. Previous work screening monoclonal antibodies for HMW1 and HMW2 binding has identified two surface exposed epitopes, including one that mapped to the C-terminal 75 amino acids of both adhesins, and an adjacent epitope that mapped to a 155-amino acid C-terminal segment of HMW1 (Stephen J. Barenkamp & St. Geme, 1996a). This suggests that despite the relatively high conservation of the C-terminal regions of HMW1 and HMW2, there are smaller regions that are immunologically distinct between the two adhesins. Regions such as this may be responsible for the differences in antibody binding to HMW1 and HMW2 following immunization. This could be further investigated by immunizing mice with recombinant peptides of HMW1 and HMW2 and evaluating the antibody response.

Identifying the regions of HMW1 and HMW2 that directly shape the immune response and understanding how glycosylation shapes the immunogenicity of these regions will be critical in developing these adhesins as vaccine antigens.

5.6. Region of HMW1 required for specific interactions with HMW1C

In our work studying the specificity of HMW1C for HMW1, we examined whether certain regions of immature HMW1 were responsible for targeting HMW1C. We found that neither the extended signal peptide nor the propiece were required for glycosylation by HMW1C. If there is a targeting motif on HMW1, then it is likely located in the mature

adhesin. In order to determine whether a region of mature HMW1 is required for glycosylation, we can evaluate glycosylation of HMW1 fragments. Specifically, we can create strains of NTHi expressing tagged fragments of HMW1, purify these fragments, and then evaluate glycosylation using mass spectrometry. In doing so, we can identify a region or motif that may be required for glycosylation that has not yet been identified.

Alternatively, we may find that there is no specific motif required for HMW1Cmediated glycosylation. Based on our findings, the stoichiometric ratio between HMW1 and HMW1C has an impact on the enzyme-target specificity, as HMW1C overexpression results in modifications of off-target proteins in NTHi. This suggests that under wild type conditions, the relative amounts of HMW1 and HMW1C are finely-tuned, and that there is sufficient HMW1 to limit modification of other proteins. We can further explore the relationship between HMW1:HMW1C levels and modification specificity by controlling the relative amounts of each protein in NTHi. This can be done by controlling expression of *hmw1a* and *hmw1c* using inducible plasmids and subsequently evaluating off-target glycosylation.

Developing an understanding the nature of the relationship between HMW1 and HMW1C, especially in the absence of a targeting motif, will improve our understanding of the HMW1C family of cytoplasmic N-glycosyltransferases. Moreover, in light of our work demonstrating the importance of HMW1C-mediated glycosylation in shaping the immunogenicity of HMW1, defining the relationship between HMW1 and HMW1C will undoubtedly be an important consideration in vaccine design.

REFERENCES

- Ahrén, I. L., Williams, D. L., Rice, P. J., Forsgren, A., & Riesbeck, K. (2001). The Importance of a β-Glucan Receptor in the Nonopsonic Entry of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae into Human Monocytic and Epithelial Cells . *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *184*(2), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.1086/322016
- Akkoyunlu, M., & Forsgren, A. (1996). Local and systemic antibody levels against protein D of *Haemophilus influenzae* following immunization and infection in rats. *APMIS*, 104(7–8), 709–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1699-0463.1996.tb04933.x
- Alm, R. A., Guerry, P., Power, M. E., & Trust, T. J. (1992). Variation in antigenicity and molecular weight of Campylobacter coli VC167 flagellin in different genetic backgrounds. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *174*(13), 4230–4238. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.174.13.4230-4238.1992
- Archer, N. K., Adappa, N. D., Palmer, J. N., Cohen, N. A., Harro, J. M., Lee, S. K., Miller, L. S., & Shirtliff, M. E. (2016). Interleukin-17A (IL-17A) and IL-17F are critical for antimicrobial peptide production and clearance of Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization. *Infection and Immunity*, *84*(12), 3575–3583. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00596-16
- Archer, N. K., Harro, J. M., & Shirtliff, M. E. (2013). Clearance of Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage is T cell dependent and mediated through interleukin-17A expression and neutrophil influx. *Infection and Immunity*, *81*(6), 2070–2075. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00084-13
- Atack, J. M., Day, C. J., Poole, J., Brockman, K. L., Bakaletz, L. O., Barenkamp, S. J., & Jennings, M. P. (2018). The HMW2 adhesin of non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae is a human-adapted lectin that mediates high-affinity binding to 2–6 linked N-acetylneuraminic acid glycans. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 503(2), 1103–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.06.126
- Atack, J. M., Winter, L. E., Jurcisek, J. A., Bakaletz, L. O., Barenkamp, S. J., & Jennings, M. P. (2015). Selection and Counterselection of Hia Expression Reveals a Key Role for Phase-Variable Expression of Hia in Infection Caused by Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Hia Phase-Variable Expression in NTHi •. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* ®, *212*, 645–653. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv103
- Atto, B., Latham, R., Kunde, D., Gell, D. A., & Tristram, S. (2020). In vitro anti-NTHi activity of haemophilin-producing strains of Haemophilus haemolyticus. *Pathogens*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9040243
- Avadhanula, V., Rodriguez, C. A., DeVincenzo, J. P., Wang, Y., Webby, R. J., Ulett, G. C., & Adderson, E. E. (2006). Respiratory Viruses Augment the Adhesion of Bacterial Pathogens to Respiratory Epithelium in a Viral Species- and Cell Type-Dependent Manner. *Journal of Virology*, *80*(4), 1629–1636. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.80.4.1629-1636.2006

Baddal, B., Muzzi, A., Censini, S., Calogero, R. A., Torricelli, G., Guidotti, S., Taddei, A.

R., Covacci, A., Pizza, M., Rappuoli, R., Soriani, M., & Pezzicoli, A. (2015). Dual RNA-seq of nontypeable haemophilus influenzae and host cell transcriptomes reveals novel insights into host-pathogen cross talk. *MBio*, *6*(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01765-15

- Bair, K. L., & Campagnari, A. A. (2020). Moraxella catarrhalis Promotes Stable Polymicrobial Biofilms With the Major Otopathogens. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.03006
- Bakaletz, L. O. (2010). Immunopathogenesis of polymicrobial otitis media. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 87(2), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0709518
- Bakaletz, L. O., Baker, B. D., Jurcisek, J. A., Harrison, A., Novotny, L. A., Bookwalter, J. E., Mungur, R., & Munson, R. S. (2005). Demonstration of type IV pilus expression and a twitching phenotype by Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(3), 1635–1643. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.3.1635-1643.2005
- Bandi, V., Apicella, M. A., Mason, E., Murphy, T. F., Siddiqi, A., Atmar, R. L., & Greenberg, S. B. (2001). Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in the lower respiratory tract of patients with chronic bronchitis. *American Journal of Respiratory* and Critical Care Medicine, 164(11), 2114–2119. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.164.11.2104093
- Barenkamp, S J. (1996). Immunization with high-molecular-weight adhesion proteins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae modifies experimental otitis media in chinchillas. *Infection and Immunity*, 64(4), 1246–1251. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8606086
- Barenkamp, S J, & Leininger, E. (1992). Cloning, expression, and DNA sequence analysis of genes encoding nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae high-molecularweight surface-exposed proteins related to filamentous hemagglutinin of Bordetella pertussis. *Infection and Immunity*, 60(4), 1302–1313. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1548058
- Barenkamp, S J, Munson, R. S., Jr, & Granoff, D. M. (1982). Outer membrane protein and biotype analysis of pathogenic nontypable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 36(2), 535.
- Barenkamp, Stephen J., & Bodor, F. F. (1990). Development of serum bactericidal activity following nontypable haemophilus influenzae acute otitis media. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 9(5), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006454-199005000-00006
- Barenkamp, Stephen J., & St. Geme, J. W. (1996a). Identification of surface-exposed Bcell epitopes on high-molecular- weight adhesion proteins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 64(8), 3032–3037. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.64.8.3032-3037.1996
- Barenkamp, Stephen J., & St. Geme, J. W. (1996b). Identification of a second family of high-molecular-weight adhesion proteins expressed by non-typable Haemophilus influenzae. *Molecular Microbiology*, 19(6), 1215–1223.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1996.tb02467.x

- Behrouzi, A., Bouzari, S., Siadat, S. D., Oloomi, M., Davari, M., & Mazaheri, H. (2016). Evaluation of the immunogenic property of NT H. Influenzae protein D with neisseria meningitidis OMV in BALB/c. *Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*, 10(12), 1345–1351. https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.7513
- Bender, J. M., Cox, C. M., Mottice, S., She, R. C., Korgenski, K., Daly, J. A., & Pavia, A. T. (2010). Invasive Haemophilus influenzae Disease in Utah Children: An 11-Year Population-Based Study in the Era of Conjugate Vaccine . *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *50*(7), e41–e46. https://doi.org/10.1086/651165
- Bernstein, J. M., Bronson, P. M., & Wilson, M. E. (1997). Immunoglobulin G subclass response to major outer membrane proteins of nontypable Haemophilus influenzae in children with acute otitis media. *Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*, 116(3), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0194-5998(97)70275-4
- Bernstein, J. M., Faden, H. S., Loos, B. G., Murphy, T. F., & Ogra, P. L. (1992). Recurrent otitis media with non-typable Haemophilus influenzae: the role of serum bactericidal antibody. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 23(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-5876(92)90074-Y
- Biesbroek, G., Tsivtsivadze, E., Sanders, E. A. M., Montijn, R., Veenhoven, R. H., Keijser, B. J. F., & Bogaert, D. (2014). Early respiratory microbiota composition determines bacterial succession patterns and respiratory health in children. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *190*(11), 1283–1292. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201407-1240OC
- Bisgaard, H., Hermansen, M. N., Buchvald, F., Loland, L., Halkjaer, L. B., Bønnelykke, K., Brasholt, M., Heltberg, A., Vissing, N. H., Thorsen, S. V., Stage, M., & Pipper, C. B. (2007). Childhood asthma after bacterial colonization of the airway in neonates. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(15), 1487–1495. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa052632
- Blatch, G. L., & Lässle, M. (1999). The tetratricopeptide repeat: A structural motif mediating protein-protein interactions. In *BioEssays* (Vol. 21, Issue 11, pp. 932– 939). John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-1878(199911)21:11<932::AID-BIES5>3.0.CO;2-N
- Block, S. L. (1997). Causative pathogens, antibiotic resistance and therapeutic considerations in acute otitis media. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, *16*(4), 449–456. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006454-199704000-00029
- Bookwalter, J. E., Jurcisek, J. A., Gray-Owen, S. D., Fernandez, S., McGillivary, G., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2008). A carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1 homologue plays a pivotal role in nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae colonization of the chinchilla nasopharynx via the outer membrane protein P5homologous adhesin. *Infection and Immunity*, *76*(1), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00980-07

Boukamp, P., Petrussevska, R. T., Breitkreutz, D., Hornung, J., Markham, A., & Fusenig,

N. E. (1988). Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *106*(3), 761–771. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.106.3.761

- Bronson, P. M., Wilson, M. E., York, N., Bernstein, J. M., & Forest Rd, S. (1997). Immunoglobulin G outer membrane proteins Haemophilus influenzae in otitis media subclass response to major of nontypable children with acute. In Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg (Vol. 116).
- Buscher, A. Z., Burmeister, K., Barenkamp, S. J., & St. Geme, J. W. (2004). Evolutionary and functional relationships among the nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae HMW family of adhesins? *Journal of Bacteriology*, *186*(13), 4209–4217. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.13.4209-4217.2004
- Buscher, A. Z., Grass, S., Heuser, J., Roth, R., & St. Geme, J. W. (2006). Surface anchoring of a bacterial adhesin secreted by the two-partner secretion pathway. *Molecular Microbiology*, *61*(2), 470–483. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05236.x
- Cao, A. T., Yao, S., Gong, B., Elson, C. O., & Cong, Y. (2012). Th17 Cells Upregulate Polymeric Ig Receptor and Intestinal IgA and Contribute to Intestinal Homeostasis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 189(9), 4666–4673. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1200955
- Cardines, R., Giufrè, M., Mastrantonio, P., Degli Atti, M. L. C., & Cerquetti, M. (2007). Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae meningitis in children: Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of isolates. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 26(7), 577–582. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e3180616715
- Carson, J. L., Collier, A. M., & hu, S. C. S. (1985). Acquired Ciliary Defects in Nasal Epithelium of Children with Acute Viral Upper Respiratory Infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *312*(8), 463–468. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198502213120802
- Cerutti, A., Chen, K., Chorny, A., & Es, A. (n.d.). *Immunoglobulin Responses at the Mucosal Interface*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101317
- Chen, J., Deng, Y., Zhao, J., Luo, Z., Peng, W., Yang, J., Ren, L., Wang, L., Fu, Z., Yang, X., & Liu, E. (2010). The polymorphism of IL-17 G-152A was associated with childhood asthma and bacterial colonization of the hypopharynx in bronchiolitis. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, *30*(4), 539–545. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-010-9391-8
- Chen, K., McAleer, J. P., Lin, Y., Paterson, D. L., Zheng, M., Alcorn, J. F., Weaver, C. T., & Kolls, J. K. (2011). Th17 Cells Mediate Clade-Specific, Serotype-Independent Mucosal Immunity. *Immunity*, 35(6), 997–1009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.10.018
- Chochua, S., D'Acremont, V., Hanke, C., Alfa, D., Shak, J., Kilowoko, M., Kyungu, E., Kaiser, L., Genton, B., Klugman, K. P., & Vidal, J. E. (2016). Increased Nasopharyngeal Density and Concurrent Carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae,

Haemophilus influenzae, and Moraxella catarrhalis Are Associated with Pneumonia in Febrile Children. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(12), e0167725. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167725

- Clarke, C., Bakaletz, L. O., Ruiz-Guiñazú, J., Borys, D., & Mrkvan, T. (2017). Impact of protein D-containing pneumococcal conjugate vaccines on non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae acute otitis media and carriage. In *Expert Review of Vaccines* (Vol. 16, Issue 7, pp. 751–764). Taylor and Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2017.1333905
- Clementi, C. F., Håkansson, A. P., & Murphy, T. F. (2014). Internalization and trafficking of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in human respiratory epithelial cells and roles of IgA1 proteases for optimal invasion and persistence. *Infection and Immunity*, *82*(1), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00864-13
- Clementi, C. F., & Murphy, T. F. (2011). Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae invasion and persistence in the human respiratory tract. In *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology* (Vol. 1, p. 1). Frontiers Media SA. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2011.00001
- Clements, J. D., & Norton, E. B. (2018). The Mucosal Vaccine Adjuvant LT(R192G/L211A) or dmLT. *MSphere*, *3*(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00215-18
- Comstock, L. E., & Kasper, D. L. (2006). Bacterial Glycans: Key Mediators of Diverse Host Immune Responses. In *Cell* (Vol. 126, Issue 5, pp. 847–850). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.021
- Craig, J. E., Nobbs, A., & High, N. J. (2002). The extracytoplasmic sigma factor, σE, is required for intracellular survival of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in J774 macrophages. *Infection and Immunity*, *70*(2), 708–715. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.70.2.708-715.2002
- Cundell, D. R., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., Idanpaan-Heikkila, I., & Tuomanen, E. I. (1995). Streptococcus pneumoniae anchor to activated human cells by the receptor for platelet-activating factor. *Nature*, 377(6548), 435–438. https://doi.org/10.1038/377435a0
- Cusick, M. F., Libbey, J. E., & Fujinami, R. S. (2012). Molecular mimicry as a mechanism of autoimmune disease. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology*, *42*(1), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-011-8294-7
- Cutter, D., Mason, K. W., Howell, A. P., Fink, D. L., Green, B. A., & St. Geme III, J. W. (2002). Immunization with Haemophilus influenzae Hap Adhesin Protects against Nasopharyngeal Colonization in Experimental Mice . *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 186(8), 1115–1121. https://doi.org/10.1086/344233
- Davies, J., Carlstedt, I., Nilsson, A. K., Håkansson, A., Sabharwal, H., van Alphen, L., van Ham, M., & Svanborg, C. (1995). Binding of Haemophilus influenzae to purified mucins from the human respiratory tract. *Infection and Immunity*, 63(7), 2485–2492. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7790060

- Davis, G. S., Patel, M., Hammond, J., Zhang, L., Dawid, S., Marrs, C. F., & Gilsdorf, J. R. (2014). Prevalence, distribution, and sequence diversity of hmwA among commensal and otitis media non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 28, 223–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2014.09.035
- Dawid, S., Grass, S., & St. Geme, J. W. (2001). Mapping of binding domains of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins. *Infection and Immunity*, 69(1), 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.1.307-314.2001
- Dawid, Suzanne, Barenkamp, S. J., & St. Geme, J. W. (1999). Variation in expression of the haemophilus influenzae HMW adhesins: A prokaryotic system reminiscent of eukaryotes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 96(3), 1077–1082. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.3.1077
- De Chiara, M., Hood, D., Muzzi, A., Pickard, D. J., Perkins, T., Pizza, M., Dougan, G., Rappuoli, R., Moxon, E. R., Soriani, M., & Donati, C. (2014). Genome sequencing of disease and carriage isolates of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae identifies discrete population structure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(14), 5439–5444. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1403353111
- Denny, F. W. (1974). Effect of a toxin produced by Haemophilus influenzae on ciliated respiratory epithelium. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 129(2), 93–100. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/129.2.93
- Duffy, L. C., Faden, H., Wasielewski, R., Wolf, J., & Krystofik, D. (1997). Exclusive breastfeeding protects against bacterial colonization and day care exposure to otitis media. *Pediatrics*, 100(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.100.4.e7
- Duim, B, Bowler, L. D., Eijk, P. P., Jansen, H. M., Dankert, J., & Alphen, L. van. (1997). Molecular variation in the major outer membrane protein P5 gene of nonencapsulated Haemophilus influenzae during chronic infections. *Infection and Immunity*, 65(4), 1351.
- Duim, Birgitta, Dankert, J., Jansen, H. M., & Van Alphen, L. (1993). Genetic analysis of the diversity in outer membrane protein P2 of non-encapsulated haemophilus influenzae. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *14*(6), 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1993.1044
- Duim, Birgitta, Ruiter, P., Bowler, L. D., Dankert, J., & Van Alphen, L. (1997). Sequence variation in the hpd gene of nonencapsulated Haemophilus influenzae isolated from patients with chronic bronchitis. *Gene*, 191(1), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(97)00030-9
- Elango, D., & Schulz, B. L. (2020). Phase-Variable Glycosylation in Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Journal of Proteome Research*, *19*(1), 464–476. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.9b00657
- Erwin, A. L., & Smith, A. L. (2007). Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae: understanding virulence and commensal behavior. In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 15, Issue 8, pp. 355–362). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2007.06.004

- Essilfie, A. T., Simpson, J. L., Horvat, J. C., Preston, J. A., Dunkley, M. L., Foster, P. S., Gibson, P. G., & Hansbro, P. M. (2011). Haemophilus influenzae infection drives IL-17-mediated neutrophilic Allergic airways disease. *PLoS Pathogens*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002244
- Euba, B., Moleres, J., Viadas, C., De Los Mozos, I. R., Valle, J., Bengoechea, J. A., & Garmendia, J. (2015). Relative contribution of P5 and Hap surface proteins to nontypable Haemophilus influenzae interplay with the host upper and lower airways. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123154
- Faden, H., Brodsky, L., Bernstein, J., Stanievich, J., Krystofik, D., Shuff, C., Hong, J. J., & Ogra, P. L. (1989). Otitis media in children: Local immune response to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, *57*(11), 3555–3559. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.57.11.3555-3559.1989
- Farley, M. M., Stephens, D. S., Kaplan, S. L., & Mason, E. O. (1990). Pilus- and nonpilus-mediated interactions of Haemophilus influenzae type b with human erythrocytes and human nasopharyngeal mucosa. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 161(2), 274–280. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/161.2.274
- Fernaays, M. M., Lesse, A. J., Cai, X., & Murphy, T. F. (2006). Characterization of igaB, a second immunoglobulin A1 protease gene in nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(10), 5860–5870. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00796-06
- Fink, D. L., Green, B. A., & St. Geme, J. W. (2002). The Haemophilus influenzae Hap autotransporter binds to fibronectin, laminin, and collagen IV. *Infection and Immunity*, 70(9), 4902–4907. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.70.9.4902-4907.2002
- Finney, L. J., Ritchie, A., Pollard, E., Johnston, S. L., & Mallia, P. (2014). Lower airway colonization and inflammatory response in COPD: A focus on Haemophilus influenza. *International Journal of COPD*, *9*, 1119–1132. https://doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S54477
- Fleckenstein, J. M., Roy, K., Fischer, J. F., & Burkitt, M. (2006). Identification of a twopartner secretion locus of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(4), 2245–2258. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.74.4.2245-2258.2006
- Fleischmann, R. D., Adams, M. D., White, O., Clayton, R. A., Kirkness, E. F., Kerlavage, A. R., Bult, C. J., Tomb, J. F., Dougherty, B. A., Merrick, J. M., McKenney, K., Sutton, G., FitzHugh, W., Fields, C., Gocayne, J. D., Scott, J., Shirley, R., Liu, L. I., Glodek, A., ... Venter, J. C. (1995). Whole-genome random sequencing and assembly of Haemophilus influenzae Rd. *Science*, *269*(5223), 496–512. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7542800
- Fox, K. L., Atack, J. M., Srikhanta, Y. N., Eckert, A., Novotny, L. A., Bakaletz, L. O., & Jennings, M. P. (2014). Selection for Phase Variation of LOS Biosynthetic Genes Frequently Occurs in Progression of Non-Typeable Haemophilus influenzae Infection from the Nasopharynx to the Middle Ear of Human Patients. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2), e90505. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090505

- Fukao, T., & Koyasu, S. (2003). PI3K and negative regulation of TLR signaling. *Trends* in Immunology, 24(7), 358–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(03)00139-X
- Gallo, M. C., Kirkham, C., Eng, S., Bebawee, R. S., Kong, Y., Pettigrew, M. M., Tettelin, H., & Murphy, T. F. (2018). Changes in IgA protease expression are conferred by changes in genomes during persistent infection by nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Infection and Immunity*, 86(8). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00313-18
- Gawthorne, J. A., Tan, N. Y., Bailey, U. M., Davis, M. R., Wong, L. W., Naidu, R., Fox, K. L., Jennings, M. P., & Schulz, B. L. (2014). Selection against glycosylation sites in potential target proteins of the general HMWC N-glycosyltransferase in haemophilus influenzae. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 445(3), 633–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.02.044
- Geluk, F., Eijk, P. P., Van Ham, S. M., Jansen, H. M., & Van Alphen, L. (1998). The fimbria gene cluster of nonencapsulated Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 66(2), 406–417. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.66.2.406-417.1998
- Giufrè, M., Carattoli, A., Cardines, R., Mastrantonio, P., & Cerquetti, M. (2008). Variation in expression of HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins in invasive nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae isolates. *BMC Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-8-83
- Glover, K. J., Weerapana, E., Chen, M. M., & Imperiali, B. (2006). Direct biochemical evidence for the utilization of UDP-bacillosamine by PgIC, an essential glycosyl-1phosphate transferase in the Campylobacter jejuni N-linked glycosylation pathway. *Biochemistry*, 45(16), 5343–5350. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0602056
- Glover, K. J., Weerapana, E., & Imperiali, B. (2005). In vitro assembly of the undecaprenylpyrophosphate-linked heptasaccharide for prokaryotic N-linked glycosylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(40), 14255–14259. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507311102
- Grass, S., Buscher, A. Z., Swords, W. E., Apicella, M. A., Barenkamp, S. J., Ozchlewski, N., & St Geme, J. W. (2003a). The Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 adhesin is glycosylated in a process that requires HMW1C and phosphoglucomutase, an enzyme involved in lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis. *Molecular Microbiology*, *48*(3), 737–751. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03450.x
- Grass, S., Buscher, A. Z., Swords, W. E., Apicella, M. A., Barenkamp, S. J., Ozchlewski, N., & St Geme, J. W. (2003b). The Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 adhesin is glycosylated in a process that requires HMW1C and phosphoglucomutase, an enzyme involved in lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis. *Molecular Microbiology*, *48*(3), 737–751. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03450.x
- Grass, S., Rempe, K. A., & St. Geme, J. W. (2015). Structural determinants of the interaction between the TpsA and TpsB proteins in the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 two-partner secretion system. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *197*(10), 1769–1780. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00039-15

- Green, B. A., Metcalf, B. J., Quinn-Dey, T., Kirkley, D. H., Quataert, S. A., & Deich, R. A. (1990). A recombinant non-fatty acylated form of the Hi-PAL (P6) protein of Haemophilus influenzae elicits biologically active antibody against both nontypeable and type b H. influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 58(10), 3272–3278.
- Greiner, L. L., Watanabe, H., Phillips, N. J., Shao, J., Morgan, A., Zaleski, A., Gibson, B. W., & Apicella, M. A. (2004). Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae strain 2019 produces a biofilm containing N-acetylneuraminic acid that may mimic sialylated Olinked glycans. *Infection and Immunity*, 72(7), 4249–4260. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.72.7.4249-4260.2004
- Groeneveld, K., van Alphen, L., Voorter, C., Eijk, P. P., Jansen, H. M., & Zanen, H. C. (1989). Antigenic drift of Haemophilus influenzae in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Infection and Immunity*, *57*(10), 3038–3044. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2789192
- Gross, J., Grass, S., Davis, A. E., Gilmore-Erdmann, P., Townsend, R. R., & St. Geme, J. W. (2008). The Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 adhesin is a glycoprotein with an unusual N-linked carbohydrate modification. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(38), 26010–26015. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M801819200
- Guérin, J., Bigot, S., Schneider, R., Buchanan, S. K., & Jacob-Dubuisson, F. (2017a). Two-partner secretion: Combining efficiency and simplicity in the secretion of large proteins for bacteria-host and bacteria-bacteria interactions. In *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* (Vol. 7, Issue MAY). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00148
- Guérin, J., Bigot, S., Schneider, R., Buchanan, S. K., & Jacob-Dubuisson, F. (2017b). Two-partner secretion: Combining efficiency and simplicity in the secretion of large proteins for bacteria-host and bacteria-bacteria interactions. In *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* (Vol. 7, Issue MAY, p. 148). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00148
- Haapala, S., Niemitalo-Haapola, E., Raappana, A., Kujala, T., Suominen, K., Jansson-Verkasalo, E., & Kujala, T. (2016). Long-term influence of recurrent acute otitis media on neural involuntary attention switching in 2-year-old children. *Behavioral* and Brain Functions, 12(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-015-0086-4
- Haapala, S., Niemitalo-Haapola, E., Raappana, A., Kujala, T., Suominen, K., Kujala, T., & Jansson-Verkasalo, E. (2014). Effects of recurrent acute otitis media on cortical speech-sound processing in 2-year old children. *Ear and Hearing*, 35(3), e75-83. https://doi.org/10.1097/AUD.0000000000000002
- Habets, M. N., van Selm, S., van der Gaast—de Jongh, C. E., Diavatopoulos, D. A., & de Jonge, M. I. (2017). A novel flow cytometry-based assay for the quantification of antibody-dependent pneumococcal agglutination. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(3), e0170884. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170884
- Hall-Stoodley, L., Hu, F. Z., Gieseke, A., Nistico, L., Nguyen, D., Hayes, J., Forbes, M., Greenberg, D. P., Dice, B., Burrows, A., Wackym, P. A., Stoodley, P., Post, J. C.,

Ehrlich, G. D., & Kerschner, J. E. (2006). Direct detection of bacterial biofilms on the middle-ear mucosa of children with chronic otitis media. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 296(2), 202–211. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.2.202

- Hallströ, T., Singh, B., Resman, F., Blom, A. M., Mö, M., & Riesbeck, K. (n.d.). Haemophilus influenzae Protein E Binds to the Extracellular Matrix by Concurrently Interacting With Laminin and Vitronectin. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir459
- Harrington, L. E., Hatton, R. D., Mangan, P. R., Turner, H., Murphy, T. L., Murphy, K. M., & Weaver, C. T. (2005). Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nature Immunology*, 6(11), 1123–1132. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1254
- Hendrixson, D. R., & St. Geme, J. W. (1998). The Haemophilus influenzae Hap serine protease promotes adherence and microcolony formation, potentiated by a soluble host protein. *Molecular Cell*, 2(6), 841–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80298-1
- Higgins, S. C., Jarnicki, A. G., Lavelle, E. C., & Mills, K. H. G. (2006). TLR4 Mediates Vaccine-Induced Protective Cellular Immunity to Bordetella pertussis : Role of IL-17-Producing T Cells . *The Journal of Immunology*, *177*(11), 7980–7989. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7980
- Hill, D. J., Toleman, M. A., Evans, D. J., Villullas, S., Van Alphen, L., & Virji, M. (2001). The variable P5 proteins of typeable and non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae target human CEACAM1. *Molecular Microbiology*, 39(4), 850–862. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02233.x
- Hiltke, T. J., Schiffmacher, A. T., Dagonese, A. J., Sethi, S., & Murphy, T. F. (2003). Horizontal Transfer of the Gene Encoding Outer Membrane Protein P2 of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae, in a Patient with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease . *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *188*(1), 114–117. https://doi.org/10.1086/375724
- Hiltke, T. J., Sethi, S., & Murphy, T. F. (2002). Sequence Stability of the Gene Encoding Outer Membrane Protein P2 of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in the Human Respiratory Tract. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 185(5), 627–631. https://doi.org/10.1086/339362
- Hnasko, R., Lin, A., Mcgarvey, J. A., & Stanker, L. H. (2011). A rapid method to improve protein detection by indirect ELISA. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.06.005
- Hoa, M., Syamal, M., Schaeffer, M. A., Sachdeva, L., Berk, R., & Coticchia, J. (2010). Biofilms and chronic otitis media: an initial exploration into the role of biofilms in the pathogenesis of chronic otitis media. *American Journal of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Medicine and Surgery*, *31*(4), 241–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2009.02.015
- Hokama, T., Sakamoto, R., Yara, A., Asato, Y., Takamine, F., & Itokazu, K. (1999). Incidence of Haemophilus influenza in the throats of healthy infants with different feeding methods. *Pediatrics International*, *41*(3), 277–280.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1442-200x.1999.01068.x

- Holmes, K. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (1997). Adherence of non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae promotes reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton in human or chinchilla epithelial cells in vitro. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 23(3), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1997.0145
- Hong, W., Juneau, R. A., Pang, B., & Swords, W. E. (2009). Survival of bacterial biofilms within neutrophil extracellular traps promotes nontypeable haemophilus influenzae persistence in the chinchilla model for otitis media. *Journal of Innate Immunity*, 1(3), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1159/000205937
- Hong, W., Pang, B., West-Barnette, S., & Swords, W. E. (2007). Phosphorylcholine expression by nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae correlates with maturation of biofilm communities in vitro and in vivo. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *189*(22), 8300– 8307. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00532-07
- Horn, C., Namane, A., Pescher, P., Rivière, M., Romain, F., Puzo, G., Bârzu, O., & Marchal, G. (1999). Decreased capacity of recombinant 45/47-kDa molecules (Apa) of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to stimulate T lymphocyte responses related to changes in their mannosylation pattern. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(45), 32023–32030. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.45.32023
- Hoshino, H., Laan, M., Sjöstrand, M., Lötvall, J., Skoogh, B. E., & Lindén, A. (2000). Increased elastase and myeloperoxidase activity associated with neutrophil recruitment by IL-17 in airways in vivo. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 105(1 I), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-6749(00)90189-1
- Hotomi, M., Yamanaka, N., Shimada, J., Suzumoto, M., Ikeda, Y., Sakai, A., Arai, J., & Green, B. (2002). Intranasal immunization with recombinant outer membrane protein P6 induces specific immune responses against nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 65(2), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5876(02)00076-9
- Howard, A. J., Dunkin, K. T., & Millar, G. W. (1988). Nasopharyngeal carriage and antibiotic resistance of Haemophilus influenzae in healthy children. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *100*(2), 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0950268800067327
- Jackson, M. D., Wong, S. M., & Akerley, B. J. (2019). Underlying glycans determine the ability of sialylated lipooligosaccharide to protect nontypeable haemophilus influenzae from serum IgM and complement. *Infection and Immunity*, *87*(11). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00456-19
- Jaffar, Z., Ferrini, M. E., Herritt, L. A., & Roberts, K. (2009). Cutting Edge: Lung Mucosal Th17-Mediated Responses Induce Polymeric Ig Receptor Expression by the Airway Epithelium and Elevate Secretory IgA Levels. *The Journal of Immunology*, 182(8), 4507–4511. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900237
- Jiang, Z., Nagata, N., Molina, E., Bakaletz, L. O., Hawkins, H., & Patel, J. A. (1999). Fimbria-mediated enhanced attachment of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae to respiratory syncytial virus-infected respiratory epithelial cells. *Infection and*

Immunity, 67(1), 187–192. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9864214

- Johnson, A. P., & Inzana, T. J. (1986). Loss of ciliary activity in organ cultures of rat trachea treated with lipo-oligosaccharide from Haemophilus influenzae. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 22(3), 265–268. https://doi.org/10.1099/00222615-22-3-265
- Johnson, R. W., McGillivary, G., Denoël, P., Poolman, J., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2011). Abrogation of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Protein D function reduces phosphorylcholine decoration, adherence to airway epithelial cells, and fitness in a chinchilla model of otitis media. *Vaccine*, *29*(6), 1211–1221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.12.003
- Jones, E. A., McGillivary, G., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2013). Extracellular DNA within a nontypeable haemophilus influenzae-induced biofilm binds human beta defensin-3 and reduces its antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Innate Immunity*, *5*(1), 24–38. https://doi.org/10.1159/000339961
- Juneau, R. A., Pang, B., Weimer, K. W. D., Armbruster, C. E., & Swords, W. E. (2011). Nontypeable haemophilus influenzae initiates formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *Infection and Immunity*, 79(1), 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00660-10
- Jurcisek, J. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2007). Biofilms formed by nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in vivo contain both double-stranded DNA and type IV pilin protein. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *189*(10), 3868–3875. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01935-06
- Jurcisek, J. A., Bookwalter, J. E., Baker, B. D., Fernandez, S., Novotny, L. A., Munson, R. S., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2007). The PilA protein of non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae plays a role in biofilm formation, adherence to epithelial cells and colonization of the mammalian upper respiratory tract. *Molecular Microbiology*, 65(5), 1288–1299. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05864.x
- Kao, C.-Y., Chen, Y., Thai, P., Wachi, S., Huang, F., Kim, C., Harper, R. W., & Wu, R. (2004). IL-17 Markedly Up-Regulates β-Defensin-2 Expression in Human Airway Epithelium via JAK and NF-κB Signaling Pathways. *The Journal of Immunology*, *173*(5), 3482–3491. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.5.3482
- Kaspar, A., Newton, O., Kei, J., Driscoll, C., Swanepoel, D. W., & Goulios, H. (2018). Prevalence of otitis media and risk-factors for sensorineural hearing loss among infants attending Child Welfare Clinics in the Solomon Islands. *International Journal* of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology, 111, 21–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2018.05.021
- Kaur, R., Casey, J. R., & Pichichero, M. E. (2011). Serum antibody response to three non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae outer membrane proteins during acute otitis media and nasopharyngeal colonization in otitis prone and non-otitis prone children. *Vaccine*, 29(5), 1023–1028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.11.055
- Kawai, F., Grass, S., Kim, Y., Choi, K.-J., St Geme, J. W., & Yeo, H.-J. (2011). Structural insights into the glycosyltransferase activity of the Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae HMW1C-like protein. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.237602

- Kenjale, R., Meng, G., Fink, D. L., Juehne, T., Ohashi, T., Erickson, H. P., Waksman, G., & St. Geme, J. W. (2009). Structural determinants of autoproteolysis of the Haemophilus influenzae Hap autotransporter. *Infection and Immunity*, 77(11), 4704–4713. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00598-09
- Kennedy, B. J., Novotny, L. A., Jurcisek, J. A., Lobet, Y., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2000). Passive transfer of antiserum specific for immunogens derived from a nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae adhesin and lipoprotein D prevents otitis media after heterologous challenge. *Infection and Immunity*, *68*(5), 2756–2765. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.5.2756-2765.2000
- Ketterer, M. R., Shao, J. Q., Hornick, D. B., Buscher, B., Bandi, V. K., & Apicella, M. A. (1999). Infection of primary human bronchial epithelial cells by Haemophilus influenzae: macropinocytosis as a mechanism of airway epithelial cell entry. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(8), 4161–4170. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10417188
- Khan, M. N., Kaur, R., & Pichichero, M. E. (2012). Bactericidal antibody response against P6, protein D, and OMP26 of nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* after acute otitis media in otitis-prone children. *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, 65(3), 439–447. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2012.00967.x
- Kilian, M., Mestecky, J., & Schrohenloher, R. E. (1979). Pathogenic species of the genus Haemophilus and Streptococcus pneumoniae produce immunoglobulin A1 protease. *Infection and Immunity*, 26(1), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.26.1.143-149.1979
- KILIAN, M., REINHOLDT, J., LOMHOLT, H., POULSEN, K., & FRANDSEN, E. V. G. (1996). Biological significance of IgA1 proteases in bacterial colonization and pathogenesis: critical evaluation of experimental evidence. *APMIS*, 104(1–6), 321– 338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1699-0463.1996.tb00724.x
- Kubiet, M., Ramphal, R., Weber, A., & Smith, A. (2000). Pilus-mediated adherence of Haemophilus influenzae to human respiratory mucins. *Infection and Immunity*, 68(6), 3362–3367. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.6.3362-3367.2000
- Kuipers, K., Jong, W. S. P., van der Gaast-de Jongh, C. E., Houben, D., van Opzeeland, F., Simonetti, E., van Selm, S., de Groot, R., Koenders, M. I., Azarian, T., Pupo, E., van der Ley, P., Langereis, J. D., Zomer, A., Luirink, J., & de Jonge, M. I. (2017a). Th17-mediated cross protection against pneumococcal carriage by vaccination with a variable antigen. *Infection and Immunity*, *85*(10). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00281-17
- Kuipers, K., Jong, W. S. P., van der Gaast-de Jongh, C. E., Houben, D., van Opzeeland, F., Simonetti, E., van Selm, S., de Groot, R., Koenders, M. I., Azarian, T., Pupo, E., van der Ley, P., Langereis, J. D., Zomer, A., Luirink, J., & de Jonge, M. I. (2017b). Th17-mediated cross protection against pneumococcal carriage by vaccination with a variable antigen. *Infection and Immunity*, *85*(10). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00281-17

- Kuklinska, D., & Kilian, M. (1984). Relative proportions of Haemophilus species in the throat of healthy children and adults. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 3(3), 249–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02014895
- Kyd, J. M., Cripps, A. W., Novotny, L. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2003). Efficacy of the 26kilodalton outer membrane protein and two P5 fimbrin-derived immunogens to induce clearance of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae from the rat middle ear and lungs as well as from the chinchilla middle ear and nasopharynx. *Infection and Immunity*, *71*(8), 4691–4699. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.8.4691-4699.2003
- LaCross, N. C., Marrs, C. F., & Gilsdorf, J. R. (2013). Population structure in nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 14(1), 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2012.11.023
- Langereis, J. D., & Hermans, P. W. M. (2013). Novel concepts in nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae biofilm formation. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 346(2), 81– 89. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12203
- Leach, Amanda J., Boswell, J. B., Asche, V., Nienhuys, T. G., & Mathews, J. D. (1994). Bacterial colonization of the nasopharynx predicts very early onset and persistence of otitis media in Australian Aboriginal infants. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, *13*(11), 983–989. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006454-199411000-00009
- Leach, Amanda Jane, Wigger, C., Hare, K., Hampton, V., Beissbarth, J., Andrews, R., Chatfield, M., Smith-Vaughan, H., & Morris, P. S. (2015). Reduced middle ear infection with nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae, but not Streptococcus pneumoniae, after transition to 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable H. influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine. *BMC Pediatrics*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-015-0483-8
- Leach, S., Clements, J. D., Kaim, J., & Lundgren, A. (2012). The Adjuvant Double Mutant Escherichia coli Heat Labile Toxin Enhances IL-17A Production in Human T Cells Specific for Bacterial Vaccine Antigens. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12), e51718. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051718
- Li, H., Grass, S., Wang, T., Liu, T., & St.Geme, J. W. (2007). Structure of the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1B translocator protein: Evidence for a twin pore. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 189(20), 7497–7502. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00541-07
- Li, W., Zhang, X., Yang, Y., Yin, Q., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Wang, C., Wong, S. M., Wang, Y., Goldfine, H., Akerley, B. J., & Shen, H. (2018). Recognition of conserved antigens by Th17 cells provides broad protection against pulmonary Haemophilus influenzae infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(30), E7149–E7157. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802261115
- Lin, L., Ayala, P., Larson, J., Mulks, M., Fukuda, M., Carlsson, S. R., Enns, C., & So, M. (1997). The Neisseria type 2 IgA1 protease cleaves LAMP1 and promotes survival of bacteria within epithelial cells. *Molecular Microbiology*, 24(5), 1083–1094. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.4191776.x

LO, B., BJ, K., LA, N., G, D., J, C., & Y, L. (1999). Protection against development of

otitis media induced by nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae by both active and passive immunization in a chinchilla model of virus-bacterium superinfection. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(6), 2746–2762.

- Loeb, M. R., Connor, E., & Penney, D. (1988). A comparison of the adherence of fimbriated and nonfimbriated Haemophilus influenzae type b to human adenoids in organ culture. *Infection and Immunity*, 56(2), 484–489. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.56.2.484-489.1988
- Lu, Y. J., Gross, J., Bogaert, D., Finn, A., Bagrade, L., Zhang, Q., Kolls, J. K., Srivastava, A., Lundgren, A., Forte, S., Thompson, C. M., Harney, K. F., Anderson, P. W., Lipsitch, M., & Malley, R. (2008). Interleukin-17A mediates acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. *PLoS Pathogens*, *4*(9), e1000159. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000159
- Malley, R., Trzcinski, K., Srivastava, A., Thompson, C. M., Anderson, P. W., & Lipsitch, M. (2005). CD4+ T cells mediate antibody-independent acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(13), 4848–4853. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501254102
- Mattila, P. S., Joki-Erkkilä, V. P., Kilpi, T., Jokinen, J., Herva, E., & Puhakka, H. (2003). Prevention of otitis media by adenoidectomy in children younger than 2 years. *Archives of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*, *129*(2), 163–168. https://doi.org/10.1001/archotol.129.2.163
- McCann, J. R., Mason, S. N., Auten, R. L., St. Geme, J. W., & Seed, P. C. (2016). Earlylife intranasal colonization with nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae exacerbates juvenile airway disease in mice. *Infection and Immunity*, 84(7), 2022–2030. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01539-15
- McCann, J. R., & St. Geme, J. W. (2014a). The HMW1C-Like Glycosyltransferases-An Enzyme Family with a Sweet Tooth for Simple Sugars. *PLoS Pathogens*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003977
- McCann, J. R., & St. Geme, J. W. (2014b). The HMW1C-Like Glycosyltransferases—An Enzyme Family with a Sweet Tooth for Simple Sugars. *PLoS Pathogens*, *10*(4), e1003977. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003977
- McCrea, K. W., Watson, W. J., Gilsdorf, J. R., & Marss, C. F. (1997). Identification of two minor subunits in the pilus of Haemophilus influenzae. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179(13), 4227–4231. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.13.4227-4231.1997
- McGillivary, G., Mason, K. M., Jurcisek, J. A., Peeples, M. E., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2009). Respiratory syncytial virus-induced dysregulation of expression of a mucosal Bdefensin augments colonization of the upper airway by non-typeable Haemophilus influenzaec. *Cellular Microbiology*, *11*(9), 1399–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.01339.x
- McNamee, L. A., & Harmsen, A. G. (2006). Both influenza-induced neutrophil dysfunction and neutrophil-independent mechanisms contribute to increased

susceptibility to a secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(12), 6707–6721. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00789-06

- Mell, J. C., Viadas, C., Moleres, J., Sinha, S., Fernández-Calvet, A., Porsch, E. A., St. Geme, J. W., Nislow, C., Redfield, R. J., & Garmendia, J. (2016). Transformed Recombinant Enrichment Profiling Rapidly Identifies HMW1 as an Intracellular Invasion Locus in Haemophilus influenza. *PLoS Pathogens*, *12*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005576
- Meng, G., Spahich, N., Kenjale, R., Waksman, G., St, J. W., & Iii, G. (2011). Crystal structure of the Haemophilus influenzae Hap adhesin reveals an intercellular oligomerization mechanism for bacterial aggregation. *The EMBO Journal*, 30, 3864–3874. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.279
- Meng, G., St. Geme, J. W., & Waksman, G. (2008). Repetitive Architecture of the Haemophilus influenzae Hia Trimeric Autotransporter. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 384(4), 824–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.09.085
- Michel, L. V., Kaur, R., Zavorin, M., Pryharski, K., Khan, M. N., LaClair, C., O'Neil, M., Xu, Q., & Pichichero, M. E. (2018). Intranasal coinfection model allows for assessment of protein vaccines against nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in mice. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 67(10), 1527–1532. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.000827
- Mikami, F., Gu, H., Jono, H., Andalibi, A., Kai, H., & Li, J. D. (2005). Epidermal growth factor receptor acts as a negative regulator for bacterium nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-induced Toll-like receptor 2 expression via an Src-dependent p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(43), 36185–36194. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M503941200
- Milne, R. J., & Vander Hoorn, S. (2010). Burden and cost of hospital admissions for vaccine-preventable paediatric pneumococcal disease and non-typable Haemophilus influenzae otitis media in New Zealand. *Applied Health Economics* and Health Policy, 8(5), 281–300. https://doi.org/10.2165/11535710-00000000-00000
- Milner, J. D., Brenchley, J. M., Laurence, A., Freeman, A. F., Hill, B. J., Elias, K. M., Kanno, Y., Spalding, C., Elloumi, H. Z., Paulson, M. L., Davis, J., Hsu, A., Asher, A. I., O'Shea, J., Holland, S. M., Paul, W. E., & Douek, D. C. (2008). Impaired TH17 cell differentiation in subjects with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature*, 452(7188), 773–776. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06764
- Mitsi, E., Roche, A. M., Reiné, J., Zangari, T., Owugha, J. T., Pennington, S. H., Gritzfeld, J. F., Wright, A. D., Collins, A. M., Van Selm, S., De Jonge, M. I., Gordon, S. B., Weiser, J. N., & Ferreira, D. M. (2017). Agglutination by anti-capsular polysaccharide antibody is associated with protection against experimental human pneumococcal carriage. *Mucosal Immunology*, *10*(2), 385–394. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2016.71

Miyamoto, N., & Bakaletz, L. O. (1996). Selective adherence of non-typeable

Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) to mucus or epithelial cells in the chinchilla Eustachian tube and middle ear. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *21*(5), 343–356. https://doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1996.0067

- Motlagh, A. D. V., Siadat, S. D., Kenari, S. A., Mahdavi, M., Behrouzi, A., & Asgarian-Omran, H. (2016). Immunization with protein d from non-typeable haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) induced cytokine responses and bioactive antibody production. *Jundishapur Journal of Microbiology*, *9*(10). https://doi.org/10.5812/jjm.36617
- Moxon, R., Bayliss, C., & Hood, D. (2006). Bacterial Contingency Loci: The Role of Simple Sequence DNA Repeats in Bacterial Adaptation. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 40(1), 307–333. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.40.110405.090442
- Muenzner, P., Rohde, M., Kneitz, S., & Hauck, C. R. (2005). CEACAM engagement by human pathogens enhances cell adhesion and counteracts bacteria-induced detachment of epithelial cells. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *170*(5), 825–836. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200412151
- Mulvey, M. A., Schilling, J. D., Martinez, J. J., & Hultgren, S. J. (2000). Bad bugs and beleaguered bladders: Interplay between uropathogenic Escherichia coli and innate host defenses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(16), 8829–8835. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.16.8829
- Munson, R., Grass, S., Einhorn, M., Bailey, C., & Newell, C. (1989). Comparative analysis of the structure of the outer membrane protein P1 genes from major clones of Haemophilus influenzae type b. *Infection and Immunity*, 57(11), 3300–3305. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.57.11.3300-3305.1989
- Murphy, T. F., Bartos, L. C., Rice, P. A., Nelson, M. B., Dudas, K. C., & Apicella, M. A. (1986). Identification of a 16,600-Dalton outer membrane protein on nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae as a target for human serum bactericidal antibody. *Journal* of *Clinical Investigation*, 78(4), 1020–1027. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI112656
- Murphy, Timothy F., Faden, H., Bakaletz, L. O., Kyd, J. M., Forsgren, A., Campos, J., Virji, M., & Pelton, S. I. (2009). Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae as a Pathogen in Children. In *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* (Vol. 28, Issue 1, pp. 43–48). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e318184dba2
- Murphy, Timothy F, Bernstein, J. M., Dryja, D. M., Campagnari, A. A., & Apicella, M. A. (1987). Outer Membrane Protein and Lipooligosaccharide Analysis of Paired Nasopharyngeal and Middle Ear Isolates in Otitis Media Due to Nontypable Haemophilus influenzae: Pathogenetic and Epidemiological Observations. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *156*(5), 723–731. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/156.5.723
- Murphy, Timothy F, Kirkham, C., Gallo, M. C., Yang, Y., Wilding, G. E., & Pettigrew, M. M. (2017). Immunoglobulin A Protease Variants Facilitate Intracellular Survival in Epithelial Cells By Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae That Persist in the Human Respiratory Tract in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. 216, 1295–1302. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jix471
- Murphy, Timothy F, Kirkham, C., Jones, M. M., Sethi, S., Kong, Y., & Pettigrew, M. M. (2015). Expression of IgA Proteases by Haemophilus influenzae in the Respiratory Tract of Adults With Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv299
- Naegeli, A., Michaud, G., Schubert, M., Lin, C. W., Lizak, C., Darbre, T., Reymond, J. L., & Aebi, M. (2014). Substrate specificity of cytoplasmic N-glycosyltransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(35), 24521–24532. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.579326
- Nelson, K. M., Young, G. M., & Miller, V. L. (2001). Identification of a locus involved in systemic dissemination of Yersinia enterocolitica. *Infection and Immunity*, 69(10), 6201–6208. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.10.6201-6208.2001
- Niewiesk, S. (2014). Maternal antibodies: Clinical significance, mechanism of interference with immune responses, and possible vaccination strategies. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 5, Issue SEP). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00446
- Nix, E. B., Williams, K., Cox, A. D., Michael, F. S., Romero-Steiner, S., Schmidt, D. S., McCready, W. G., & Ulanova, M. (2015). Naturally acquired antibodies against haemophilus influenzae type a in aboriginal adults, Canada. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(2), 273–279. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2102.140722
- Noda, K., Kodama, S., Umemoto, S., Nomi, N., Hirano, T., & Suzuki, M. (2011). Th17 cells contribute to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae-specific protective immunity induced by nasal vaccination with P6 outer membrane protein and α-galactosylceramide. *Microbiology and Immunology*, *55*(8), 574–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2011.00352.x
- Nothaft, H., & Szymanski, C. M. (2013). Bacterial protein n-glycosylation: New perspectives and applications. In *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Vol. 288, Issue 10, pp. 6912–6920). American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R112.417857
- Novotny, L. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2003). The Fourth Surface-Exposed Region of the Outer Membrane Protein P5-Homologous Adhesin of Nontypable Haemophilus influenzae Is an Immunodominant But Nonprotective Decoying Epitope . *The Journal of Immunology*, *171*(4), 1978–1983. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.1978
- Novotny, L. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2013). Peptide Vaccines for Otitis Media. In *Handbook* of *Biologically Active Peptides* (pp. 603–611). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385095-9.00082-8
- Novotny, L. A., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2016). Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 serves as a primary cognate receptor for the Type IV pilus of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Cellular Microbiology*, *18*(8), 1043–1055. https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12575

Novotny, L. A., Jurcisek, J. A., Ward, M. O., Jordan, Z. B., Goodman, S. D., & Bakaletz,

L. O. (2015). Antibodies against the majority subunit of type IV pili disperse nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae biofilms in a LuxS-dependent manner and confer therapeutic resolution of experimental otitis media. *Molecular Microbiology*, *96*(2), 276–292. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12934

- Novotny, L. A., Pichichero, M. E., Denoël, P. A., Neyt, C., Vanderschrick, S., Dequesne, G., & Bakaletz, L. O. (2002). Detection and characterization of pediatric serum antibody to the OMP P5-homologous adhesin of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae during acute otitis media. *Vaccine*, 20(29–30), 3590–3597. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00306-7
- O'Hara, J. M., Redhu, N. S., Cheung, E., Robertson, N. G., Patik, I., Sayed, S. El, Thompson, C. M., Herd, M., Lucas, K. B., Conaway, E., Morton, C. C., Farber, D. L., Malley, R., & Horwitz, B. H. (2020). Generation of protective pneumococcalspecific nasal resident memory CD4+ T cells via parenteral immunization. *Mucosal Immunology*, *13*(1), 172–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-019-0218-5
- O'Neill, J. M., St Geme, J. W., Cutter, D., Adderson, E. E., Anyanwu, J., Jacobs, R. F., & Schutze, G. E. (2003). Invasive disease due to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae among children in Arkansas. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *41*(7), 3064–3069. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.41.7.3064-3069.2003
- Odunuga, O. O., Hornby, J. A., Bies, C., Zimmermann, R., Pugh, D. J., & Blatch, G. L. (2003). Tetratricopeptide repeat motif-mediated Hsc70-mSTI1 interaction. Molecular characterization of the critical contacts for successful binding and specificity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(9), 6896–6904. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M206867200
- Pang, B., Hong, W., West-Barnette, S. L., Kock, N. D., & Swords, W. E. (2008). Diminished ICAM-1 expression and impaired pulmonary clearance of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in a mouse model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/emphysema. *Infection and Immunity*, 76(11), 4959–4967. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00664-08
- Park, K., Coticchia, J. M., Bakaletz, L. O., Lim, D. J., & Park, K. (1993). Effect of influenza a virus on ciliary activity and dye transport function in the chinchilla eustachian tube. *Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology*, *102*(7), 551–558. https://doi.org/10.1177/000348949310200711
- Pericone, C. D., Overweg, K., Hermans, P. W. M., & Weiser, J. N. (2000). Inhibitory and bactericidal effects of hydrogen peroxide production by Streptococcus pneumoniae on other inhabitants of the upper respiratory tract. *Infection and Immunity*, 68(7), 3990–3997. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.7.3990-3997.2000
- Petris, A. M., Velkova, S. A., Lee, D. D. H., Beinke, S., Williamson, R. A., Belyaev, N. N., Hessel, E. M., Moulding, D., Mchugh, T. D., Freestone, P., Smith, C. M., & O'Callaghan, C. (2018). Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae infection of ciliated epithelium from healthy and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease donors. *European Respiratory Journal*, *52*(suppl 62), PA5300. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.congress-2018.pa5300

- Pichichero, M. E., Kaur, R., Casey, J. R., Sabirov, A., Khan, M. N., & Almudevar, A. (2010). Antibody response to Haemophilus influenzae outer membrane protein D, P6, and OMP26 after nasopharyngeal colonization and acute otitis media in children. *Vaccine*, *28*(44), 7184–7192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.08.063
- Pickering, J. L., Prosser, A., Corscadden, K. J., De Gier, C., Richmond, P. C., Zhang, G., Thornton, R. B., & Kirkham, L. A. S. (2016). Haemophilus haemolyticus interaction with host cells is different to nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae and prevents NTHi association with epithelial cells. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 6(MAY), 50. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00050
- Pickering, J., Smith-Vaughan, H., Beissbarth, J., Bowman, J. M., Wiertsema, S., Riley, T. V., Leach, A. J., Richmond, P., Lehmann, D., & Kirkhama, L. A. (2014). Diversity of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae strains colonizing Australian Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal children. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *52*(5), 1352–1357. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.03448-13
- Pinto, M., González-Díaz, A., Machado, M. P., Duarte, S., Vieira, L., Carriço, J. A., Marti, S., Bajanca-Lavado, M. P., & Gomes, J. P. (2019). Insights into the population structure and pan-genome of Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 67, 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.10.025
- Pittet, L. A., Hall-Stoodley, L., Rutkowski, M. R., & Harmsen, A. G. (2010). Influenza virus infection decreases tracheal mucociliary velocity and clearance of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, 42(4), 450–460. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2007-0417OC
- Pittman, M. (1931). Variation and type specificity in the bacterial species hemophilus influenzae. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *53*(4), 471–471. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.53.4.471
- Poole, J., Day, C. J., Von Itzstein, M., Paton, J. C., & Jennings, M. P. (2018). Glycointeractions in bacterial pathogenesis. In *Nature Reviews Microbiology* (Vol. 16, Issue 7, pp. 440–452). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0007-2
- Poole, J., Foster, E., Chaloner, K., Hunt, J., Jennings, M. P., Bair, T., Knudtson, K., Christensen, E., Munson, R. S., Winokur, P. L., & Apicella, M. A. (2013). Analysis of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Phase-Variable Genes During Experimental Human Nasopharyngeal Colonization. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit240
- Post, J. C. (2001). Direct evidence of bacterial biofilms in otitis media. *Laryngoscope*, *111*(12), 2083–2094. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005537-200112000-00001
- Power, P. M., Sweetman, W. A., Gallacher, N. J., Woodhall, M. R., Kumar, G. A., Moxon, E. R., & Hood, D. W. (2009). Simple sequence repeats in Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 9(2), 216–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2008.11.006

Prasadarao, N. V., Lysenko, E., Wass, C. A., Kim, K. S., & Weiser, J. N. (1999). Opacity-

Associated Protein A Contributes to the Binding of Haemophilus influenzae to Chang Epithelial Cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(8), 4153.

- Punturieri, A., Copper, P., Polak, T., Christensen, P. J., & Curtis, J. L. (2006). Conserved Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae -Derived TLR2-Binding Lipopeptides Synergize with IFN-β to Increase Cytokine Production by Resident Murine and Human Alveolar Macrophages . *The Journal of Immunology*, 177(1), 673–680. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.673
- Rao, V. K., Krasan, G. P., Hendrixson, D. R., Dawid, S., & St. Geme, J. W. (1999). Molecular determinants of the pathogenesis of disease due to non-typable Haemophilus influenzae . *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 23(2), 99–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.1999.tb00393.x
- Reddy, M. S., Bernstein, J. M., Murphy, T. F., & Faden, H. S. (1996). Binding between outer membrane proteins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae and human nasopharyngeal mucin. *Infection and Immunity*, 64(4), 1477–1479. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.64.4.1477-1479.1996
- Rempe, K. A., Porsch, E. A., Wilson, J. M., & St. Geme, J. W. (2016). The HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins enhance the ability of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae to colonize the upper respiratory tract of rhesus macaques. *Infection and Immunity*, 84(10), 2771–2778. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00153-16
- Rempe, K. A., Spruce, L. A., Porsch, E. A., Seeholzer, S. H., Nørskov-Lauritsen, N., St Geme III, J. W., & Scott Hultgren, E. J. (2015). Unconventional N-Linked Glycosylation Promotes Trimeric Autotransporter Function in Kingella kingae and Aggregatibacter aphrophilus. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01206-15

Renegar, K. B., & Small, P. A. (1994). 30 Passive Immunization: Systemic and Mucosal.

- Richard Pfeiffer. (1892). II. Vorläufige Mittheilungen über die Erreger der Influenza [From the Institute for Infectious Diseases. II. Provisional communication on the cause of influenza]. *II. Aus Dem Institut Für Infectionskrankheiten*, *18*(28). https://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/pdf/10.1055/s-0029-1198870.pdf
- Robinson, J. (2004). Colonization and infection of the respiratory tract: What do we know? *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 9(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1093/PCH/9.1.21
- Roche, A. M., Richard, A. L., Rahkola, J. T., Janoff, E. N., & Weiser, J. N. (2015). Antibody blocks acquisition of bacterial colonization through agglutination. *Mucosal Immunology*, 8(1), 176–185. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2014.55
- Rodriguez, C. A., Avadhanula, V., Buscher, A., Smith, A. L., St. Geme, J. W., & Adderson, E. E. (2003). Prevalence and distribution of adhesins in invasive nontype b encapsulated Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 71(4), 1635– 1642. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.4.1635-1642.2003
- Roier, S., Leitner, D. R., Iwashkiw, J., Schild-Prüfert, K., Feldman, M. F., Krohne, G., Reidl, J., & Schild, S. (2012). Intranasal immunization with nontypeable

Haemophilus influenzae outer membrane vesicles induces cross-protective immunity in mice. *PLoS ONE*, 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042664

- Romain, F., Horn, C., Pescher, P., Namane, A., Riviere, M., Puzo, G., Barzu, O., & Marchal, G. (1999). Deglycosylation of the 45/47-kilodalton antigen complex of Mycobacterium tuberculosis decreases its capacity to elicit in vivo or in vitro cellular immune responses. *Infection and Immunity*, 67(11), 5567–5572. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.67.11.5567-5572.1999
- Rowe, H. M., Meliopoulos, V. A., Iverson, A., Bomme, P., Schultz-Cherry, S., & Rosch, J. W. (2019). Direct interactions with influenza promote bacterial adherence during respiratory infections. *Nature Microbiology*, *4*(8), 1328–1336. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0447-0
- Ruuskanen, O., Arola, M., Putto-Laurila, A., Mertsola, J., Meurman, O., Viljanen, M. K., & Halonen, P. (1989). Acute otitis media and respiratory virus infections. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, 8(2), 94–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/0736-4679(89)90030-9
- Schoenhofen, I. C., McNally, D. J., Vinogradov, E., Whitfield, D., Young, N. M., Dick, S., Wakarchuk, W. W., Brisson, J.-R., & Logan, S. M. (2006). Functional Characterization of Dehydratase/Aminotransferase Pairs from *Helicobacter* and *Campylobacter*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(2), 723–732. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M511021200
- Sethi, S. (2004). Bacteria in exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: phenomenon or epiphenomenon? In *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* (Vol. 1, Issue 2, pp. 109–114). https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.2306029
- Sethi, S., Evans, N., Grant, B. J. B., & Murphy, T. F. (2002). New strains of bacteria and exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347(7), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa012561
- Sethi, S., Wrona, C., Grant, B. J. B., & Murphy, T. F. (2004). Strain-specific Immune Response to Haemophilus influenzae in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 169(4), 448–453. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200308-1181oc
- Shahini Shams Abadi, M., Siadat, S. D., Vaziri, F., Davari, M., Fateh, A., Pourazar, S., Abdolrahimi, F., & Ghazanfari, M. (2016). Distribution and Diversity of hmw1A Among Invasive Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Isolates in Iran. *Avicenna Journal of Medical Biotechnology*, 8(2), 99–102. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27141269
- Shakhnovich, E. A., King, S. J., & Weiser, J. N. (2002). Neuraminidase expressed by Streptococcus pneumoniae desialylates the lipopolysaccharide of Neisseria meningitidis and Haemophilus influenzae: A paradigm for interbacterial competition among pathogens of the human respiratory tract. *Infection and Immunity*, 70(12), 7161–7164. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.70.12.7161-7164.2002

Shevchenko, A., Wilm, M., Vorm, O., & Mann, M. (1996). Mass spectrometric

sequencing of proteins from silver-stained polyacrylamide gels. *Analytical Chemistry*, *68*(5), 850–858. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac950914h

- Shurin, P. A., Pelton, S. I., Tager, I. B., & Kasper, D. L. (1980). Bactericidal antibody and susceptibility to otitis media caused by nontypable strains of Haemophilus influenzae. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 97(3), 364–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(80)80182-X
- Slinger, R., Chan, F., Ferris, W., Yeung, S. W., St. Denis, M., Gaboury, I., & Aaron, S. D. (2006). Multiple combination antibiotic susceptibility testing of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae biofilms. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 56(3), 247–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2006.04.012
- Sloyer, J. L., Howie, V. M., Ploussard, J. H., Schiffman, G., & Johnston, R. B. (1976). Immune response to acute otitis media: association between middle ear fluid antibody and the clearing of clinical infection. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 4(3), 306–308. /pmc/articles/PMC274454/?report=abstract
- Smith-Vaughan, H., Byun, R., Nadkarni, M., Jacques, N. A., Hunter, N., Halpin, S., Morris, P. S., & Leach, A. J. (2006). Measuring nasal bacterial load and its association with otitis media. *BMC Ear, Nose and Throat Disorders*, 6, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6815-6-10
- Spinola, S. M., Peacock, J., Denny, F. W., Smith, D. L., & Cannon, J. G. (1986). Epidemiology of colonization by nontypable Haemophilus influenzae in children: a longitudinal study. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *154*(1), 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/154.1.100
- St. Geme, J. W. (1994). The HMW1 adhesin of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae recognizes sialylated glycoprotein receptors on cultured human epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(9), 3881–3889. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.62.9.3881-3889.1994
- St. Geme, J. W., & Cutter, D. (2000). The Haemophilus influenzae Hia adhesin is an autotransporter protein that remains uncleaved at the C terminus and fully cell associated. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 182(21), 6005–6013. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.182.21.6005-6013.2000
- St. Geme, Joseph W., Cutter, D., & Barenkamp, S. J. (1996). Characterization of the genetic locus encoding Haemophilus influenzae type b surface fibrils. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 178(21), 6281–6287. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.21.6281-6287.1996
- St. Geme, Joseph W., Falkow, S., & Barenkamp, S. J. (1993). High-molecular-weight proteins of nontypable Haemophilus influenzae mediate attachment to human epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(7), 2875–2879. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.7.2875
- St. Geme, Joseph W., Maria, L. de la M., & Falkow, S. (1994). A Haemophilus influenzae IgA protease-like protein promotes intimate interaction with human epithelial cells. *Molecular Microbiology*, 14(2), 217–233.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1994.tb01283.x

- St. Geme, Joseph W., & Yeo, H. J. (2009). A prototype two-partner secretion pathway: the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 and HMW2 adhesin systems. In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 17, Issue 8, pp. 355–360). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2009.06.002
- St.Geme, J. W., & Falkow, S. (1990). Haemophilus influenzae adheres to and enters cultured human epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 58(12), 4036–4044. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.58.12.4036-4044.1990
- St Geme, Joseph W., & Grass, S. (1998). Secretion of the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 and HMW2 adhesins involves a periplasmic intermediate and requires the HMWB and HMWC proteins. *Molecular Microbiology*, 27(3), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.00711.x
- St Geme, Joseph W., Kumar, V. V., Cutter, D., & Barenkamp, S. J. (1998). Prevalence and distribution of the hmw and hia genes and the HMW and Hia adhesins among genetically diverse strains of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Infection and Immunity*, 66(1), 364–368. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.66.1.364-368.1998
- Staples, K. J., Taylor, S., Thomas, S., Leung, S., Cox, K., Pascal, T. G., Ostridge, K., Welch, L., Tuck, A. C., Clarke, S. C., Gorringe, A., & Wilkinson, T. M. A. (2016). Relationships between Mucosal Antibodies, Non-Typeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) Infection and Airway Inflammation in COPD. *PloS One*, *11*(11), e0167250. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167250
- Starner, T. D., Zhang, N., Kim, G. H., Apicella, M. A., & McCray, P. B. (2006). Haemophilus influenzae forms biofilms on airway epithelia: Implications in cystic fibrosis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 174(2), 213– 220. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200509-1459OC
- Steinhart, W. L., & Herriott, R. M. (1968). Genetic integration in the heterospecific transformation of Haemophilus influenzae cells by Haemophilus parainfluenzae deoxyribonucleic acid. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 96(5), 1725–1731. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.96.5.1725-1731.1968
- Stull, T. L., Mendelman, P. M., Haas, J. E., Schoenborn, M. A., Mack, K. D., & Smith, A. L. (1984). Characterization of Haemophilus influenzae type b fimbriae. *Infection and Immunity*, 46(3), 787–796. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6150012
- Stuy, J. H. (1989). Cloning and characterization of the Haemophilus influenzae Rd rec-1+ gene. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 171(8), 4395–4401. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.171.8.4395-4401.1989
- Su, Y.-C., Mukherjee, O., Singh, B., Hallgren, O., Westergren-Thorsson, G., Hood, D., Riesbeck, K., & Riesbeck, K. (2016). Haemophilus influenzae P4 Interacts With Extracellular Matrix Proteins Promoting Adhesion and Serum Resistance Europe PMC Funders Group. *J Infect Dis*, 213(2), 314–323. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv374

- Sun, K., & Metzger, D. W. (2008). Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-γ during recovery from influenza infection. *Nature Medicine*, 14(5), 558– 564. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1765
- Suzuki, K., & Bakaletz, L. O. (1994). Synergistic effect of adenovirus type 1 and nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae in a chinchilla model of experimental otitis media. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(5), 1710–1718. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8168932
- Swords, W. E., Buscher, B. A., Ver Steeg Ii, K., Preston, A., Nichols, W. A., Weiser, J. N., Gibson, B. W., & Apicella, M. A. (2000). Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae adhere to and invade human bronchial epithelial cells via an interaction of lipooligosaccharide with the PAF receptor. *Molecular Microbiology*, *37*(1), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01952.x
- Swords, W. E., Buscher, B. A., Ver Steeg Li, K., Preston, A., Nichols, W. A., Weiser, J. N., Gibson, B. W., & Apicella, M. A. (2000). Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae adhere to and invade human bronchial epithelial cells via an interaction of lipooligosaccharide with the PAF receptor. In *Molecular Microbiology* (Vol. 37, Issue 1, pp. 13–27). Mol Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01952.x
- Swords, W. E., Ketterer, M. R., Shao, J., Campbell, C. A., Weiser, J. N., & Apicella, M. A. (2001). Binding of the non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae lipooligosaccharide to the PAF receptor initiates host cell signalling. *Cellular Microbiology*, *3*(8), 525–536. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-5822.2001.00132.x
- Szabady, R. L., Peterson, J. H., Skillman, K. M., & Bernstein, H. D. (2005). An unusual signal peptide facilitates late steps in the biogenesis of a bacterial autotransporter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(1), 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406055102
- Szymanski, C. M., Ruijin, Y., Ewing, C. P., Trust, T. J., & Guerry, P. (1999). Evidence for a system of general protein glycosylation in Campylobacter jejuni. *Molecular Microbiology*, 32(5), 1022–1030. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01415.x
- Talbird, S. E., Taylor, T. N., Caporale, J., Ismaila, A. S., & Gomez, J. (2010). Residual economic burden of Streptococcus pneumoniae- and nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae- associated disease following vaccination with PCV-7: A multicountry analysis. *Vaccine*, 28(SUPPL. 6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.06.080
- Tan, T. T., Mörgelin, M., Forsgren, A., & Riesbeck, K. (2007). Haemophilus influenzae Survival during Complement-Mediated Attacks Is Promoted by Moraxella catarrhalis Outer Membrane Vesicles . *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 195(11), 1661– 1670. https://doi.org/10.1086/517611
- Troelstra, A., Vogel, L., van Alphen, L., Eijk, P., Jansen, H., & Dankert, J. (1994). Opsonic antibodies to outer membrane protein P2 of nonencapsulated Haemophilus influenza are strain specific. *Infection and Immunity*, *62*(3), 779–784. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8112849

Trottier, S., Stenberg, K., & Svanborg-Edén, C. (1989). Turnover of nontypable

Haemophilus influenzae in the nasopharynges of healthy children. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 27(10), 2175–2179. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2584370

- van Alphen, L., Geelen-van den Broek, L., Blaas, L., van Ham, M., & Dankert, J. (1991). Blocking of fimbria-mediated adherence of Haemophilus influenzae by sialyl gangliosides. *Infection and Immunity*, *59*(12), 4473–4477. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1682262
- Van Den Bergh, M. R., Spijkerman, J., Swinnen, K. M., François, N. A., Pascal, T. G., Borys, D., Schuerman, L., Ijzerman, E. P. F., Bruin, J. P., Van Der Ende, A., Veenhoven, R. H., & Sanders, E. A. M. (2012). Effects of the 10-Valent Pneumococcal Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Protein D-Conjugate Vaccine on Nasopharyngeal Bacterial Colonization in Young Children: A Randomized Controlled Trial. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cis922
- van Ham, S. M., van Alphen, L., Mooi, F. R., & van Putten, J. P. M. (1993). Phase variation of H. influenzae fimbriae: Transcriptional control of two divergent genes through a variable combined promoter region. *Cell*, *73*(6), 1187–1196. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90647-9
- van Ham, S. M., van Alphen, L., Mool, F. R., & van Putten, J. P. M. (1994). The fimbrial gene cluster of Haemophilus influenzae type b. *Molecular Microbiology*, *13*(4), 673–684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1994.tb00461.x
- Van Schilfgaarde, M., Eijk, P., Regelink, A., Van Ulsen, P., Everts, V., Dankert, J., & Van Alphen, L. (1999). Haemophilus influenzae localized in epithelial cell layers is shielded from antibiotics and antibody-mediated bactericidal activity. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 26(5), 249–262. https://doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1998.0269
- Virkola, R., Brummer, M., Rauvala, H., Van Alphen, L., & Korhonen, T. K. (2000). Interaction of fimbriae of Haemophilus influenzae type B with heparin-binding extracellular matrix proteins. *Infection and Immunity*, *68*(10), 5696–5701. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.10.5696-5701.2000
- Virkola, R., Lähteenmäki, K., Eberhard, T., Kuusela, P., van Alphen, L., Ullberg, M., & Korhonen, T. K. (1996). Interaction of Haemophilus influenzae with the mammalian extracellular matrix. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *173*(5), 1137–1147. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/173.5.1137
- Vuong, J., Wang, X., Theodore, J. M., Whitmon, J., de Leon, P. G., Mayer, L. W., Carlone, G. M., & Romero-Steiner, S. (2013). Absence of high molecular weight proteins 1 and/or 2 is associated with decreased adherence among non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae clinical isolates. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 62(PART 11), 1649–1656. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.058222-0
- Wacker, M., Linton, D., Hitchen, P. G., Nita-Lazar, M., Haslam, S. M., North, S. J., Panico, M., Morris, H. R., Dell, A., Wren, B. W., & Aebi, M. (2002). N-linked glycosylation in Campylobacter jejuni and its functional transfer into E. coli. *Science*, 298(5599), 1790–1793. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.298.5599.1790

- Wall, D., & Kaiser, D. (1999). Type IV pili and cell motility [see comments]. *Mol Microbiol*, 32(1), 1–10. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbinpost/Entrez/query?db=m&form=6&dopt=r&uid=0010216854
- Webster, P., Wu, S., Gomez, G., Apicella, M., Plaut, A. G., & St. Geme, J. W. (2006). Distribution of bacterial proteins in biofilms formed by non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 54(7), 829–842. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.6A6922.2006
- Weiser, J N. (1993). Relationship between colony morphology and the life cycle of Haemophilus influenzae: the contribution of lipopolysaccharide phase variation to pathogenesis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *168*(3), 672–680. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/168.3.672
- Weiser, Jeffrey N., Chong, S. T. H., Greenberg, D., & Fong, W. (1995). Identification and characterization of a cell envelope protein of Haemophilus influenzae contributing to phase variation in colony opacity and nasopharyngeal colonization. *Molecular Microbiology*, *17*(3), 555–564. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.1995.mmi_17030555.x
- Winter, L. E., & Barenkamp, S. J. (2006). Antibodies specific for the high-molecularweight adhesion proteins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae are opsonophagocytic for both homologous and heterologous strains. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, *13*(12), 1333–1342. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00221-06
- Winter, L. E., & Barenkamp, S. J. (2009). Antibodies specific for the Hia adhesion proteins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae mediate opsonophagocytic activity. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, *16*(7), 1040–1046. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00090-09
- Winter, L. E., & Barenkamp, S. J. (2014). Antibodies to the HMW1/HMW2 and hia adhesins of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae mediate broad-based opsonophagocytic killing of homologous and heterologous strains. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, *21*(5), 613–621. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00772-13
- Winter, L. E., & Barenkamp, S. J. (2016). Naturally acquired HMW1-and HMW2-specific serum antibodies in adults and children mediate opsonophagocytic killing of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 23(1), 37– 46. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00502-15
- Winter, L. E., & Barenkamp, S. J. (2017). Immunogenicity of Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Outer Membrane Vesicles and Protective Ability in the Chinchilla Model of Otitis Media. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 24(10). https://doi.org/10.1128/cvi.00138-17
- Wu, Q., Martin, R. J., Rino, J. G., Breed, R., Torres, R. M., & Chu, H. W. (2007). IL-23dependent IL-17 production is essential in neutrophil recruitment and activity in mouse lung defense against respiratory Mycoplasma pneumoniae infection. *Microbes and Infection*, 9(1), 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2006.10.012

Yanagihara, K., Matsumoto, T., Aoki, N., Sato, J., Wakamura, T., Kiyota, H., Tateda, K.,

Hanaki, H., Ohsaki, Y., Fujiuchi, S., Takahashi, M., Akiba, Y., Masunaga, S., Takeuchi, K., Takeda, H., Miki, M., Kumagai, T., Takahashi, H., Utagawa, M., ... Tateyama, M. (2019). Nationwide surveillance of bacterial respiratory pathogens conducted by the surveillance committee of Japanese Society of Chemotherapy, the Japanese Association for Infectious Diseases, and the Japanese Society for clinical microbiology in 2014: General view of the pathogens' antibacterial susceptibility. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, *25*(9), 657–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiac.2019.05.006

- Yang, S., Yin, Y., Xu, W., Zhang, X., Gao, Y., Liao, H., Hu, X., Wang, J., & Wang, H. (2019). Type I interferon induced by DNA of nontypeable Haemophilus influenza modulates inflammatory cytokine profile to promote susceptibility to this bacterium. *International Immunopharmacology*, 74, 105710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105710
- Yeo, H. J., Cotter, S. E., Laarmann, S., Juehne, T., St. Geme, J. W., & Waksman, G. (2004). Structural basis for host recognition by the Haemophilus influenzae Hia autotransporter. *EMBO Journal*, 23(6), 1245–1256. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600142
- Yeo, H. J., Yokoyama, T., Walkiewicz, K., Kim, Y., Grass, S., & St. Geme, J. W. (2007a). The structure of the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 pro-piece reveals a structural domain essential for bacterial two-partner secretion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(42), 31076–31084. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705750200
- Yeo, H. J., Yokoyama, T., Walkiewicz, K., Kim, Y., Grass, S., & St. Geme, J. W. (2007b). The structure of the Haemophilus influenzae HMW1 pro-piece reveals a structural domain essential for bacterial two-partner secretion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(42), 31076–31084. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705750200
- Ysebaert, C., Denoël, P., Weynants, V., Bakaletz, L. O., Novotny, L. A., Godfroid, F., & Hermand, P. (2019). A protein E-PilA fusion protein shows vaccine potential against nontypeable haemophilus influenzae in mice and chinchillas. *Infection and Immunity*, 87(8). https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00345-19
- Zola, T. A., Lysenko, E. S., & Weiser, J. N. (2009). Natural antibody to conserved targets of Haemophilus influenzae limits colonization of the murine nasopharynx. *Infection and Immunity*, 77(8), 3458–3465. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01564-08